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DESIGN CONCEPT

ERMFERRERE  UESmBEMSREERT  AEEN [BEXE
superX] ~ [SEERITGEE] RENEREAETN—RIMEER  FBK T A
MENNES  FERE  REME  KELAEERR=F RE=K 8%
Bl OEF—ETAISRRNEETE - SRECUECAEA  RXU [BEAXE
superX| ARERFELER - EAKERS  SIEAEESMEEE FRERL
BE  KATEALNBEIR BT -

With the rapid continuous development of cities and premium beer market,
a series of brand products of the Group, such as “Brave the World superX”,
“SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER” and Heineken'’s products, have formed a strong
and powerful product portfolio, which made the Group stand out and
become one of the indispensable parts of the Group’s strategy of “Quality
Development for Success in Premium Segment” for the next three years.
The background color is dominated by the blue color, which symbolises the
“Brave the World superX” product targeting younger generations. The blue
color represents a challenging spirit that fosters the premium development of
the Group, which brings differentiated advantages, and enables the Group to
become an industry-leading international brewing enterprise.
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COMPANY PROFILE AND GROUP STRUCTURE

EHEEER)ARAT

FEREE (R ARAF((ARR ] &R
HEWBAR  SiBIAKE)REBE S
RSB R AR #EE (AR DR 100291) -
REBERABRAR(EEEENBET
R AR BREAEE - HERDHE
BHES ZEBHSERBEERAR(FEHE
FERERHEDABARRNEENBARR -
T—NF AEBEPIRE - KEHEE
EHeinekenE B ER TR R 5 - FHE BB
aIE -

EREBEEN T HMAREERH
EE OBR BIMNMBEERH ESIER
XES HKEIZHEER KBRKREE
MEEMEEDE -

CHINA RESOURCES BEER (HOLDINGS) COMPANY
LIMITED

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code:
00291), is a beer listed subsidiary company of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"). The Group focuses on the
manufacturing, sales and distribution of beer products. China
Resources Snow Breweries Limited (“CRSB"”) is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. In 2019, the Group has completed
the transaction and commenced the strategic partnership with the
Heineken Group, the world’s second-largest brewer.

As a member of CRH, we are dedicated to leading the business
progress and building a better life together with our consumers,
shareholders, staff and business partners, and make the Group a
trusted and beloved beer enterprise.

¥ (£0) BRAE
China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited

SEARAT

Commotra Company Limited

China Resources Enterprise,

ERHRERIRAT
Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.
Limited

EREE (ifE) GIRAR
CRH (Beer) Limited

ERmE (2R) ARAR
China Resources Beer
(Holdings) Company Limited

(291.HK)

EHEREREGRAR
China Resources Snow
Breweries Limited

R-ZE-_ZFF+-_A=1+—H
As at 31 December 2020

* A
Indirectly held

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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MAJOR FIGURES IN

AR E RGBT
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS
OF THE COMPANY

A59.6%

o

REERI L
2EEE
SALES VOLUME OF
SUB-PREMIUM BEER
SEGMENT AND ABOVE

A11.1%

BEHE
BEER SALES
VOLUME

11.10
BETH
MILLION KL ?

‘ ER=E
GROSS PROFIT

.ﬁ)‘ MARGIN
A1.6
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PEEEREXEKIEAR
MILESTONES AND MAJOR STRATEGIC INITIATIVES

AEEFEEBEESTARAK[3+3] EE @ MITEEBFSIERBEL B o
BR—mEtEEKEES - : L SAGRONE M-war suan:e La

The Group formulated a “3+3" blueprint for future operational changes
with a view to develop a world-class supply chain for CRSB.

AEBEKRIERMRSABAE  SERFAEEMEOMBUENSEY  HAEBERELETIERE  BR
HEEMFG  RARAFERRI TRNGERBERRKE -

The Group established a capacity planning task force aiming to enhance scientific and practical capacity
deployment, and provide decision-making basis for the development of its next five-year capacity plan through
follow-up actions, periodic review and evaluation of capacity optimization.

AEEMBEELENER  KZBEMBMEIMNF L JBEH
TREREHBELZE2HABENHWITE(HERRLZ21TH)
EREEMEKERHERT

The Group strengthened its information technology capabilities
by establishing an information technology delivery centre; with
successful completion of the Project HW, a project implemented
by the Country in response to internet security issues, the Group’s
standard of information security and protection continued to
improve.

AEERE—ZRINCEES  BHHE I XERRE : M (EEx
o MmAR) REFREER C (E—H MEE>§%%%
BRI Z AL  BHMERERSEEBA - BEAH - K
A o

The Group launched a series of activities to instill corporate
culture among its employees; released the corporate video themed
“Brewing for a Better Future” and an anti-pandemic documentary
of CRSB themed “Cheer Yourself Up” to pay tribute to all CRSB’s
staff who continue to break through and achieve excellence.

F i PILIT fiIIT
“SBLUTE THT FUTVRE JOH WOMDERSIR FREW

AEERB=FASTREER - AEATERD [FELE - FEE{L -
w5 - B OERE -

The Group launched the three-year talent planning project to define
the four standards of talent selection: rejuvenation, specialization,
marketization, and internationalization. ‘ ¢ “Wﬂ’!m =|r-.mmmm,lmm: R

= 8 18 )F (32 %) B R A 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



BAMNZEE About The Group

ERRE
MAJOR HONOURS

AEENEREABEERSVETRERAMREEAIABRETREXY

BIRERME| - S% EEEHERENTREERIEELETAEERE T,
20206 R EE BT ERAIF K RURE | SL AR (ERAF2) - xR

The Group's “Research and Application of Protection System for Efficient Operation = i
Technology for High-Speed Packaging Line of Canned Beer” garnered the second prize

of “Scientific and Technology Award” in China Alcoholic Drinks Association, and the

“Research and Application on Active Dry Yeast for Beer” project was honoured with Professional Achieverment (Quality
Innovation Award) in the “China Quality Technology and Innovation 2020” by China Association for Quality.

AEE 36 mBEMAE2020E AR AEEFBEZ S | ZFFEBOEFH T EE
2020/E Bl X 5F = J(IR T TER RS ) ©

36 beer tasters of the Group successfully passed the selection examination of the
“2020 National Beer Tasting Committee” (commonly known as “National Taster”).

AEBELRERS M ERE 20202 BE (X Awards) - [BEEREERIM
AT EEKEERRE ] QM LKEREN2020FEEBFDEUYCE] - LA RBEH
EREGEEEGEIDMTEENTEATERERE] -

The Group won the “Best Practice in Corporate Culture” and “Best Practice in Talent
Management” awards in the X Awards 2020 organized by KNX, “Excellent Corporate
Culture Award 2020" from 27st Century Business Herald, as well as the “China Talent
Development Awards” from Training Magazine of Xinhua Newspaper Media Group.

2HREZAREEETHEREZ — it R BEER = (World Brand Lab) 7 J\ B 2 i T
5005 EEE M) AEBMISFES005% A EERBEEES8E  RBEEBBG
ARHE1,700187T - B4 EHER R EE = (World Brand Lab) += A & ## &9 [20204F t
B A B RE B & (20209 B & S K B ENO. 1) A [20207 B8 H + K 5
LT 2R AN EEEB 2 —WPPE 5| fF H [ 2 4 /920204 [BrandZ™ & E (B &
H B S S 10058 HETT 18 - 7K & (@] 28 12020 BrandZ™MR BB EFE R B R ] - (75 £

oo Af

B ET3E o

The World Brand Lab, one of the world's three leading brand valuation institutions, announced s e
“China’s 500 Most Valuable Brands” in August 2020. The Group ranked 28th with brand

value over RMB170 billion. Besides, in the World Executive Summit 2020 organized by the

World Brand Lab in December 2020, the Group also won the “Chinese Brand Annual Award

— No. 1 in Beer Industry 2020” and “Top 10 Most Influential Chinese Beer Brands 2020". In

the “BrandZ™ Top 100 Most Valuable Chinese Brands 2020” jointly released by WPP, one of

the world’s largest communications group and Kantar, the Group won the “2020 BrandZ™

Top 100 Most Valuable Chinese Brands 2020” and ranked 73rd.

Z LT =ZF 4 F3R / Annual Report 2020
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MAJOR EVENTS

EXIREER
MAJOR CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

AEEEETHREFRAEREXRD - FELI00ETH - -

Relocation and construction project of the Group’s Bengbu
brewery with an annual production capacity of 1,000,000
kiloliters commenced officially.

AEERMN IR NERERBERAERERR  BRIIBS/ I RR2ERBRLEERER  AMERTH
B RBERBERLAEREBLAKREES -

The canning line with 120,000 cans/hour capacity of the Group’s Lanzhou factory, the canning line with 120,000

cans/hour of the Heilongjiang factory, and the canning line with 60,000 cans/hour of the Yuncheng factory
commenced operation.

= 8 18 )F (32 %) B R A 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



BAMNZEE About The Group

HithE K= 4
OTHER MAJOR EVENTS

HEHFUETRBEERE ARER_F_TF_ARMMILEREDHE
BHEERERBARBIS008T  ARNKBOE - HER  #AHK -
HREERBERSME BWHIERBABRE2HARE - REHH K
SEARZARBHERTEIRESE  BEITRL HETF - BH
T SBAXINFHH  TERESHE R -ANMEEBENEKX
e AEEEREEENENOERART S  BREBEEHREDA
REMSEHEHRZERSE  AETK(SHRR25) HAKERE
BnEEEM A EEREEEAME -

In response to the coronavirus disease (COVID-19), the Group donated

RMB15 million to related charities in Wuhan City, Hubei province in February 2020 for procurement of emergency
medical supplies such as masks, disinfectants, goggles, ventilators, to provide protection for medical staff
while they are performing medical treatment. During the pandemic, the Group organized a number of disease
prevention and control and work deployment meetings to define the direction of “high determination and
commitment, strong execution and forward-looking” in implementing its premiumization strategy. In order
to capture the post-pandemic opportunities, the Group’s management visited nearly hundred urban market
segments to understand the trends of various consumer groups and the puzzles and challenges faced by the
market. The field work was then concluded in the “Premiumization Strategy 25" report which served as guiding
principles and inspiration for implementing the premiumization strategy.

AEETMERAGIMOEREIATTREBF
EHbdeHtn RELHITHEFMEKRR -
(=R —EFIATHEERBED IR R HIEERE

horRBEHBBEINSER— -

The Group's two talent nurturing programs, namely
the “Two Drive Wheels” and “Channel Magic
Weapon”, resulted in outcomes such as leading
edge for its business and sales channels handbook,
while the “Three Level Leaders” talent nurturing
program helped to strengthen the Group's execution
capability in premiumization and ensure unity and consistency in the mindset of premiumization strategy.

BANE.

o
Bl '.ﬂ

AEBEARINABGR ZERRIBBEEFHNEARIRE - A
[(EREE > RBALINBERER  ARAKERmRBHLT
RBRBERIBNER BIZARIZBEREBHAE BE
BAREBE BHIAEERBSW AKEOLH—KI7
ERBEM BERWREEASBM REES TP HIRH
EREHE RRAKEREERBRTHN AR BRSHK
HERK Z2TSmMHENE RS -

The Group held a “Quality Development for Success in Premium
Segment” conference to facilitate experience sharing of strategy
implementation and to define the development requirements of
“Reserving Momentum and Riding on the Trend” prior to the
new journey of the Group’s premiumization strategies. The Group also held the first national channel partner
convention of “Focus on Premiumization to Create the Future” in order to drive its success in premiumization
strategies by empowering its channel partners. The Group launched the “Five-point-one-line” methodology,
which covered competent sales teams specified for premium segment, brand portfolio, customers, leading
edge for its business and sales channels, and has become a powerful weapon for the Group to guide the
implementation of premiumization strategy, achieve volume growth and gain market share for its premium
products.

Z LT =ZF 4 F3R / Annual Report 2020
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ALARDS AND RECOGNITION

2B FEBRUARY

MerComm, Inc.
Mercury Excellence Awards

A 20185 3R - BERR HEMMAS
-ERE
Annual Report 2018 — Overall Presentation:
Consumer Goods — Honors Winner

3B MARCH
CEMSEER B

Corporate Governance Asia

2019F EEMIRIE - HEREARKNE
Asian ESG Awards 2019
A BMBEERME

Asia’s Icon on Corporate Governance
A BRFE HERELAAXENCE

ESG Influencer
A DNEEEERHAR

Asian Corporate Director Recognition Awards

4B APRIL
CEL I 38 F) 5 5

Yazhou Zhoukan

2 IREE10005F 1T 15

Global Chinese Business 1000 Ranking

A RAR KRB B EKRE
The Largest Food and Beverage Company
Award

5B MAY

BEABREERERPELEHRFR
b BEHEEHE

Tsinghua SEM China Business Research
Center, National Business Daily

2020 L AR @R IEEEE
Chinese Listed Companies
By Brand Value 2020

A #@F5TOP100
Top 100

2020 B i % k17 2 7 i b B E H5TOP30
2020 Brand Value of China Listed Liquor
Companies TOP 30
A TOP 3088 PO fi- MR ITHEE —
Ranked 4th in TOP 30 and ranked 1st in beer
industry

KB Hi ) 3 55

Forbes

23200058 £ %

Global 2000

A A5 %E19540L
Ranked 1954th

7B JULY
(B R D) 3 5

Fortune China
FE]50054 & %
Fortune China 500

A #5I8829501
Ranked 295th

(BEREE) MR

Institutional Investor
200 EEMEATEREEAT

2020 All-Asia Executive Team survey

e

2020 ALL-ASIA EXECUTIVE TEAM
MOST HONORED COMPANY

A RRXEECEMTHERITH)
Most Honored Company (Consumer staples
sector)

A REERRTEMEHERTEE—B)
Best CEO (first place in Consumer staples
sector)

A BEEFEMBEELRHEERITESE -R)
Best CFO (second place in Consumer staples
sector)

A BZEREEMAABMTHEERITE
F-R)

Best Investor Relations Professional (second
place in Consumer staples sector)

A REREEHRRERLTEERITE
E—H)

Best Investor Relations Team (first place in
Consumer staples sector)

A REBR He@RhER/RUEHRERTE
F-H)

Best ESG (second place in Consumer staples
sector)

A BZEREEMEIEBEHERTE
E=4)

Best Investor Relations Program (third place
in Consumer staples sector)

8B RAUGUST

MerComm, Inc.

[ B2 ARCEE 3R & 58 A HEE R R - BB/ AEE U - £8%
International Annual Report Competition (ARC) Awards Cover Photo/Design — Beer/Wine/Spirits — Gold
A RERE - BB BEE/ E - &%
Interior Design — Beer/Wine/Spirits = Gold
A TR - EE R A RUE - 288
Illustrations — Beer/Wine/Spirits — Gold
A BRI R BE - @ B &R,/ 2B - 5%
Printing & Production — Beer/Wine/Spirits — Silver
A BERRF(ERRR)- BE  BEE ZUEHER - i
Overall Presentation (Traditional Format)
— Beer/Wine/Spirits — Bronze

10 =B R (3£ %) B R 2 & / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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8B AUGUST 98 SEPTEMBER
XEHEREERR R B AR EEREEHERE
League of American Communications Sina Finance Hong Kong Investor Relations
Professionals LLC (LACP) Association

SHBEREERERE s
20195 iR B 2% Golden Qilin Hong Kong Stocks ERNEEBREEHBEKRE
2019 Vision Awards Annual Report Competition Value List HKIRA 6th Investor Relations Awards
L
= A REBENEER
RS Entrepreneur with the best
leadership
i B A BEREBEBERAR - KRR
A HEBR -RR/8H BEEHER Ao Best IR Company — Large Cap
Con\sumer Consumabl:}s — Food/Beverage/Tobacco Category: Platinum A BEREESE - ATRB
A ﬁﬁﬁiﬁmojﬁ - 491 , Best Investor Meeting — Large Cap
Ranked 49th in Top 190 Reports Worldwide A BREER - AER
A EEKIEE?MQ%: - 20fz . B _ Best Annual Report — Large Cap
RankediZOth in Top 40 Reports — Asia-Pacific Region A BEEE e R EAGEE) - AR R
A ¢Y¢#&SQ€§ Best ESG (E) — Large Cap
e A BERAEWNEEA - KK
A 22K R R Bl AR 5 5 Best IRO — Large Cap
Special achievement award — Asia-Pacific Region
O
168 OCTOBER
MerComm, Inc. (B EER)®EE A %1%&%%@@%@%
Bl # Galaxy 32 18 Corporate Governance Asia Best Investor Relations Company
International Galaxy Awards 2020 EEME KRB RBAR A THNREERHITEREEBR)
Asian Excellence Recognition Awards 2020 Asia’s Best CEO (Investor Relations)
A THREERAHEGREEBE)
Asia’s Best CFO (Investor Relations)
A XEREEMEAE
Best Investor Relations Professional
A T - R R G BERERIR
Annual Reports — Print: Food/Packaged
Good - Silver
O

125 DECEMBER

IR Magazine (igE— B
IR Magazine#218 - 2020 K E 1 E Economic Digest
IR Magazine Awards — Greater China 2020 20206 FE 5 1 08 1) O 2 3

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises Parade 2020

A BREREEBMEAREEM

Best in sector: Consumer staples A BEGEETRE
Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprise Award
INEBEVN:

Excellence Award

am730% 55 M 2 B8
am730 and PR Asia
i A F K 382020

Listed Company Excellence

Awards 2020

A BH ETAR K
(EMR - KTE)
Listed Company
Excellence Awards (Main
Board - Large Market
Capitalization)

HHAH
Securities Daily
SHRER

Golden Horse Awards

A RETERBBLETRA
Listed company with the
best craftsmanship spirit

—ZT =T 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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TF+=RA=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

EEH BREXER
Turnover Basic earnings per share
(AR¥ B & T RMB million) (AR ¥ RMB)

2019

—EEF —E-NF —E-N\F

2020 2019 2018

AEHEEET AR¥®BET AR®BET

RMB million RMB million RMB million

EHEE Turnover 31,448 33,190 31,867
AN E R R ER & F|  Profit attributable to
shareholders of the

Company 2,094 1,312 977

SIRERER Basic earnings per share RMBO0.65 RMBO0.40 RMBO0.30

=i i s Dividend per share

- ~ interim RMBO.128 RMB0.120 RMB0.09

~ Sk ~ final RMBO0.131 RMBO0.045 RMBO0.03

RMBO0.259 RMBO.165 RMBO0.12

12 2B R (3 %) AR A & / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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AQTRRELES BREEZRE: REE
Equity attributable to shareholders Net assets per share: book value
of the Company (AR RMB)

P

(AR EFHE T RMB million)

6.54
21,2117

R-BZZTFE RZZTE—-—NE RZZE-—N\E
+=—H=+—-H +=Z—A=+—8 +=-—A=+—8H

As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December
202_0 2019 2018
AEBEET ARBBHEETL ARBEHEETL
RMB million RMB million RMB million
ANARRE FE(L#E 2 Equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 21,217 19,670 18,848
FEIEHI IR R = Non-controlling interests 57 57 62
1 Total equity 21,274 19,727 18,910
FEH e FE Consolidated net cash' 4,614 1,897 1,212
B F Lt &2 Gearing ratio? 73 & Net Cash |38 4 Net Cash %8 4 Net Cash
VLIRS Current ratio 0.68 0.49 0.46
BREEFME: Net assets per share:
- BEEE(ARKE) - book value (RMB)? 6.54 6.06 5.81
B 5 - Notes:
1. GARSFHEFRAES LR 2EEMEE 1. Consolidated net cash represents consolidated total of cash and cash equivalents
ERRITETFRAGZERERK - and pledged bank deposits minus consolidated total loans.
2. BELERBEFREBIOFHEELEROLY - 2. Gearing ratio represents the ratio of consolidated net borrowings to total equity.
3. BREEFHE -FEEEIUEARRAKREEMS 3. Net assets per share — book value is calculated by dividing equity attributable
BRRAFRENEBITRODBEFTHE - to shareholders of the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of

the year.

—ZT - T4 F3,R / Annual Report 2020 13
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SRARKRENRRINIBBIRN DT E
HNHLYSIS OF TURNOUER AND EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST AND TARATION

HE-_ZT-_ZTF+-HF=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

/ BEoMzEXBENL
Turnover proportion by segment

2020

@ HI[E EFastern region ® & Central region ® & Southern region

/ ERMzARAFERBENBFSLE

Earnings before interest and taxation proportion by segment

2020

@ H[@ Eastern region ® F[& Central region ® FEE Southern region

— -.-1;r s u:--ar u--_..-u]-.
-,

L '-: _p-i..-f.l--"w-i.rq..r

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



About The Group

HHAMIHI AR To Our Shareholders /"“f@ﬁ Corporate Governance / B 7% 45 Financial Statements /

i e 3.3 —hE  #ESORD)
2020 2019 Increased/
ARBEERT ARBAEETT (Decreased)
B2 EEE Turnover by segment RMB million RMB million %
HIE Eastern region 16,369 17,278 (5.3%)
FE Central region 7,887 8,490 (7.1%)
& Southern region 8,352 8,466 (1.3%)
32,608 34,234 (4.7%)

YD IR 225  Elimination of inter-segment
transactions (1,160) (1,044) 11.1%
FORE] Total 31,448 33,190 (5.2%)
ey 33 —NE g CRD)
2020 2019 Increased/
B9 82 KEFI B K Earnings before interest ARBEERT AREHEETT (Decreased)
HEARF and taxation by segment RMB million RMB million %
2 Eastern region 1,134 1,007 12.6%
= Central region 757 598 26.6%
M & Southern region 1,312 714 83.8%
3,203 2,319 38.1%
NEBEE R FE Net corporate expenses (124) (156) (20.5%)
B Total 3,079 2,163 42.3%

Il .

,.#r'wi'

jo —t 00
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'anﬂf !'BB“! MMAT BEER I ~ -w-m-»
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EIRB 5V sh D T

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

¥ E
REEBR-_E-_EFNHRALEEREAA
R #31,448,000,0007C * M —-F — ﬂiﬁz
D52% c AEBR_ZTE_TEFHNAR
h%ﬁﬁ%mmﬂﬁﬁﬁﬂE&MEm
BH W —NLFH5H EFA59.6% K&
42.3% % AFRH#2,094,000,0007T K A R
3,079,000,0007T °

BNAEERAERBER T _ZEFFY)
HEERRE  FH BT E G EER D W
MHBR R ZEREZMERRE - ARDE
EREAEENRER  REHREES
LEEGEANTE - BT _FTF=-AK
RABOMBERITI L &E - RO
BHREBEREOERN - BETSHE
%V@Eﬁ XREBERE EREHED
LRE —NFEBETRE -

RN

REHE  ARERRTRIGHERRE
BREXE o I A AT B & b B B HE
% WERBEILGRENANET R
EHEIEE AR AEEEFIR
PRBER O ERBEREREMAZEABEE
Hi - MAEBRBESHRASE KN E
KRB RELHER RREEEM
B RAEBEKESHEE  FHEHN
TAREENTISHRFHAL - REBBREE

BHEER T —NLFETHE29% @ RIRK
1TE KL -
ERBEFEEARN - Xm R AE B ) RE

B (A —RIFHWER-_T—NE3
)\ﬂjjlmuuhl?? ﬁﬁl i ifﬁ//\ﬂ
F&LAH?E/@% #1,460,000 T F+ » &
—NEFEEENI%  EREBE—F
%ﬂ BT FHEEER - 1t
O REBNTR-ZE-_ZEFEEZEITHE
TREMBE - AN LHEE » BEY
ﬁﬁ%%%@:% NETE2.4% - [
AT TIEREEREE TR - B
\ﬁ%%ﬁﬂﬁmX%%W$iﬂm
2. UHEBHENAR_Z—NAFT
[£76% - SR A EEERE - AREE
FEFHETR29%  —E T FEE

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s consolidated turnover in 2020 was
RMB31,448,000,000, which decreased by 5.2% compared
with 2019. The Group’s consolidated profit attributable to the
Company’s shareholders and earnings before interest and taxation
in 2020 increased by 59.6% and 42.3% to RMB2,094,000,000
and RMB3,079,000,000 respectively compared with 2019.

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 in Mainland
China, local governments have implemented lockdown policies in
various cities and a number of emergency prevention and control
measures to mitigate the risk of the pandemic spreading further
in the country. As a result, the beer market was severely affected.
However, the pandemic situation began to ease in most areas in
Mainland China after the end of March 2020, except for certain
areas where there has been a recurrence of infections, the beer
market has managed to gradually recover to a normal level. Due
to the impact of the pandemic, the overall beer market capacity
shrunk significantly compared with 2019.

During the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group overcame the
difficulties in preventing and controlling the pandemic by enforcing
remote office arrangement and, after obtaining approvals from
local governments and ensuring the safety of staff, facilitating the
resumption of production. Despite the pandemic, the Group has
been striving for development and has launched a number of sales
programs such as organizing strategic initiatives to gain market
share in the premium segment, actively supporting channels,
developing sales and marketing channels, restoring product prices
to normalized levels and removing low quality sales. All in all, these
measures promoted the Group’s competitiveness in an adverse
market. The overall beer sales volume outperformed the industry
and recorded a 2.9% drop compared with 2019.

During the year under review, benefitting from the promotion
of the Group’s premiumization strategy, the implementation of
its “five-point-one-line” methodology and the introduction of
Heineken's international brands in 2019, the Group’s sales volume
of the sub-premium beer segment and above achieved 1,460,000
kiloliters and increased by 11.1% year-on-year, which has further
improved the product mix and led to an increase in average selling
price at the same time. In addition, the Group implemented the
beer sales with returnable bottles in more regions in 2020. In light
of the above factors, the overall average selling price dropped by
2.4% compared with 2019. Meanwhile, the promotion of beer
sales with returnable bottles and the decline in sales volume offset
the rising cost of sales driven by further upgrade of product mix,
resulting in the overall cost of sales declining by 7.6% compared

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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with 2019. Due to the aforementioned reasons, overall beer sales
volume decreased by 2.9% as affected by the pandemic, the
gross profit in 2020 recorded a decline of 1.2% year-on-year to
RMB12,075,000,000, whereas profitability improved as the gross
profit margin and average gross profit per kiloliters increased by
1.6 percentage points and 1.7%, respectively.

During the year under review, mainly benefiting from the increase
in bottles usage income year-on-year, the overall other income in
2020 increased by 65.9% to RMB1,687,000,000 as compared with
2019.

During the year under review, the Group increased its investments
in brand cultivation and promotion compared with 2019. The
Group implemented IP marketing activities covering whole chain
like “Street Dance of China (Season 3)”, “Where Are the Playful
Dopes (Season 2)" and “Once Upon a Bite (Season 2)” as well
as thematic marketing campaigns such as the “Heineken® Silver
Mission S campaign” and “SOL Pool Party” that have driven
up the advertising and promotion expenses substantially. At
the same time, the overall selling and distribution expenses
were up 3.3% compared with 2019. In addition, the Group’s
fixed asset impairment during the year under review was down
RMB126,000,000 compared with 2019. Amid a one-off decrease
in recognised employee compensation and settlement expenses of
RMB527,000,000 in 2019, the administrative and other expenses
in 2020 decreased by 12.4% year-on-year.

The Group continued to enrich its product portfolio and launched
the premium beer product “Heineken® Silver” beer in the
second quarter of 2020. The launch, together with our premium
products, “SNOW MARRSGREEN BEER” and “Léwen White Beer”
launched in 2019, further supported its premiumization strategy
and enhanced its brand image.

The Group recognised impairment loss on fixed assets and
inventory of RMB574,000,000 and RMB395,000,000 respectively
in 2020. The Group continued with its deployment of production
capacity optimization to minimize inefficiency and improve the
average production scale of the breweries. 4 breweries ceased
operation during the year under review. At the end of 2020, the
Group operated 70 breweries across 25 provinces, municipalities
and autonomous regions in Mainland China, with an aggregate
annual production capacity of approximately 18,750,000 kiloliters.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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As of February 2021, the overall sales volume for the first two
months has largely resumed to the level of the same period in
2019, in particular sub-premium segment and above recorded a
satisfactory double-digit growth, even though certain regions were
affected by a recurrence of the pandemic in certain period of
time. Looking ahead, despite the uncertainty associated with the
ongoing pandemic, the Group will be well-prepared to actively
respond to the recurrence of the pandemic in certain areas.
Nonetheless, the Group will continue to adhere to its strategic
management philosophy of “Quality Development for Success
in Premium Segment”. The Group will also implement various
high quality growth initiatives to enhance its competitiveness,
such as continuing to expand its brand portfolio, introducing
more international brands, strengthening its brand marketing,
promoting its premiumization strategy, intensively maximizing the
production capacity, advancing research and innovation, upgrading
informatization and benchmarking itself with the global first-class
enterprises.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
CAPITAL AND FUNDING

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s consolidated cash and bank
deposits amounted to RMB4,614,000,000. The Group had no
borrowings as at 31 December 2020.

The Group was in a net cash position as at 31 December 2020
and 31 December 2019.

The Group's principal assets, liabilities, revenue and payments
are denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars.
As at 31 December 2020, 0.7% of the Group’s cash and bank
deposit balance was held in Hong Kong dollars, 94.9% in
Renminbi and 4.4% in US dollars.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's current liabilities and
current ratio were RMB19,572,000,000 and 0.68, respectively.
The current liabilities included receipts in advance on sales and
accruals on promotion and marketing expenses, majority of these
amounts would be offset by trade receivables or be realized
through sale discounts in the future, with no significant net
cash outflow in short run. Taking into account the gearing ratio,
historical and expected future cash flows from operations and
unutilized available banking facilities of the Group, management
expected the Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities
and commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited



/ : £ About The Group
/

=7

EEEH

RZZEZZEF+ZA=+—0  xEEHZK
HERE FE A A R76,000,000T(=ZF
—NF+=ZA=+—H: AR¥68,000,000
TMEE @ WERERMNERE -

HREE

RZE-_EF+-_A=+—H KEFW
BAMEBEARNKABE -

==

RZZB_ZEF+_A=+—H Fr5EHE
FA#727,000 A » H 518 i899% £ # B 1A 3
BR ESNEIEBHTESL  AKEHESR
MEMRETHEEE B XRBELETS
BEET THASBUAREXF 28
B o

EERE W
BEHITERBITESE
&z

B —F-—F=A=-1+=H

H#EMAIBER To Our Shareholders P &6 Corporate Governance / ’ Financial Statements /

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, assets with a carrying value of
RMB76,000,000 (31 December 2019: RMB68,000,000) were
pledged for notes payable.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at
31 December 2020.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a staff size of around
27,000, amongst which more than 99% were employed in the
Mainland China, whilst the rest were mainly in Hong Kong.
Remuneration packages are assessed in accordance with the
nature of job duties, individual performance and market trends
with built-in merit components, paid in the form of cash bonuses.

By order of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF BRELDERIES

HEZZT-_TF+-_A=+—HIEFE As at 31 December 2020

FF3% & ™ Provinces/Cities REZH
No. No. of
breweries
1. EHEL  Heilongjiang
2 a4 Jilin
3. BE= Liaoning
4. X2 Tianjin
. . =z L)
5. Adk Hebei FEBE
6. LI 78 Shanxi ANNUAL
7. IS Shandong PRODUCTION
CAPACITY
8. T &% Jiangsu

R 18,750,000
0. %% Anhui KI_ (:Fa—-l-)

11. ] Henan (FEIEE A BREEBRTEBE S ER)

(Excluding those breweries ceased operation and

12. B Hubei

determined by management to be closed)

13. WL Zhejiang

14. FiyE Fujian

15. [EB®R Guangdong

=38 D2 {1 = R N
— . TOTAL NUMBER OF
17. M Guizhou BREWERIES IN

16. B Hunan

18. )l Sichuan OPERATION

19. Fit =1 Tibet

20. HER Gansu

21. AEH  Inner Mongolia

22. EE Ningxia

23. 5] Shaanxi

24. Er Guangxi

25. NEaE| Hainan
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BREBIE
INUESTOR RELATIONS

Since the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020, investors have paid more
attention to the timeliness and the extent of information disclosure
by the corporates, hoping to quickly know about the impact of
the pandemic on the corporates’ businesses, and understand the
measures undertaken by the corporates. Adhering to the principle
of its sincere and transparent investor relations management, the
Group has actively engaged and communicated with shareholders
and investors via diverse channels. The Group has strived to
maintain quality corporate governance and a high level of
transparency, ensuring the capital markets stay informed about its
latest developments and future plans. The Group has listened and
considered the valuable views and suggestions of shareholders and
investors to further enhance operating performance, create more
business development opportunities and bring a better return for
shareholders.

During the year under review, the Group adjusted its investor
relations strategy by exploring various communications channels
to remain in close contact with investors and analysts through
teleconferences, online meetings etc. The Group held around 230
meetings with more than 2,500 fund managers and analysts, and
organized financial results presentations through teleconferences
in order to maintain a high standard and provide quality
communication to investors to further strengthen their confidence.

In 2020, the Company continued to earn recognitions from the
capital market, with various authoritative awards from various
reputable institutions. These included “Most Honored Company”,
“Best Investor Relations Team (first place)”, “Best ESG (second
place)” in the consumer staples sectors in Asia of All-Asia
Executive Team survey from Institutional Investor for seven awards.
The Company also received “Best in Sector: Consumer Staples” in
Greater China IR Magazine Awards from /R Magazine. Meanwhile,
Corporate Governance Asia recognised the Company as “Asia’s
lcon on Corporate Governance”, “ESG Influencer” and “Best
Investor Relations Company” for seven awards. The Hong Kong
Investor Relations Association has awarded the Company with
accolades such as “Best IR Company”, “Best Investor Meeting”
and "Best ESG (Environment)” and two other awards in the large
capitalization category. Furthermore, the Company was again
commended by MerComm, Inc. for the high quality of its annual
reports, and was awarded 3 Gold, 1 Silver and 1 Bronze awards
in the “International Annual Report Competition (ARC) Awards”.
Looking to the future, the Group will maintain its momentum
in enhancing shareholder value and promoting the healthy
development of the Group.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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INUESTOR RELATIONS

RERR

RIZE-ZF  HFAUABKKRSREETES
R EERMEEBRAAMT B
o BEWM  ARFRERKED - I
BEBEAD  BWREAKBERE £A2A
AREER_Z_ZFT_A=1THEHE
¥&74.00 0= - {EE B 82,4008 ©
AARZE-_EE+-_A=1+—A8KmT
BAREE71.4070 ° AL EF65.7% @ WA
BB 3163 T °

=N
AEBTESRBAIEY R AREE
BRRYPAHEERMBA - AEHBR
MEZRXF - REARFNRSBE
—REBERAT REMFRFERSESBEE
7K B E B B N DR SR B R JE
IR FIE20% © 32 35 BB A B
NEZBINAEENERRBEHMB K
B BORRER - —REBIOR MR - A
SENBEREEESBEREBRERT
g HRAKEEENEETE  — R
BAERRN  AEBXEBOERE A RA
EFEARRANEBAMHRRELTEK
MR EMAESIIIERE URES
ERRBENEMAE -

RRARRZEZEFHNRBBLHETGR
AR#0.25970 IR B LK B40% - AR
BIRKEM N BERHEEHIEBKE - H
RESH#EFRERNMBERL  BRER
EREMNEMB-

SHARE PERFORMANCE

In 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak has severely disrupted the global
economy, including the Hong Kong stock market. Nevertheless,
the Company’s stock price maintained a growth momentum and
outperformed the Hang Seng Index. On 30 December 2020, the
Company’s stock price reached a record high of HK$74.00 with
the total market capitalization climbing up to HK$240 billion.
The Company’s closing share price as of 31 December 2020 was
HK$71.40, a year-on-year increase of 65.7%, and the total market
capitalization was HK$231.63 billion.

DIVIDEND PAYOUT RATIO

The Group is committed to creating and enhancing the value of
the Company, as well as achieving long-term sustainable growth
and profitability in recognition of the unwavering support of
its shareholders. According to the dividend policy, the annual
dividend to be distributed by the Company to the shareholders
shall be no less than 20% of the Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders in any financial year under normal circumstances.
In proposing any dividend payout, the board of directors shall
also take into account the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, shareholders’ interest, general business conditions
and strategies, the Group’s expected working capital requirements
and future expansion plans, possible effects on the Group’s
creditworthiness, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s businesses and other internal or external factors that
may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company, and other factors that the board
of directors deems appropriate.

The total dividend of the Company reached RMB0.259 per share,
with a dividend payout ratio of 40% in 2020. Moving forward,
the Company will make every effort to maintain a respectable
dividend payout level while preserving its healthy financial position
to foster the sustainable growth of its business.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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B 5 Note:

1. EREARARRZT-—A"F+AT—HTHREK 1. Since the Company completed the acquisition of 49% stake in CRSB on
BEBHSERB49%KRE  —T—~FOE 11 October 2016, basic and diluted earnings per share for the year was
RERREERNEERADAEREAER calculated according to the Company’s shareholdings before and after the
BB LB (U B ATS1% R IR B8 1£100%) &1 acquisition (51% before acquisition and 100% after the acquisition).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

BITES
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

BREE
Mr. Jian Yi

IWE M+ B
Aged 44
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has been appointed as Executive Director of the Company in July
2018. He also acts as a Director of China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company. He was appointed as a Director
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited in May 2018, a Director of CRH
(Beer) Limited in November 2018, and a general manager of the human
resources department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited
in February 2021, all of which are controlling shareholders of the
Company. He is a Chairman of China Resources Ng Fung Limited and
Pacific Coffee (Holdings) Limited, a Director of China Resources C'estbon
Kirin Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited, as well as Vice Chairman of
Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd. (whose shares are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange). He served as Chief Executive Officer
of China Resources Enterprise, Limited and Senior Vice President of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and
General Manager of China Resources Coal (Group) Co., Ltd.. Mr. Jian
joined China Resources Group in 2007. He previously worked in China
Europe International Business School (CEIBS), responsible for corporate
leadership development and management education. Mr. Jian holds a
Bachelor of Laws, a Master of Laws and a minor degree in Economics
from Peking University.
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has been appointed as Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
of the Company in April 2016. He also acts as directors of a number
of subsidiaries of the Company. He was appointed as Director of China
Resources Enterprises, Limited in May 2018, and also a director of CRH
(Beer) Limited in May 2019, both of which are controlling shareholders
of the Company. He was appointed as general manager of China
Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in March 2016 and was the
director of its sales and marketing departments from December 2001
to December 2007. He has been appointed as a director and a member
of strategy committee of Shanxi Xinghuacun Fen Wine Factory Co., Ltd.
(whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange), in September
2018. He was appointed as general manager and assistant general
manager (also a general manager of its distribution headquarters) of the
branch of China Resources Snow Breweries (China) Co., Ltd. in Guizhou
Province and a general manager of its branch in Sichuan Province from
January 2009 to February 2016. Mr. Hou has a Bachelor of Statistics
Degree from the People’s University of China. He has previously worked
in Shougang Corporation, Gallup Poll and Pepsico. Mr. Hou joined China
Resources Group in 2001.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
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Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
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Aged 54
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has been appointed as an Executive Director, the Chief Financial Officer
and the Company Secretary of the Company in June 2016. He was
appointed as the Finance Director of the Company in June 2014. He
was previously the Audit Director of the Company. He joined the
Company in September 2008. He is currently the Vice President, the
Chief Financial Officer and the Company Secretary of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited. He is also the Non-executive Director of Scales
Corporation Limited which is a company listed on the New Zealand Stock
Exchange, and the Non-executive Director of New Zealand King Salmon
Investments Limited which is a company listed on the New Zealand Stock
Exchange and the Australian Securities Exchange, respectively. Prior to
joining the Group, he had worked for international accounting firms
in Hong Kong, and also acted as the financial controller and company
secretary of Zhong An Real Estate Limited (now known as Zhong An
Group Limited), China Oriental Group Company Limited and Hon Po
Group (Lobster King) Limited (now known as China Energy Development
Holdings Limited), which are listed companies on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lai has extensive experience
in internal and external auditing, finance and accounting, merger
& acquisition, regulatory and compliance and company secretarial
matters. Mr. Lai holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong and a Master of Business
Administration degree from the University of Manchester, UK. He is
a Fellow Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a fellow of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England & Wales. He is a fellow member of
the Chartered Governance Institute in the UK and of the Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries. He is a Certified Internal Auditor and
holds a Certificate in Risk Management Assurance conferred by the
Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also a Certified Information Systems
Auditor of ISACA.

4.
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BEZE—ANFNARBARRNTESHIAENTES - HER
CEERNFANAE I E - ANFRAARHERARR T EEREEY
BE RRZEEFENFNAZEZE—AAFAHAAHBETEARAI AR W
E - REECAEENETAERAANNNTES ERNTEE - F
FBYBBERARME o I 2 AT - G EEE TR AT GRBNam
Cheong Limited) BV K E * Z AR AT MEZLFRSMET AR
BHANECEABDBERERERAFTCEBERIRIERERA
AHITEENERATE R ZE—ARNFANAEZTAKRKENTE
EERAFRATESRBITRESE YR-_ZE—tF=AKAZA
BIITHBH  Z2aATEPERMOKERT - BEESFFHA
BNAEHETEMRRREEIASIREEEETERE - A
ESatmoesE RN ESHMipeEEdF el -

has been re-designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive
Director of the Company since June 2016. He was an Executive Director
and the Chief Financial Officer of the Company between June 2009
and May 2016, and the Company Secretary between August 2009
and May 2016. Mr. Lai was previously the Executive Director, Non-
executive Director, Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of
China Resources Microelectronics Limited. Prior to that, he served as
the Chief Financial Officer of Eagle Brand Holdings Ltd. (now known
as Nam Cheong Limited), which is a company listed on the Singapore
Exchange and before then, he served as the Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of Logic International Holdings Ltd. (now known
as China Resources Gas Group Limited). He was appointed as Executive
Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer of Dah Chong Hong
Holdings Limited, which is a CITIC Limited company, in June 2016 and
became its Chief Executive Officer in March 2017. Mr. Lai obtained a
Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Western Australia
and a Graduate Diploma in Business and Administration from the Curtin
University of Technology of Western Australia. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of CPA Australia.
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Richard Raymond Weissend 5t 4
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend

WERTNBR
Aged 59

BZE_TFNAZTABREZEAAQRIERITES - Weissendst
4 A Heineken Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd ([Heineken Management
Chinn )M EBEFHRKBEREFEITR ZAAEEBEEREER &
HEREYE BARSHELEFTERARALEMBARRE M X
FF o Weissend e £ MR ERE B (R) AR AT (KRR A MIERRR)
REBEIERBEERAR(ARANEZEMNBRAREFENES -
Heineken Management China/ZHeineken NV.B B A F] - HEE#F
BEBHEEMEE BERATNI0%EE

Weissend 5 £ B —F — N4 £ A % Z £ B Heineken Management
ChinaMESZRALE - HFRZTZTLFMNNATH T Z 2 7] (Heineken
Spain) BERIEH YR _EENFLAZ-ZE-NFAETANK
FENRRITHREHE - BER _E—NEZRAE-_ZT—LFE=ZANE
{E 75 P 5F 12 5% 1 € (Spanish Brewers Association) X & - B —Z & — 4
EZFETXNGF 0 B TBrasseries Heineken (38 AHeineken Enterprise -
B7=BE 1A F) (Heineken France) 8 ff 8 A ) LA K International and
National Groupm &M D) MESBLE - FR - NFER
FRENRRNEELE YR _STETFEAAERENRAE
EHEREEEKKE -

Weissend E A E X RN R EREMISEHMAERBEE

has been appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company since
26 June 2020. Mr. Weissend is the Managing Director and Chairman
of the board of directors of Heineken Management (Shanghai) Co.
Ltd (“Heineken Management China”), which provides support to the
Company and its subsidiaries in premium brand building, marketing
communication and activation, trade marketing and production. Mr.
Weissend is also a Director on the boards of CRH (Beer) Limited, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, and China Resources Snow
Breweries Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Heineken
Management China is a subsidiary of Heineken N.V., which holds an
indirect 40% interest in CRH (Beer) Limited.

Mr. Weissend has been appointed as Managing Director of Heineken
Management China since July 2019. He joined Heineken Spain as Vice-
President in 2007 and took over as Chief Executive Officer of Heineken
Spain from July 2008 to June 2019. He was also the President of the
Spanish Brewers Association from March 2014 to March 2019. From
2001 to 2006, he was Managing Director of Brasseries Heineken (now
Heineken Enterprise), a subsidiary of Heineken France and distributor of
the International and National Group brands. He was sales director of
Heineken France in 1998 and was promoted to commercial director and
member of the management team of Heineken France in 2000.

Mr. Weissend graduated in Marketing and Commercial Strategy from
the Strasbourg Business School.

>
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Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu

WM+ 5%
Aged 47
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SERTHABB _TH&R -BARER-NNELFREFEARR
TREBETBEUNN _ZTNFEFTERATAZRSRBBE LR
NREBEFCHMAONE - MAEER_ZZENFMAEEEER -

has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company since July
2019. Mr. Tuen-Muk currently serves as the Deputy General Manager of
the Finance Department of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
in areas including corporate finance, treasury management, integrated
management and management accounting. He previously worked in the
Financial Management Centre of China Resources Enterprise, Limited.
He has also worked in commercial banks as well as Chinese and multi-
national corporations, and has over 20 years of experience in corporate
finance and treasury management. Mr. Tuen-Muk obtained a Bachelor
of Finance degree from the University of Hong Kong in 1997 and a
Masters of Finance degree from the City University of Hong Kong in
2004. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Tuen-Muk joined
China Resources Group in 2009.

44

BYFBITES

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

EAERE

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh
RERTLER

Aged 67

RNANNFEZIRARFBNES - RERTEEREEBRAA
TREOCERBERARLTEBEREARAFANEERERE N
EHEEREEARARNES - BALENEEIL AR BHBIE
TERRSEMEBLEM -

has been a Director of the Company since 1988. He was a Director
and Chairman of Sino Resources and Energy Holdings Limited, Sino
Petrochem Development Limited, Sino Mining Investments Limited and a
Director of China & Overseas Resources Limited. Mr. Houang obtained
his Bachelor of Business Studies degree from the Polytechnic of North
Staffordshire, United Kingdom.

44
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TRER/ET
BRGEE ERFEE
REBEBEEBHE ATt
Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric
FHKICPA, GBS, OBE, JP
BREARTLR

Aged 67

O

RIBEZ=F=ZAEZEREARAEE - WABKPNEHMER
FIERABMNEEEIERTFEARBAGEEZE T ZE2HZE
EZRBE UELREEFTSREAMEBMEFT S0 -  BESH -
REEBRARINTBRRIZEHE - FELNAREZ K ETAAN
B ERNBEHEERBERAR  BEERTERIF BTGB
ENEEERAR HBERKERERAREIKBEEREEEARA
A FETCERREREEARAT (AIERKABIZERERAF)
MESE -

has been a Director of the Company since March 2003. He is
Honorary Chairman of SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited and member of
the Thirteenth National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference. Dr. Li was the Senior Partner of Li, Tang, Chen
& Co., Certified Public Accountants (Practising) and former member of
the Legislative Council of the Hong Kong SAR. He holds directorships
in a number of listed companies including Sun Hung Kai Properties
Limited, Hang Seng Bank Limited, SmarTone Telecommunications
Holdings Limited, Transport International Holdings Limited and Wong's
International Holdings Limited. Dr. Li was a Director of Bison Finance
Group Limited (formerly known as RoadShow Holdings Limited).

4

BREELT

REABDE 2XHEE
KTEEEERE KFHLT
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
GBM, GBS, OBE, JP

REEL TR

Aged 71

RZZEZERF+ - ABRZERARAES - BET /N EREAM - B
—NNNFE_ZT-AFHHEEHELEMESEMNERERBA
BRZMOBEREN BELEEFTELERZEE RABBES
ZenilgIE RARGNHEESREAEIRF -HBBELTRRK
SEEERIF BBELIRECRERREERFRLF - PEBH
BRAR - BEMRRARALGF BEIECEXARAF  BEREAR
RAR - REPBEREFARAFMNBEAPELRERAANESTE
% ZERFAEREBLTAR KREETHEEEFRAAMNIE
MITEE -

has been a Director of the Company since November 2005. Dr. Cheng
is a practicing solicitor and a consultant of Messrs. P.C. Woo & Co.
after serving as its senior partner from 1994 to 2015. Dr. Cheng was
a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong. He is the founder
chairman of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors of which he is now
the Honorary President and Chairman Emeritus. He is now also serving
as chairman of the Insurance Authority. Dr. Cheng currently holds
directorships in K. Wah International Holdings Limited, China Mobile
Limited, Towngas China Company Limited, Liu Chong Hing Investment
Limited, Guangdong Investment Limited, Tian An China Investments
Company Limited and The Hong Kong and China Gas Company Limited,
all being listed companies in Hong Kong. He was a Non-executive
Director of Kader Holdings Company Limited.

> D
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Aged 56
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REELEERREERGRAR ANEBEERAR BEMEBRA
Al (5 AF B _EmAR) KBumrungrad Hospital Public Company Limited
(RBERBHREARBERLAF  AEBEETRFINES -

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He is the
Executive Director and President of Asia Financial Holdings Limited
(being a listed company in Hong Kong) and the Executive Director and
Chairman of Asia Insurance Company Limited. He acts as an Advisor
of Bangkok Bank (China) Company Limited. Apart from the roles in the
business community, Mr. Chan serves as a Hong Kong Deputy to The
National People’s Congress of the People’s Republic of China and the
Convenor of the Non-official Members of the Executive Council of the
Hong Kong SAR. He is a former member of the Legislative Council of
the Hong Kong SAR. Mr. Chan is the Chairman of Hong Kong Palace
Museum Limited and the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council. He
also serves as the Chairperson of The Hong Kong Council of Social
Service. In addition, Mr. Chan holds directorship in Chen Hsong Holdings
Limited, Yau Lee Holdings Limited and Cathay Pacific Airways Limited (all
being listed companies in Hong Kong) and Bumrungrad Hospital Public
Company Limited (being a listed company in Thailand).

>>

mARELEE

SRFEE  AF#+

Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon
GBS, JP

RELTAR
Aged 75

RIZBERFT -ARZERARAES - FREFRBB =1
FRE_ZTZE_FEARK HBE-NWNA=FEAEZMRAAEA
MBBER BZERZEABRFMPIEEEZRG  EFRELE
RER CERE PRBERAESFEBAZRARIETRERE
BRBAR MEALCIERERERARMEARNKERAERAR
MBI IFAITES o

has been a Director of the Company since November 2006. He had
been a career civil servant for over 36 years before retiring from the
civil service in 2002. Mr. Siu rose to the rank of Secretary, Government
Secretariat in 1993 and served a number of high ranking government
positions, namely the Secretary for Economic Services, Secretary for
Transport, Head of Central Policy Unit and eventually retired from his
last posting as Secretary for Planning, Environment & Lands. Mr. Siu was
an Independent Non-executive Director of Television Broadcasts Limited
and Transport International Holdings Limited.

>>
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MANAGEMENT PHILOSOPHY

The Board is committed to achieving excellence in corporate
governance and believes that good corporate governance leads to
the long-term success of the Group’s business. The Group values
its Code of Conduct, corporate policies and regulations, which
serves as the basis for its corporate governance. Compliance with
the national policies as well as the laws and regulations should
be the focus and goal in the business operation of the Group,
to protect the Company’s interests. The Group will continuously
review its governance practices and keep on improving in
accordance with the latest regulatory requirements.

The Board believes that risk management is an integral part
of corporate governance. Effective and efficient corporate risk
management will facilitate the Group’s business development and
operation by setting the appropriate risk appetite, maintaining
acceptable risk level and more importantly, proactively responding
to risks. It therefore helps protect shareholder value and safeguard
the Group’s reputation. Through putting in place proper risk
management process over the Group’s business and carrying out
regular reviews and updates, the Group strives to reduce the
likelihood and the impact of risks before they occur, and deal
with problems effectively when they arise. While the Group’s
risk management is the responsibility of every management team
member and is embedded in the business planning and daily
operation of the Group’s business, the Group’s risk management
process is based on a decentralized model with a centralized
monitoring system. The Group’s strategy is to maintain a
streamlined risk management process to identify, analyze and
mitigate various risks in an efficient and effective manner.

RISK STRATEGY AND APPETITE

The Group adheres to a robust and prudent operation strategy.
The Group believes that achieving strategic and business objectives
comes with moderate risks. The risks involved must be consistent
with the Group's strategies and capabilities, be fully identified and
effectively managed, and will not violate the Group’s core values
and social responsibilities. The Group must also avoid incidents
such as serious violations of national regulations, major quality
or safety accidents, adverse social impacts, any damage to the
Group and brand reputation, and major financial losses or business
interruptions. In this regard, the Group will continue to pursue a
balanced development of efficiency, quality and scale, emphasizing
conformity between business development and risk-taking.
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Based on our risk tolerances and identified significant risks,
the Group’s management has adopted different strategies to
manage risks including risk reduction, transfer and avoidance.
In accordance with the strategies adopted, the effective risk
management measures will be formulated to analyze the key
causes of risk, establish appropriate risk monitoring indicators if
necessary, conduct continuous monitoring, and ensure the timely
detection of major risk events and adoption of effective risk
mitigation measures.

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Group’s risk management structure is based on the
“three lines of defense” model, which clarifies the roles and
responsibilities of management and business units and functional
departments on risk management. The first line of defense
consists of business units and functional departments at all levels,
responsible for daily risk management, including participation
in risk assessment of the Group, development of risk mitigation
measures and monitoring procedures; the second line of defense
consists of risk management functions, responsible for organizing,
promoting and coordinating the risk management, and monitoring
the Group’s major and potential risks; the third line of defense
consists of the Group’s internal audit function, responsible for
risk management supervision and inspection, internal assurance
activities, assessment of internal risk management and monitoring.

BREME
N ULTIMATE RESPONSIBILITY g5g
- @) Board of Directors
EZEREF
THE 3 LINE
OF DEFENSE AEHREREXRESS
L (O Internal Audit Function and
Audit Committee
EEHS
THE 2" LINE
OF DEFENSE
° 'e) 2L B B TR R RE
Risk Management Function
E—ERR
THE 1t LINE
OF DEFENSE BREREMFBAEIP

'9) Business Units and
Functional Departments at
All Levels
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CORPORATE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Risk Monitoring: The Board of Directors continuously monitors
risk management and internal control systems and reviews the
effectiveness of internal control systems on a semi-annual basis
via the Audit Committee.

Reporting on regular and ad hoc basis: The management of
the Group reviews audit reports, internal controls and risk
management issues, and continuously assesses and updates major
risks faced by the Group and respective risk mitigation measures.
The Board of Directors oversees the management’'s monitoring
activities via Internal Audit Function and the Audit Committee,
and the effectiveness of the implemented monitoring measures.

BUSINESS UNIT
Step 1: Risk Identification

The Group's risk assessment is conducted annually through a
top-down and bottom-up risk assessment process. By engaging
the relevant procedures, the Group’s risk management function
initiates the risk assessments at all levels of business units and
functional departments, identifies and estimates risks both at the
Group and business unit levels by evaluating corporate strategies,
sales, marketing, operations, productions and human resources,
and incorporate risk management into our business planning.
At the end of each year, the Group’s business unit undertakes
a review of potential risks which falls within its business and
operation area by the means of expert interviews, management
team questionnaires, and analysis on the impact of changes of the
operating environment, with a view to performing risk positioning,
analysis and evaluation of their probability and impact of risks.
Identified risks are reported together with the explanation of its
nature and proposed risk management strategies to the Group
during the business plan review session at the beginning of each
year. In addition to the annual exercise, our regular reporting
system of the Group’s business unit also facilitates ongoing risk
identification and the reporting of risks.

Step 2: Risk Analysis, Evaluation and Mitigation

After identifying the risk, the designated risk owner is responsible
for analyzing the likelihood and potential impact of the risk event.
Risks of higher likelihood and potential impact will be given
priority. The risk owner then designs and implements appropriate
procedures and controls to mitigate the risk. In the design of
the action plan, the implementation cost will be considered at
the same time, and in the implementation process, the Group
emphasizes the balance between risk and benefit to ensure the
long-term stable development of the business.
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Step 3: Risk Monitoring and Performance Evaluation

After risk identification, analysis, evaluation and mitigation, risk
owners will establish risk monitoring indicators, where appropriate,
based on quantifiable and practicable principles, to regularly
monitor and give warnings of potential risks, and take effective
mitigation measures in a timely manner. At the same time,
evaluation reports are submitted to the Group by the business
units through the regular reporting mechanism. To prevent the
same risks from occurring again, preventive actions and procedures
to improve operational efficiency are also incorporated into the
risk management and internal control systems. In addition, our
Internal Audit Function undertakes independent reviews on risk
management and internal control systems, and our management
is responsible for ensuring appropriate actions which are taken
to rectify any control deficiencies highlighted in the audit reports
within a reasonable period of time.

PRINCIPAL RISKS

The Group constantly faces a number of principal risks and
uncertainties in a highly competitive business environment that
need to be managed properly in order to avoid significant impact
on the Group’s business. Thorough risk assessment and mitigation
measures help ensure these risks are well managed and governed
effectively. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, local
governments in China have imposed lockdown in some cities and
implemented various emergency prevention and control measures,
and the overall beer market size dropped significantly compared
with 2019. During the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has
closely monitored changes related to the COVID-19 pandemic,
local government’s pandemic prevention and control policies and
taken timely and effective measures in response to the situation
in each region. While taking the necessary steps to safeguard the
health and safety of its employees, the Group quickly arranged the
resumption of work and production, organized and promoted the
construction of sales channels to ensure swift recovery of overall
beer sales volume once the pandemic eased. As a result, the
Group managed to minimize the adverse impact of the pandemic
on overall operations and sales.
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During the business planning process in 2020, the Group focused
on addressing the following principal risks:

The capacity of the Chinese beer market shrank due to the
COVID-19 pandemic; however, consumption upgrade has
continued in the market, the emergence of new marketing
methods and the shift of major consumption locations have also
led to intensified market competition.

The Group continuously adjusted its competition strategic
plan based on market changes and has strived to enhance its
competitiveness on brand image, price competitiveness, product
quality and distribution network by optimizing sub-premium beer
segment and above product diversification, strengthening channel
construction and developing innovative sales and marketing
strategies.

The Group formulates corresponding sales and marketing
strategies according to the market conditions. Poor execution of
sales and marketing activities may reduce the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaigns, which may have a negative impact on
the sales performance of the Group.

Nevertheless, the Group has strictly controlled the risks of sales
and marketing activities, continued to enhance the management
and control of selling expense, carried out lean sales and
marketing and continuously improved the effectiveness of sales
and marketing campaigns based on the principles of regulations
and cost-effectiveness. The Group has regularly carried out
trainings to strengthen the compliance awareness of staff and
ensure the operation stays in compliance with existing laws and
regulations.

Factors such as natural disasters and uncertain events could induce
production safety issues, which may cause personal injury and
property damage to the corporate.

The Group attaches great importance to production safety. To
minimize health and safety risks, the Group has undertaken various
measures including adhering to production safety guidelines,
strictly implementing government pandemic prevention and
control requirements, carrying out staff training and cultural
promotion, strengthening organization and system construction,
organizing emergency drills and initiating safety checks at facilities.
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PUBLIC SENTIMENT AND REPUTATION RISK

The prevalence of mobile communication and the internet, in
addition to the rapid development of new media, have increased
the contact base and pushed the rapid diffusion of public
sentiment and reputation risk, which could lead to negative impact
on the Group's reputation if appropriate crisis response strategies
are not facilitated in time.

The Group is committed to maintaining a good image and
reputation in the market. The Group has taken the initiative to
monitor events that may potentially put our reputation at risk
and strictly prohibit any business activities that will damage our
reputation or cause material adverse effects. To prevent and reduce
the impact of public sentiment on the Group, the Group constantly
improved the system and structure of public opinion and reputation
risk management, established an awareness of public sentiment
and reputation risks, formed a good management culture of public
sentiment and reputation risk management, and carefully handled
incidents that could damage the reputation and image of the Group
to minimize the negative impact on the Group.

OPERATIONAL PROTECTION RISK

Due to the significant in beer consumption, it can adversely impact
the sales in the market seasonally if the production capacity as
well as the logistics and transportation networks cannot guarantee
market supply during the peak season.

The Group has explored the innovative development of the
operating system, established a unified operating organization
system, applied system management, strengthened the plan and
coordination between production and sales, and realized unified
product allocation and logistics management thereby improving
operating efficiency.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION RISK

The Country is more stringent in terms of environmental
management. If the factory is not well managed or the facility
malfunctions, any emissions of pollutants during the production
process may exceed the level specified by national or local
government regulations and standards.

The Group has always been committed to protecting the environment
and has continuously increased its investment in environmental
protection, promoting the upgrade and transformation of
various pollutant treatment facilities and equipment technology,
implementing laws and regulations, and raising the awareness of
environmental protection of all staff, conducting supervision and
inspection on environmental protection, and implementing follow-up
monitoring to meet the emissions standards.
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In addition to the commitment to driving business growth and
improving operational performance, the Group has been actively
fulfilling its corporate social responsibilities to bring more and
better changes to the public.

Riding on its business strengths and extensive business network,
the Group is committed to contributing to the society in the areas
of community care, environment protection, energy conservation
and emission reduction, human resources, product and service
quality upgrade, as well as supply chain management, etc. with
the drive to become a trusted and beloved beer enterprise. The
Group has separately published its environmental, social and
governance reports to inform the public of the performance and
various aspects in relevant aspects, and voluntarily disclosed more
information, including the impact of climate change, medium
targets of consolidated energy consumption of production and
occupational safety and health, to demonstrate the Group’s
commitments to sustainable development.

COMMUNITY CARE

The Group has always been committed to promoting a caring society
and fostering charitable undertakings, proactively focused on the
community in the aspects of disaster and poverty relief, educational
advancement and environmental protection. In 2020, the Group
defined its social responsibilities by adhering to the philosophy of
“Brewing A Better Life” on top of its implementation of charity and
philanthropic initiatives and social responsibility management system,
to provide consumers with products and experiences that exceed
expectations, establish career homes for employees, enhance value for
partners, create returns for shareholders, bring green and harmonious
development to the environment and society, and stimulate as well as
satisfy people’s needs for a better life. During the year under review,
the Group proposed more than 380 key social responsibility indicators,
of which more than 20 indicators were aimed at community care, and
encouraged all business units of the Group to take community care
actions in accordance with the indicators.
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During the year under review, the Group launched charity and
philanthropic activities in different regions with a focus on
combating COVID-19 pandemic. Among them, the Group donated
RMB15 million to related charities in Wuhan City and Wuhan
Dongxihu District Government, Hubei province for the procurement
of emergency medical supplies such as masks, disinfectants, medical
goggles and ventilators, to provide better protection for medical
staff while they are performing medical treatment. In addition,
the Group also donated local pandemic-related materials and life
support materials worth approximately RMB1 million to health and
epidemic prevention departments in Shaanxi, Hubei, Heilongjiang,
Jilin, Inner Mongolia and Anhui provinces.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group is committed to protecting the environment. There is
a sound organizational system to implement the responsibilities
of environmental protection as well as energy conservation and
emission reductions. The Group has also attached great importance
to the management and control of environmental, health and safety
("EHS"). A top to bottom approach is adopted, implementing and
assessing policies and guidelines for the impact of operations to
the environment, and continuously enhancing the environmental
protection and management for energy conservation and emission
reduction.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION,
CONSERVATION AND EMISSION REDUCTION

The Group has been strictly adhered to the national or local
pollutant discharge standards and implemented internal control
benchmarks that are stricter than the national or local pollutant
discharge standards in order to steadily meet the emission
target and proactively reduce pollutant emission. The Group has
established a management organization and responsibility system
for energy conservation and protection of surrounding eco-
environment at three tiers: the headquarters, regional companies
and local breweries. Every year, the headquarter cascades and
assigns the target for energy conservation and eco-environmental
protection of surrounding areas to the regional companies, factories
and even production units.

ENERGY
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During the year under review, the Group thoroughly reviewed
the progress of energy conservation and ecological environmental
protection goals and tasks during the “13th Five-Year Plan” period,
developed the “14th Five-Year Plan” EHS management plan, and
continued to strengthen the intensity and depth of environmental
protection regulations, and promote continuous improvement
of primary units. During the “13th Five-Year Plan” period, the
Group's consolidated energy consumption per unit was reduced by
more than 500 million joules per kilolitre, representing a decline
of more than 45%. The strategic target of no more than 700
million joules per kilolitre of the consolidated energy consumption
per unit product under the “13th Five-Year Plan” was achieved
ahead of time. The indicator also represents a leading standard
among international peers. In addition, the Group has developed
new targets, tasks and strategic initiatives for the “14th Five-
Year Plan” to help the Group develop into a world-class beer
enterprise with global competitiveness by benchmarking with
international, domestic and leading industry peers, drawing on
excellent experience and practices. In accordance with the actual
and development needs of the Group’s energy conservation and
ecological environmental protection work, the concept of green
development has been incorporated into the Group’s overall “14th
Five-Year” strategic plan, and on the basis of benchmarking with
advanced international peers in the industry, CRSB’s “14th Five-
Year Plan” eco-friendly energy target indicators were initially
formed, of which the reduction target of total carbon emission
and the indicators of carbon emission per unit, the discharge of
water pollutants, the consolidated energy consumption per unit
and the comprehensive utilization rate of industrial solid waste
will be added during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period.

During the year under review, 25 production plants of the
Group conducted cross-checks on environmental protection and
energy conservation. In 2020, the Group started the hourly
data monitoring of concentration on pollutant discharge to
improve the timeliness of discovering abnormalities at factories.
Since May 2020, the CRSB headquarters has timely responded
to and followed up with the rectification requirements of the
government’s environmental monitoring and the problems
identified during the process. The factories under the Group have
also strictly implemented the “one investigation, one report”
requirement for on-site government inspections.
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In 2020, the Group continued to implement capacity optimization
at its production plants by proactively eliminating outdated
production capacity, making ecological environmental protection
and energy conservation and emission reduction indicators as
one of the significant basis for implementing optimization, and
setting priority for the elimination of relatively polluting and less
efficient factories. As of 2020, the Group has completed the
elimination of coal-fired boilers in all production plants through
the implementation of a project to convert using gas instead
of coal. The accumulated investment in the project for coal-
to-gas conversion has exceeded RMB120 million. Over a five-
year period, 105 coal-fired boilers and over 1,300 steam tons
of coal-fired boilers were eliminated respectively. The Group's
coal consumption also dropped significantly year by year. Coal
consumption has dropped from more than 230 thousand tons in
2015 to approximately 2,000 tons in 2020, a decrease of 99%
and a year-on-year decrease of over 70%.

While implementing the elimination of coal-fired boilers, the
Group focused on the implementation of low-nitrogen combustion
transformation of gas-fired boilers in production plants in key
areas. As of 2020, the Group has implemented or is currently
implementing 13 low-nitrogen combustion retrofit projects, with
a cumulative investment of more than RMB11 million. Upon
implementation, the nitrogen oxide emission concentration of the
factories’ gas-fired boilers can meet the special emission limit in
the “Air Pollutant Emission Standard from Boiler” or the local air
pollutant emission standard requirements. In 2020, the Group's
emission of sulfur dioxide (SO,) dropped by more than 70% year-
on-year, while nitrogen oxides (NOx) dropped by more than 40%
year-on-year.

The waste such as brewer’'s grains and waste yeast produced
by the Group during beer production process were all recycled
and reused, in an effort to handle waste, reduce production and
achieve the outcome in the best possible ways. During the year
under review, the comprehensive utilization rate of the Group’s
industrial solid waste exceeded 95%.
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During the year under review, based on the key risks of energy
conservation and emission reduction regulation in 2019 as well as
the key direction of government policy, the Group set aside the
environmental protection project cost for CRSB headquarter in
2020. As of the end of December 2020, the Group implemented
24 projects with investment amount of RMB45 million. The
projects included the upgrade and reform of sewage discharge
system, installation of low nitrogen gas-fired boilers, collection
and treatment of odor from sewage, and real-time monitoring
and upgrade of sewage discharge, etc. In 2020, the electricity
consumption of photovoltaic power generation at the Xiaoshan
brewery of the Group accounts for more than 15% of the total
electricity consumption of the whole plant, which has reduced
carbon dioxide equivalent (CO,-e) emissions by 3,100 tons
throughout the year. As of 2020, the Group has 32 production
plants equipped with biogas boilers, increased by 5 production
plants year-on-year, and total 43 biogas boilers were installed. The
cumulative amount of biogas recycling and utilization exceeded
7.25 million cubic meters, increased by 13% year-on-year, while
the steam production of biogas boilers has reached more than
88,000 tons. During the "14th Five-Year Plan”, the Group will
optimize the configuration standards of biogas boilers, explore the
best practices for improving biogas utilization efficiency and steam
production rate, and further increase the proportion of renewable
energy use. In addition, the Group also actively promotes the
comprehensive recycling and utilization of condensate from
outsourced steam plants and the gradient utilization of thermal
energy projects.

The Group adopted a process control approach of water pollution
prevention and control by measures of source control, water
saving and efficiency enhancement, and end treatment, proactively
implemented the water purification battle, enhanced effort in
mitigating the impact of factory site selection and construction
on the surrounding ecological environment, and set quality of
the water source as one of the major evaluation parameters for
factory site selection. No new brewery can be constructed in an
area where the water parameter does not meet the processing
requirements. In addition, the Group formulated and issued the
“Production Plant Design Specifications” based on the design
principle of “zero pollution, low energy consumption and cleaner
production”, required that there should not have any polluting
enterprises, soil with heavy metal and radioactive substance within
two kilometers from a brewery, and that the quality parameters
of the water source should be stringently controlled.
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The Group actively strengthened internal energy management and
promoted the use of water-saving technologies and processes in
reducing the amount of pollutants produced and discharged from
the source. In 2020, consumption of fresh water decreased by 3
million tons year-on-year while water consumption was below 2.7
tons per kiloliter of beer, representing a 1.3% drop year-on-year.
The performance has put the Group at a leading position among
domestic counters and on par with international counterparts.

The Group’s production plants are installed with sewage treatment
equipment and facilities. Production sewage and domestic
wastewater are treated by the sewage treatment system in the
plants and are discharged to natural water bodies or municipal
sewage treatment facilities upon fulfilling required standards. As
of 2020, the number of factories discharging sewage into natural
water bodies of the Group has dropped to 5, chemical oxygen
demand (COD) emissions (natural water bodies) dropped by more
than 40% vyear-on-year, and ammonia nitrogen emissions (natural
water bodies) decreased year-on-year by nearly 80%.

During the year under review, the Group implemented various
measures such as the implementation of coal-to-gas conversion to
reduce coal consumption, public transportation reform to reduce
gasoline consumption, and conversion of fuel-powered forklifts to
electric forklifts, which in turn effectively reduced carbon dioxide
(CO,) emissions. In 2020, the Group's carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions
decreased by more than 10% year-on-year, coal usage decreased by
more than 70% year-on-year, natural gas consumption decreased
over 15% year-on-year, gasoline consumption decreased by more
than 40% year-on-year, diesel consumption decreased by more
than 25% year-on-year, heat consumption decreased by more than
10% year-on-year, and carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions per unit fell
by more than 5% year-on-year, achieving a decline in both total
carbon emissions and carbon emission intensity.
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PROMOTING ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

All business units of the Group have rolled out a number of
environmental care publicity and education activities such as
“Beautiful China, | am an actor”, “Lucid water and lush mountains,
energy saving and efficiency enhancement” and “Green and
low carbon, comprehensive well-off”. During the year under
review, a number of the Group’s factories were recognised for
environmental care. Among them, three production factories won
the “Hong Kong Green Awards” issued by the Hong Kong Green
Council, including China Resources Beer (Lu’an) Co’s winning of
“Green Management Award Gold Prize”; China Resources Snow
Breweries (Sichuan) Co., Ltd. Nei Jiang Branch and Snow Breweries
(Foshan) Co., Ltd.'s winning of “Green Management Award Silver
Prize”. In addition, the Group’s Sichuan Neijiang and Xindu plants
were awarded the title of “Integrity Enterprise of Sichuan Province
Environmental Credit Evaluation in 2019” by the Department of
Ecology and Environment of Sichuan Province; Bengbu Plant was
awarded the title of “Water-conserving Industrial Enterprise of
Anhui” by the Department of Water Resources Management of
Anhui Province; The Dongguan factory was awarded the title of
“Water-conserving Industrial Enterprise of Guangdong” by the
Department of Water Resources Management of Guangdong
Province; the Baoshan factory in Jiangsu and Shanghai region was
awarded the title of “Shanghai Green Factory” and “Shanghai
Energy Conservation and Emission Reduction Award” by Shanghai
Municipal People’s Government, and was jointly presented the
title of “Leader in Water Efficiency for Key Water Enterprises” by
the National Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry
of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry of Water
Resources and the State Administration for Market Regulation.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

The Group ensures that employees’ working environment, welfare
policies and training plans are fully implemented in a standardized
manner to facilitate the improvement of staff efficiency. The Group
continued to improve staff career development system, achieve full
coverage of employee ranking evaluation, and guide employees to
constantly improve their professional capabilities, which not only
support business development of the Group, but also fulfil the
needs of employees for personal growth, enabling employees to
excel with the Group together.

EMPLOYMENT POLICY, REMUNERATION AND BENEFIT

The Group strictly implements national and local regulations
and policies concerning compensation and benefits, pays various
social insurance and housing provident funds for employees in
accordance with laws and regulations; pays labor remuneration
and overtime remuneration in full and on time, and strictly
complies with the minimum wage guarantee system.

During the year under review, the Group implemented
remuneration and benefits promotion in multiple ways and
dimensions, and continued to improve employees’ perception
and satisfaction of remuneration and benefits. The Group
steadily completed the optimization of the remuneration and
benefit system, and standardized the remuneration items and
remuneration structure throughout the country; established a
middle-level salary package based on job value, professional
ranking evaluation and annual performance rating to reform
the compensation rules, resulting in salary increment for the
middle-level employees’ as a reversal of the trend during the
pandemic; implemented the “three unifications” of the national
benefit system, namely, the unification of benefit items, benefit
standards and payment approach, while improving the level of
basic benefit protection and internal fairness; standardized the
housing provident fund payment ratio, and increased employer’s
contribution and deposit ratios for more than 16,000 employees;
the Group also increased accident, critical illness and life insurance
protection for general staff, and increased medical and health
protection for the middle-level employees.

As a people-oriented organization, the Group has established a
three-tiered protection for employees’ health risks. The first is
basic medical insurance, the second is supplementary commercial
insurance for all employees, and the third is the provision of
annual health check-ups for all employees and occupational health
check-ups for special positions; in terms of employee retirement
benefits, two levels of protection were established, namely, the
basic pension insurance and the enterprise annuity system covering
all employees.
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The Group has consistently adopted policies to prevent child labor
or forced labor, and abides by relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on CRH. In terms of recruitment practices
and measures, the Group strictly complies with the “Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and the “Labor Contract Law of the
People’s Republic of China”, and clearly prohibits the recruitment or
employment of persons under the age of 18. In order to standardize
and improve the employment system and control the compliance
and quality of employment from the recruitment process, the
Group's recruitment has gradually shifted from regional companies
to the human resources share service center, and further utilized
online recruitment channels as well as to restrict and avoid hiring
of child labor by way of recruitment and employment conditions. To
ensure effective compliance with the above-mentioned regulatory
requirements, the Group incorporates violations of regulations into
the annual performance appraisal. At the same time, the Group
conducts secondary labor inspection management for regions,
production plants and marketing centers every year so as to
strengthen the system continuously.

In 2020, the Group's average training hour per employee was 35.8
hours, an increase from that of 2019 due to a significant increase
in online training driven by COVID-19. The training coverage rate
for full-time employees continued to remain at 100%. During
the pandemic, the Group actively utilized the online learning
platform to provide online learning, learning maps and curriculum
resources on sequence of sales business to help maintain and
improve the knowledge and skills of employees. Nonetheless, in
order to strengthen the Group’s organizational capabilities and
nurture business talent for premium beer business, a multitude
of training initiatives were launched, including the “Three Level
Leaders” talent development project that catered to general
managers of regional companies, sales and marketing centers, and
regional sales, the “Two Drive Wheels” talent nurturing program
aiming at enhancing the capabilities of middle management in
premium catering and night channels, and the “Channel Magic
Weapon” program tailored for key channel marketing positions to
ensure smooth implementation and execution of premiumization
strategies. For all middle-managers in general, the Group
optimized the middle-level competency courses, launched the
full-coverage training and learning, customized and enhanced
feedback for the Individual Development Program (IDP). For key
positions, the human resources business partnership program and
“TOP Financial Director Training” were launched to facilitate the
Group’s human resources and financial transformations.
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During the year under review, the Group’s “Snow Breweries
Academy” was presented the “China Talent Development Awards”
by Training Magazine of Xinhua Newspaper Media Group, and
the “Excellent Professional Academy”, “Excellent Learning Project”,
“Excellent Course” and “Excellent Lecturer” by China Resources
University. Upholding the philosophy of “learning to grow, reflecting
to develop” and “learning from and applying to the business
practices” as the two guiding principles of its premiumization
strategy, the Group believes constant strengthening of employees’
business and management capabilities are instrumental to the
implementation of the Group's strategies and quality development.

OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH

The Group's safety production management is deeply rooted in its
management philosophy that espouses a people-oriented and safe
development approach. It places employees’ health and safety as
the foremost duty of safety management, and doggedly pursues
“zero injury and zero accident”. The Group has strictly observed
the national laws and administrative regulations on production
safety and occupational health, and has rigorously carried out
its responsibility on safety production and occupational health
by building a comprehensive safety production and occupational
health management system that possesses the characteristics of
CRH and the features of CRSB, and has continuously modified,
advanced and promoted the Group’s safety management standard.
As of the end of December 2020, all factories of the Group have
passed the National Safe Production Standard certification, and
some factories have also obtained occupational health and safety
management system certifications (ISO 45001 and OHSAS 18001).
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The Group values safety education and training. In 2020, over
13,500 employees at all levels participated in safety education
and training for a total of approximately 390,000 class hours and
more than 610 times of emergency drills. Through on-the-job
training, class training, technical competitions, experience sharing
and simulation exercises, employees’ safety knowledge and skills
and emergency response capabilities are constantly enhanced. The
Group is committed to safeguarding the well-being of employees
and fulfilling employers’ occupational health management
responsibilities.  While continuously optimizing and improving
its occupational hazard monitoring and prevention and control
systems, the Group strives to strengthen its occupational hazard
protection measures and improve the working environment. In
addition, the Group also rolled out extensive occupational health
promotion and education by proactively fulfilling its obligation
to communicate occupational hazards. Work injury insurance is
secured for employees in accordance with the law. For employees
who are engaged in exposure to potential hazards of occupational
disease, the Group arranges regular occupational health
inspections and proper documents for employees’ occupational
health monitoring records.

PRODUCT SAFETY AND SERVICE QUALITY

The Group puts high emphasis on its consumers and strives to
continuously exceed customers’ expectations towards quality. The
Group has unremittingly enhanced its product quality from three
levels. The first level is by strictly adhering to the national premium
standard for controlling ex-factory product quality, thus ensuring
the basic quality of its product. In 2020, it achieved 100% pass
rate in the ex-factory quality test. The National Safety Supervision
and Inspection implemented spot test for 53 factories and
achieved a pass rate of 100%. The second level is by reinforcing
freshness management and shortening sales cycle while enhancing
the quality. In this aspect, the Group was able to control total
oxygen below 50 parts per billion (50ppb), achieving a leading
position in the industry. The third level by which enhancing its
product quality is through continuously carrying out technology
innovation, launching distinguished beer products to satisfy the
diverse personalized needs of the consumers, thus enhancing
customer experience and building attractive quality.
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In order to comply with the “Food Safety Law of the People’s
Republic of China” and fulfil the key responsibility for food safety
on corporates, the Group hires professional third-party organizations
with laboratory qualifications such as the China National Accreditation
Service for Conformity Assessment (CNAS) to sample the beer
purchased by the Group to ensure product ingredients are in line
with food safety indicators. In 2020, nearly 180 suppliers of raw
and auxiliary materials, food additives and wine-tasting packaging
materials were randomly inspected, with more than 200 samples
and more than 6,500 inspection indicators. All inspection outcomes
met the requirements of national food safety standards, effectively
guaranteeing food safety of the ingredients used by the Group.

In order to meet with individual needs of consumers, the Group
vigorously carried out brand repositioning and new product
research and development as well as technological innovation.
In 2020, it developed and launched new products such as “New
Snow Opera Mask” and “Lao Xue”, and launched “Heineken®
Silver” and "AMSTEL". The Group's product quality and production
efficiency kept improving through research of basic and applied
new technology areas. During the year under review, the Group
successively researched and developed new technologies such as
“active dry yeast”, “online non-destructive roll seal testing” and
“carbon-saving packaging line".

The Group integrates lean management concepts, tools and
technologies into the process of quality and food safety
management, and applies different lean tools to fine-tune and
facilitate more than 1,000 tiny improvement and lean improvement
projects in 2020 to improve products quality. In 2020, the Group
commenced the construction of “Snow Star” Good Laboratory
Practice (GLP) and Laboratory Information Management System
(LIMS) to improve laboratory management; continued to launch
internal and external inspection proficiency verification activities,
covering items such as malt, hops and beer, supported by a total
of 185 affiliated laboratories and 24 supplier laboratories that were
verified to improve inspection and testing capabilities; different
testing method optimization projects were also carried out to
improve the efficiency and accuracy of precision instrument testing.

Helimeken
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In order to enable consumers to appreciate the Group’s high-
quality development concept, and to access to real experience
information from front-line consumers as a basis for quality
improvement, the Group organized 5 consumer tasting activities
in 2020, inviting more than 150 dealers, terminal representatives
and sales staff of CRSB to participate in the event.

In the strategic frontier of internationalization with an aim to
develop into a world-class beer enterprise, the Group collaborates
with professional manufacturers and institutions to establish
an internal quality and food safety management system at the
headquarters and pilot plants of CRSB. The system aligns with
the EHS management elements of China Resources Group,
and incorporates multiple international systems and internal
management experience. In 2020, the Group completed the pilot
construction of the system and passed the ISO 9001 quality
control system certification. As of 2020, the Group and its
subsidiaries have obtained more than 50 international system
certifications such as ISO/HACCP/FSSC 22000. The Group regularly
reviews its technical quality standards from the four dimensions
of regulations, time, technology and logic, as well as develops
and implements plans for standardization and revision. The
Group continues to improve the establishment of technical quality
standards. In 2020, a total of 142 documents related to raw and
auxiliary materials, production technology and product standards
were developed and revised, of which 47 were new.
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In 2020, the Group’s “Research and Application of Protection
System of Efficient Operation Technology for High-speed
Packaging Line of Canned Beer” garnered the second prize of
“Scientific and Technological Award” of the China Alcoholic
Drinks Association, and the “Best Technology Innovation Award —
Bronze Award” by CRH. Besides, the research on “Research and
Application on Active Dry Yeast for Beer” project commenced
in 2019 was honoured with Professional Achievement (Quality
Innovation Award) in the “China Quality Technology and
Innovation 2020” and was recognised as the international leading
level by China Association for Quality. Separately, 36 beer tasters
of the Group successfully passed the “2020 National Beer Judges”
(commonly known as “National Taster “) in the “2020 National
Beer Tasting Committee” evaluation and selection activities. The
number of National Tasters increased by 22 as compared with
2019, accounting for over 34% among the industry, consolidating
the Group’s leading position in the industry.

To improve product quality, the Group continued to advance the
“Project of elimination of quality defects and reduction of quality-
related complaints” in 2020, the Group organized expert teams
to conduct in-depth study on the bottle return, classification and
cleaning in 5 subsidiary factories. It implemented the measure
of “joint mastery and management from all-round functions”
that covers all the way from production, operation, marketing
to the points-of-sales, alongside with “refined brewing”, “anti-
wear agent application”, “anti-crystallization glass bottle” and
“anti-flat or defects on cans” as the core parts of the quality
improvement program, thus further improving quality of bottle
source, classification and cleaning as well as eliminating the
production of impure beer in the production process and brining
customer satisfaction level to a new level.

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

In 2020, the Group continued to implement a series of measures
to strengthen supply chain management. The process for co-
operation with suppliers has been assessed monthly in terms of
seven indicators: quality, timeliness, accuracy, declined orders,
returned goods, violation behaviors and flawed products.
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The Group strictly observes the “CRSB Management Measures
on Suppliers of Productive Materials”, and applies the “Criteria
for Selecting Potential Suppliers” and “On-site Inspection Criteria
for Selecting Suppliers” as the basic requirements to shortlist
suppliers. Additionally, the process of screening potential suppliers
is conducted by the supplier management working team, reviewed
by the supplier management committee made up of financial,
technical and procurement departments, and reviewed and
approved by the tendering committee. The Group also performs
catalog management for production material suppliers through a
dynamic cycle management of introduction, screening, verification,
evaluation, and elimination.

Besides, the Group organizes triennial knowledge and compliance
tests for procurement material suppliers in order to eliminate
suppliers of incompatibility and dishonesty. In addition to the new
management, new rules, new systems and regulations such as the
identification of dishonest suppliers and the fulfillment of social
responsibility commitments by suppliers, the content of the test is
regularly updated to disseminate and strengthen the prohibitions
and work disciplines that suppliers should be aware of and comply
with. The effort aims at enhancing suppliers’ awareness of self-
discipline, integrity, and risk of violations; while strengthening
the construction of a clean government in procurement process,
emphasizing anti-corruption and the importance of integrity.

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION AND CONSUMER DATA
PROTECTION

The Group adheres to the customer-first business philosophy and
strives to improve customer satisfaction. The Group has established
a sound and robust customer service system, optimized the rapid
response mechanism for market complaints, tracked the call
feedback of unified 400 nationwide customer service hotlines,
improved the management of factory production information, and
achieved rapid and accurate traceability of production information.
In terms of confidentiality management of customer information,
the Group upholds the principles of unified and decentralized
integration and tiered authority management, and strengthens
the Group’s network defense capabilities through technical means
such as firewalls and intrusion detection to ensure the safe
operation of confidential information. The Group strictly requires
confidential personnel to abide by the national confidentiality laws
and regulations and the Group’s “Confidential Work Management
System”, sign the “Confidentiality Undertaking”, implement
confidentiality obligations, perform confidentiality obligations, and
effectively ensure information security.
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GOVERNANCE OF INTEGRITY

The Group has been unrelenting in executing the national laws
and regulations against bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering, including the “Constitution”, the “Supervision Law”,
and the “Criminal Procedure Law"” of the People’s Republic of
China. The Group has also implemented the regulations and
provisions pertaining to commercial bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering under the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of
the People’s Republic of China” and “Anti-Unfair Competition
Law”. Meanwhile, the Group observes stringent implementation
of the pertinent regulations of CRH in its daily operation and
management, such as the “CRH Provisional Regulations for Staff
Violation of Disciplines and Regulations”, “Ten Directives of China
Resources”, “Integrity Talk System for CRH's New Managers”,
“Guidance for the Handling of Complaint Letters and Visits and
Discipline Execution and Examination of CRH” and “Centralized
Management Measures for Letters and Visits and Question Clues
of China Resources Company Limited (Trial)”, etc. In addition to
strictly implementing the various systems and procedures of CRH,
the Group also resolutely implemented the Group’s newly revised
“Measures for Employee Violation of Regulations and Discipline”,
“Implementation Rules for Conversations and Inquiries to
Managers of CRSB”, “Implementation Rules for Monitoring Work
as well as Handling Letters and Visits to Disciplinary Inspection
(Supervision) Institutions of CRSB” and other related systems and
procedures, continuing to specify preventive measures, reporting
procedures, related implementation and monitoring methods, as
well as crack down on anti-corruption, bribery and other official
crimes, and prevent and severely punish various corruption.

During the year under review, the Group did not have any litigation

cases or major breach related to corruption, bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
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MAJOR HIGHLIGHTS OF THE COMPANY’S
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE:

1. A balanced portfolio of Board members by age and length of
Board services. Besides, the directors draw a vast experience
and diversified knowledge across different disciplines,
including the areas of trading and commerce, accounting
and finance, legal, banking and civil services.
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AGE  Executive Directors Non-executive Directors and Length of Board services
Independent Non-executive Directors

60 AT 3 4 10F AR

Age below 60 Less than 10 years

605k K A & 0 4 105 kA £

Age 60 or above 10 years or above
EEZECRWBKBEMNEEEHMNE 2. Board committees are a vital part of the Board effectiveness.

To facilitate more professional advices of various areas in
the committees, the members of Nomination Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Audit Committee are mainly
constituted by independent non-executive directors and
each committee is chaired by a different independent non-
executive director.

3. In 2020, due to COVID-19, a majority of the independent
non-executive directors, together with executive director
and Chief Financial Officer and management, have been
arranged two online meetings on latest development of
eCommerce channels and establishment of share service
center.
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4. With effect from 26 June 2020, Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink has tendered his resignation as a Non-
executive Director of the Company in order to devote more
time to other business commitments. He has succeeded Mr.
Jean-Francois van Boxmeer as CEO and Chairman of the
Executive Board of Heineken N.V. from 1 June 2020.

Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend has been appointed as a
Non-executive Director of the Company since 26 June 2020.
Mr. Weissend is the managing director and chairman of
the board of directors of Heineken Management (Shanghai)
Co. Ltd, which provides support to the Company and
its subsidiaries in premium brand building, marketing
communication and activation, trade marketing and
production.

It is the firm belief of the Company that a good and solid
corporate governance framework is essential to the successful
growth of the Company and the enhancement of shareholder
value. The Company is committed to attaining and maintaining
high standards of corporate governance and adopts principles of
corporate governance emphasising a quality Board, accountability
to all stakeholders, open communication and fair disclosure.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

On 8 April 2005, the Company adopted the Corporate
Governance Practice Manual (“CG Manual”). The CG Manual,
which was revised on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010,
21 March 2012, 7 December 2015, 18 March 2016 and 21
November 2018, incorporates almost all the Code Provisions
of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code"”) contained in
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”)
(“Listing Rules”) and includes the implementation details for the
Code Provisions and, where appropriate, the Recommended Best
Practices. The CG Manual can be downloaded from the Company’s
website and copies are available on request to the Company
Secretary.

The Company has complied with the Code Provisions set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2020, save
and except the following:
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In respect of Code Provisions A.2.1 to A.2.9 of the CG Code, since
the resignation of Mr. Chen Lang as the Chairman with effect
from 11 July 2019, the position of the Chairman has been vacant
and has not been filled up as at the date of this report. The Board
of the Company as a whole and its members have discharged the
duties under the aforementioned Code Provisions of the CG code
as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination Committee of the
Company will continuously review and discuss the adjustment to
the composition of the Board.

In respect of Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, all the non-
executive directors of the Company are not appointed for a fixed
term. The Board does not believe in any arbitrary term of office.
The current arrangement will give the Company sufficient flexibility
to organize the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. Further, the Articles of Association of the Company
requires that one third of the directors (including executive and
non-executive directors) shall retire each year and every director
shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years. The directors to retire each year shall be those appointed
by the Board during the year and those who have been longest
in office since their election or re-election. A retiring director is
eligible for re-election.

In respect of Code Provision C.1.2 of the CG Code, the Company
has not provided all members of the Board with monthly updates
to enable the Board as a whole and each director to discharge
their duties. However, the Company has based on business
situation, provided to the Board from time to time, updated
business information to enable the Board as a whole and each
director to discharge their duties.

In respect of Code Provision D.1.4 of the CG Code, the Company
did not have formal letters of appointment for directors. However,
all directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company. In addition, all directors are required to refer to
the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued
by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”, and,
if applicable, “Guide for Independent Non-Executive Directors”
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing
their duties and responsibilities as directors of the Company.
Besides, the directors are required to comply with the requirements
under the Listing Rules, the responsibilities under statute and
common law, legal and other regulatory requirements.
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In respect of Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the position
of the Chairman has been vacant at the annual general meeting
of the Company held on 22 May 2020 (the "AGM") and has not
been filled up as at the date of this report. Mr. Jian Yi, an executive
Director of the Company who took the chair of the AGM, together
with other members of the Board who attended the AGM, were
of sufficient calibre for answering questions at the AGM.

In addition to meet the requirements of the Listing Rules, the
inclusion of the Corporate Governance Report in this Annual
Report is intended to keep our shareholders abreast of the
corporate governance practices of the Company and their
development throughout the reporting year and to invite our
shareholders’ views thereon.

THE BOARD

The Board represents shareholders in managing the Company’s
affairs. The directors recognise their responsibilities to enhance
shareholder value and to conduct themselves in accordance with
their duty of care and integrity.

The major issues which are brought before the Board for their
decisions include:

1. direction of the operational strategies of the Group;

2. setting the policies relating to key business and financial
objectives of the Company;

3. monitoring the performance of the management;
4. approval of material acquisitions, investments, divestments,
disposal of assets or any significant capital expenditure of

the Group;

5. ensuring a prudent and effective risk management and
internal control systems;

6. review of the financial performance and results of the
Company; and

~N

recommendation on final dividend and the declaration of any
interim or special dividends to shareholders of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties set out in paragraph D.3.1 of the CG Code, and in this
regard the duties of the Board shall include:

1. to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of directors and the senior
management;

3. to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors of the Company; and

5.  to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report in accordance
with Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Board considered the following
corporate governance matters:

o approval of the Corporate Governance Report of the
Company; and

o review of the results of the internal audit work on the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of each financial period which give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flows for that period. The financial statements are prepared
and presented to enable a clear and balanced assessment of the
financial position of the Group. Regular management reports on
the financial position and prospects of the Group are reviewed by
the Executive Committee to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the performance of the Company. The Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020, and up to the
date of this report, there were the following changes to the
membership of the Board:

With effect from 26 June 2020, Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van
den Brink has tendered his resignation as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in order to devote more time to other business
commitments. He has succeeded Mr. Jean-Francois van Boxmeer
as CEO and Chairman of the Executive Board of Heineken N.V.
from 1 June 2020.

Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend has been appointed as a Non-
executive Director of the Company since 26 June 2020. Mr.
Weissend is the managing director and chairman of the board
of directors of Heineken Management (Shanghai) Co. Ltd, which
provides support to the Company and its subsidiaries in premium
brand building, marketing communication and activation, trade
marketing and production.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 11 directors,
including three executive directors, three non-executive directors
and five independent non-executive directors. The biographical
details of the directors are set out on pages 28 to 35 of this
report and can also be found on the Company’s website. The
relationships (including financial, business, family or other material
or relevant relationships) if any, among members of the Board are
disclosed.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
the Company has received written confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive directors confirming his independence
from the Company, and considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.
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The experience and views of our independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard and contribute to the effective
direction of the Group. Throughout the year of 2020, the
Company complied with the requirements under the Listing Rules
by maintaining the proportion of its independent non-executive
directors to at least one third of the total members of the Board.

The Company has put in place a tailored induction programme
for its newly appointed directors. Continuing development and
information are provided to the directors to keep them abreast
of the latest developments involving the Group’s business and
operations.

The structure, size and composition of the Board are reviewed
from time to time to ensure that the Board has a balanced
composition of skills and expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Company. Appointments
are first considered by the Nomination Committee. The
recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put to
the full Board for decision.

All directors (including executive and non-executive directors) are
not appointed for a fixed term. The Board does not believe in any
arbitrary term of office and would like to retain sufficient flexibility
to organise the composition of the Board to serve the needs of
the Group. All directors are subject to re-election by shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting following their
appointment and at least once every three years on a rotation
basis. The Articles of Association of the Company require that
one-third of the directors (including executive and non-executive
directors) shall retire each year. The directors who are required
to retire each year shall be those appointed by the Board during
the year and those who have been longest in office since their
election or re-election. A retiring director is eligible for re-election.

During the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020,
the position of the Chairman has been vacant and has not been
filled up as at the date of this report. Mr. Hou Xiaohai held the
position of Chief Executive Officer for the aforesaid period. The
respective responsibilities of the Chairman and the Chief Executive
Officer are fully set out in the CG Manual.
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The Board of the Company as a whole and its members have
discharged the duties of the Chairman under the Code Provisions
of the CG code as appropriate. The Board and the Nomination
Committee of the Company will continuously review and discuss
the adjustment to the composition of the Board.

The position of the Chairman has been vacant at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 22 May 2020 (the
"AGM") and has not been filled up as at the date of this report.
Mr. Jian Yi, an Executive Director of the Company who took the
chair of the AGM, together with other members of the Board
who attended the AGM, were of sufficient calibre for answering
questions at the AGM.

The Chief Executive Officer and either the chairman or at least
one member of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee
and Nomination Committee attended the annual general meeting
to ensure effective communication with the shareholders of the
Company. Separate resolution was proposed at the annual general
meeting on each substantially separate issue, including re-election
of each retiring director and was put to vote at the meeting by way
of poll. Detailed procedures for conducting a poll were explained
at the meeting.

The Board meets regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Between these regular meetings,
the Board meets to discuss and consider major issues (whether
or not required by the Listing Rules) and also on other occasions
when Board decisions are required. With respect to regular
meetings of the Board, directors usually receive at least 14 days
prior written notice of the meeting and an agenda with supporting
Board papers no less than 3 days prior to the meeting. With
respect to other meetings called, directors are given as much
notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances.
The directors have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice whenever deemed necessary by
the directors.
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During the year of 2020, 4 meetings were held by the Board.
The attendance of the directors at general meeting(s), Board
meeting(s), Audit Committee meeting(s), Compensation
Committee meeting(s) and Nomination Committee meeting(s) held
in 2020 is set out in the table below:

Z_TFEHERRASG EFE
e

2eF FMZEBR

1]]5> 8 ox

BRREERE e FMZEEE REZEE
Annual General £ % &Board E%ZSE  Compensation  Nomination
Meeting (BRERERR Audit Committee = Committee Committee
(s ry  Meetingl)  (@muERE (FRHEREK (FRHEXM
Meeting attended/ Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s)
attended/ 217 #held) attended/ attended/ attended/
H TR Eheld) R w FTRYheld) BT RHBheld) ZHTRKEheld)
#TE S Executive Directors
HHEE Mr. Jian Yi 17 474 17N
EEERE Mr. Hou Xiaohai 17 4/4 1N
REBLE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin 1/1 4/4 1/1 22
FEHTEZE Non-executive Directors
gt Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank 17 4/4 17
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas 17N 12 17
van den Brink
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend® TER/ 33 TER/
N/A N/A
WARERLE  Mr Tuen-Muk Lai Shu 1N 414 7N
B EHITEES Independent Non-executive Directors
EPNE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh 1/1 3/4 1/1 3/3 4/4 212
FREFEL Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric 111 4/ 111 33 44 )
BREEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 1/1 4/4 1/1 3/3 4/4
BREBLE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan 1/1 4/4 1/1 3/3 212
BMELE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 11 4/4 11 4/4 22
“ECEEENRAERY
Total number of meetings held in 2020 1 4 1 3 49 24

o AE

Notes:

R: 7E 83 € 3% Regular Meeting

W: £ R & Written Resolutions

(1) Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink e £ R—ZE - F XA -+ NABTALRRFENTES -
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2020.

2) Richard Raymond Weissendt £ R E —_ZF NA -+ "HEZT AL RRFERITES -
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2020.

(3) FMEEGRFR  HP—RUeRWAET Etr=
Among the Compensation Committee resolutions, one was passed by way of physical meeting and three were passed by way of

written resolutions.

) REZEGRE  —RAgBVAET B5—

//\inﬁ/

RAEBRZREFAES -

Among the Nomination Committee resolutions, one was passed by way of physical meeting and another one was passed by way of

written resolutions.
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DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

The Company has put in place an on-going training and
professional development program for directors.

Each newly appointed director would receive an induction package
covering the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of
a listed company and the Company’s business and governance
policies. The Company also provides briefings and other training
to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skill.

All directors have participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The Company has sent reading materials to directors on regulatory
updates or information relevant to the Company or its business.

In 2020, due to COVID-19, a majority of the independent non-
executive directors, together with executive director and Chief
Financial Officer and management, have been arranged two online
meetings on latest development of eCommerce channels and
establishment of share service center.
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The Company has received from all directors records of their
continuous professional development trainings during the year.
Details of which are set out in below table:

RESXBRZER

Type of Continuous Professional Development

BRI -HEWRAE
R/BEERHWE
FRANE-R /% RETHARAREER
EERHRERA ZEHEEENSER
Receiving training, Reading regulatory
attending and/or giving updates or information
talks at seminar and/or relevant to the Company

conference and/or forums or its business
H1TEE Executive Directors
HHEE Mr. Jian Vi v
EEZHELE Mr. Hou Xiaohai v
nEBRLE Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin v v
JE#H 1T EE Non-executive Directors
LR E Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank v v
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink® v
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend® v v
mAEELE Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu v
B EHITESE Independent Non-executive Directors
BRELE Mr. Houang Tai Ninh v
FREFET Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric v
BREEL Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses v v
BREBELE Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan v v
EELLE Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon v
B 5
Notes:

(1) Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink t £ R —_Z T F XA+ ~BBHITABEARAIFEHRITES
Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink resigned as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2020.

2) Richard Raymond Weissend %t £ RZE ZZF NA T+ "HEZET AL RRFEHTES -
Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend has been appointed as Non-executive Director of the Company with effect from 26 June 2020.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

While the Board retains at all times full responsibility for guiding
and monitoring the Company, certain responsibilities of the Board
are delegated as follows:

(@) Committees — various committees have been established
by the Board to administer certain specified functions
of the Company’s affairs. The main committees include:
the Executive Committee, the Finance Committee, the
Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Compensation Committee. The terms of reference of the
Executive Committee, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Compensation Committee which set out,
among other things, the duties, functions and composition
of these committees are set out in the CG Manual and
available on the Company’s website; and

(b)  Chief Executive Officer — the day-to-day management of
the Company’s business is delegated to the Chief Executive
Officer who is accountable to the Board.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh (Independent Non-Executive
Director)

Members: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric, Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan,
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (all are Independent
Non-Executive Directors) and Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
(Executive Director)

The duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
performance, structure, size and composition of the Board and
to make recommendation after such review and to assess the
suitability and qualification of any proposed director candidate.
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee are then put
forward for consideration and adoption, where appropriate, by
the Board. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee
setting out its duties and procedures were revised on 21 March
2012, 7 December 2015 and 21 November 2018, and are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination
Committee held one meeting and passed a written resolution. A
summary of work done by the Nomination Committee during the
year include, among other things:

. review the performance, structure, size and composition of
the Board.
o make recommendations on the appointment of Mr. Richard

Raymond Weissend as Non-executive Director to the Board.

The Board adopted the nomination policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination
Committee in relation to the selection, appointment and re-
appointment of the directors, and ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business.

Major terms of the nomination policy are disclosed as follows:
(1)  The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by
giving due consideration to criteria including but not limited
to (collectively, the “Criteria”):
(@)  Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender,

age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

(b)  Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in
respect of available time and relevant interest;

(©)  Qualifications, including accomplishment and
experience in the relevant industries the Company’s
business is involved in;

(d)  Independence;

(e)  Reputation for integrity;

() Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring
to the Board; and

(g)  Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited
to:

(@  The overall contribution and service of the retiring
director(s) to the Company, including but not limited to
the attendance of the meetings of the Board and/or its
committees and general meetings where applicable, in
addition to the level of participation and performance
on the Board and/or its committees; and

(b)  whether the retiring director(s) continue(s) to satisfy
the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
candidate(s) for the position(s) of the independent non-
executive directors of the Company by giving due
consideration to the factors including but not limited to
those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made from time to
time, in addition to the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedures and process:

(@ The Nomination Committee will, giving due
consideration to the current composition and size
of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the
search effort;

(b)  The Nomination Committee may consult any source it
deems appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable
candidates, such as referrals from existing directors,
advertising, recommendations from a third party
agency firm and proposals from shareholders of the
Company with due consideration given to the Criteria;

(©)  The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the
candidates, such as interviews, background checks,
presentations and third party reference checks;

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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(5)

6)

The Nomination Committee will consider a broad
range of candidates who are in and outside of the
Board’s circle of contacts;

Upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

The Nomination Committee will provide the
relevant information of the selected candidate to
the Compensation Committee for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

The Nomination Committee will thereafter make
the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment, and where a non-executive
director is considered, the Compensation Committee
will make the recommendation to the Board on the
proposed remuneration package;

The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to
be interviewed by the members of the Board who
are not members of the Nomination Committee and
the Board will thereafter deliberate and decide the
appointment as the case may be; and

All appointment of directors will be confirmed by
the filing of the consent to act as director of the
relevant director (or any other similar filings requiring
the relevant director to acknowledge or accept the
appointment as director, as the case may be) to be
filed with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection,
appointment and reappointment of directors.

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually,
in the Corporate Governance Report, on the composition
of the Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the
implementation of this Policy as appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to
review the nomination policy periodically to ensure that it
is transparent and fair, remains relevant to the Company’s
needs and reflects the current regulatory requirements
and good corporate governance practice. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

The nomination policy is available on the website of the Company.

The Board also adopted the diversity policy on 21 November 2018
which aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity at the
Board.

A summary of the diversity policy is disclosed as follows:

)

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having diversity, including diversity on gender, age, cultural
and educational background or professional experience
at the Board in order to enhance the performance of the
Company. These benefits include (i) ensuring that a range
of different perspectives can be brought to the table
when reviewing and considering issues within the Board;
(i) enabling the Company to connect effectively with
its stakeholders as appropriate; and (iii) supporting the
Company’s commitment to improve its corporate governance
practices.

With a view to achieving sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.
In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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(3) Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates may bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee should set measurable objectives
periodically for implementing the diversity policy.

(4)  The Nomination Committee will review the diversity policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the diversity
policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

(5)  The Company aims to promote diversity not just at the Board
but also at the senior management level where appropriate
taking into account the Company’s own circumstances. The
Company welcomes diversity at the senior management
level, with a view to further contributing to the attainment
of its strategic objectives and its sustainable development.

The diversity policy is available on the website of the Company.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE

Chairman: Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon (Independent Non-
Executive Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric and
Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses (all are Independent Non-
Executive Directors)

The duties of the Compensation Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of remuneration of directors and senior management,
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on remuneration and determining the specific remuneration packages
for all directors and senior management. The terms of reference of
the Compensation Committee setting out its duties and procedures
were revised on 21 March 2012 and 7 December 2015, and are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The remuneration of the directors and senior executives is
determined with reference to the performance and responsibilities
of the individual, the performance of the Group, prevailing
market conditions and remuneration benchmarks from comparable
companies. Directors and employees also participate in bonus
arrangements based on the performance of the Group and the
individual.
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During the year under review, the Compensation Committee met
once and passed three written resolutions. A summary of work done
by the Compensation Committee during the year include, among
other things:

o determining the policy for the remuneration of executive
directors and making recommendations on the Directors fees
to the Board.

o approving the remuneration packages of executive directors
of the Company.

o conducting review of the incentive award to the Senior
Management of the subsidiary of the Company.

For the remuneration of the Executive Directors, the Remuneration
Committee adopted the model described in code provision B.1.2(c)
(ii) of the CG Code.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chairman: Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric (Independent Non-Executive
Director)

Members: Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses and
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan (all are Independent Non-
Executive Directors)

One of the members of the Audit Committee has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. No member of this Committee is a
member or partner of the former or existing auditors of the
Company. The membership of the Audit Committee has complied
with the Listing Rules requirement that the majority of its members
must be independent and one of whom must have appropriate
professional qualification. The existing terms of reference of the
Audit Committee which were revised on 18 November 2010, are
modeled on “A Guide for Effective Audit Committee” issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and have
also adopted the principles set out in the CG Code for the time
being in force. Pursuant to the amendments to Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, the terms of reference of the Audit Committee
was further revised on 21 March 2012, 7 December 2015 and 21
November 2018, and are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The duties of the Audit Committee include considering and
making recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditors, review of the
Company’s financial information and oversight of the Company’s
financial report system and internal control procedures. During the
year under review, the Audit Committee met on three occasions.
The work of the Audit Committee in 2020 included reviews of:

o the external auditor’s report to the Audit Committee in
respect of 2019 audit;

. the 2019 annual report and annual results announcement;

o audit strategy memorandum in respect of the 2020 audit by
the external auditor;

o connected party transactions;

. the 2020 interim report and interim results announcement;

o the reports of internal audit activities;

o staffing and qualifications of the Group’s accounting,
internal audit and financial reporting functions.

During the reporting year, the Audit Committee met with the
independent auditor on three occasions.

The Audit Committee has considered the performance and
independence of the independent auditor of the Company.
The Audit Committee concludes that the independence of the
independent auditor of the Company has not been compromised
by the non-audit services performed for the Group The statement
by the independent auditor about its reporting responsibilities
relating to the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020 is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on
pages 106 to 112. During the year under review, audit fees paid
and payable to the Company’s independent auditor amount to
approximately RMB10 million (2019: approximately RMB13 million);
no fees related to non-audit services was paid during the year
under review (2019: Nil).
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The interests held by the directors in the Company’s securities as
at 31 December 2020 are disclosed in the Directors’ Report on
pages 87 to 90 of this report. On 8 April 2005, the Company
has adopted a Code of Ethics and Securities Transactions (“Code
of Ethics”) which incorporates the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Code of Ethics has
been amended, approved and reconfirmed by the Board on 6
April 2006, 4 April 2007, 31 March 2008 and further revised
on 31 March 2009, 18 November 2010 and 7 December 2015
respectively. The prohibitions on securities dealing and disclosure
requirements in the Code of Ethics also apply to specified
individuals who include the Group’s senior management and
persons who are privy to inside information of the Group. The
Code of Ethics is on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry
of all directors, all directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code and the
Code of Ethics during the year ended 31 December 2020.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board assumes overall responsibility to establish and
maintain sound systems in risk management, internal control and
governance to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The
Board confirms that it is the overall responsibility of the Board
to establish and effectively implement the risk management
and internal control systems to ensure the smooth operation of
business, safeguard the Group's assets and shareholders’ interests
as well as ensure the reliability of financial statements.

OVERVIEW OF RISK MANAGEMENT AND
INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group adopts the control framework consistent with the
frameworks recommended by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organisations of the Treadway Commission in the United States
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as
the standards in establishing risk management and control systems
among our Group companies. The Group's risk management and
internal control systems include five key elements, namely the
existence of an effective control environment, risk management,
communication and information system, cost effective control
activities and monitoring mechanism. The specific implementation
tasks of the Group’s risk management and internal control are
mainly shared by the management and employees.
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The management is primarily responsible for the design,
implementation and, maintenance of internal controls. The
Group has established policies and procedures to communicate
management instructions to all employees, and monitor business
operations. The monitoring activities include approval and
verification, review, asset protection, and division of duties. Our
internal self-assessment monitoring process requires each business
unit to evaluate the effectiveness of internal controls, formulate
mitigation measures in a timely manner, and reduce the recognised
significant risks.

MONITORING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Group requires its business unit to identify and assess the risks
and impact at least once every year. The executive management
team of the business unit is accountable for the conduct and
performance of each operation in the business unit within the
agreed strategies and similarly the management of each operation
is accountable for its conduct and performance. Policies and
procedures are designed for safeguarding corporate assets,
maintaining proper accounting records and ensuring transactions
are executed in accordance with management authorisation.
Monthly management reports on the financial results and key
operation indicators are reviewed by the Executive Committee
of the Board. Regular meetings are held with the executive
management team of the business unit to review the actual
performance against budget.

Our Internal Audit Function, reporting to the Audit Committee and
the Board respectively, is responsible for assessing the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems, adopting the risk-based
internal audit method to determine whether the Group’s major
risks can be controlled by main monitoring measures, formulating
an impartial opinion on the effectiveness and efficiency of the
systems, and reporting its findings to the Executive Committee and
the Audit Committee. Follow-up review will be conducted in due
course to ensure that audit recommendations are being properly
implemented. The Internal Audit conducts independent reviews on
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems on an
on-going basis.
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Depending on the nature and risk exposure of the Group's
business, the scope of work performed by the internal audit
function covers all material controls including financial, operational
and compliance controls and risk management functions.

Results of internal audit activities are reported to the Audit
Committee at least once semi-annually for the year ended 31
December 2020 and the corrective actions are taken by the
business unit. The Audit Committee will review whether the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems (including
financial, operational and compliance control measures) are
adequate and effective, and consider the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications, and experience. The Board conducts regular
reviews of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems through the Internal Audit Function and the Audit
Committee.

With respect to internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company shall assess
the circumstances under which inside information may arise
from time to time and disclose inside information as soon as
reasonably practicable in accordance with the Securities and
Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. The Company conducts its
business affairs with close regard to the “Guidelines on Disclosure
of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Futures
Commission and imposes a strict prohibition on the unauthorised
use of confidential or inside information by directors, employees
and other relevant persons (such as external service providers and
project working team members).

Based on the assessment for the year ended 31 December 2020
for purpose of reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems, the Board and the Audit Committee
believe that the risk management and internal control systems
are effective and adequate, provide reasonable assurance that the
Group's assets are safeguarded and there is no significant area of
concerns that may affect shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

CONVENING EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT GENERAL
MEETINGS

In accordance with Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance, the
directors are required to call a general meeting if the Company
has received requests to do so from members of the Company
representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of all the
members having a right to vote at general meeting. Such requests
must (a) state the general nature of the business to be dealt
with at the meeting; and (b) may include the text of a resolution
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at
the meeting. Such requests (a) may be sent to the Company in
hard copy form (by depositing at the registered office of the
Company for the attention of the Board) or in electronic form
(by email: ir@cre.com.hk); and (b) must be authenticated by the
person or persons making it. In accordance with Section 567
of the Companies Ordinance, the directors must call a meeting
within 21 days after the date on which they become subject to
the requirement under Section 566 of the Companies Ordinance
and such meeting must be held on a date not more than 28 days
after the date of the notice convening the meeting.

Besides, Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance provides that
the Company must give notice of a resolution if it has received
requests that it do so from (a) the members of the Company
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all the
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate; or (b) at least 50
members who have a right to vote on the resolution at the annual
general meeting to which the requests relate. Such requests (a)
may be sent to the Company in hard copy form (by depositing
at the registered office of the Company for the attention of the
Board) or in electronic form (by email: ir@cre.com.hk); (b) must
identify the resolution of which notice is to be given; (c) must be
authenticated by the person or persons making it; and (d) must
be received by the Company not later than (i) 6 weeks before
the annual general meeting to which the requests relate; or (ii) if
later, the time at which notice is given of that meeting. Section
616 of the Companies Ordinance provides that the Company that
is required under Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance to give
notice of a resolution must send a copy of it at the Company’s
own expense to each member of the Company entitled to receive
notice of the annual general meeting (a) in the same manner as
the notice of the meeting; and (b) at the same time as, or as soon
as reasonably practicable after, it gives notice of the meeting.
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PROCEDURE FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A
PERSON FOR ELECTION AS DIRECTOR

Pursuant to Articles 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a director retiring at a meeting
shall, unless recommended by the directors, be appointed a
director at a general meeting unless at least seven days’ previous
notice in writing (to be lodged no earlier than the day after
the despatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting) shall have been given to the Company of the intention
of any member qualified to vote at the meeting to propose any
person other than a retiring director for election to the office of
director with notice executed by that person of his willingness to
be appointed.

Not less than three nor more than twenty-eight days before the
date appointed for holding a general meeting notice shall be
given to all who are entitled to receive notice of the meeting of
any person in respect of whom notice has been duly given to the
Company under Article 112.1 of the Articles of Association of the
Company.

The aforesaid procedures are available on the website of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The new Articles of Association of the Company was adopted on
25 May 2016 by special resolution at the annual general meeting
in order to ensure compliance with the Companies Ordinance.

There is no change to the Articles of Association of the Company
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and fair disclosure of information to its
shareholders. Accurate and fair disclosure is necessary for
shareholders to form their own judgment on the operation and
performance of the Group.

The Company has established a Shareholder’s Communication
Policy and the said policy is available on the website of the
Company.

Based on this policy, legitimate questions arising from generally
disclosed information deserves a reasonable reply. The Investor
Relations Department is responsible for managing investor
relations and will respond to such shareholders’ and analysts’
enquiries.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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The Company’s website provides shareholders, investors, existing
and prospective partners and counterparties with information on
the Company’s corporate governance practices. Copies of such
information can be obtained from the Company Secretary upon
written request.

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns
to the Board by addressing them to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company. The contact details are as follows:

Investor Relations Department

China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
39th Floor, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Email: ir@cre.com.hk

Tel No.: 852-2829 9889

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Registrar.

By order of the Board
HOU Xiaohai
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have the pleasure in presenting to the shareholders
their report and the audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group has been principally engaged in the manufacturing,
sales and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries are shown on pages 182 to 185. An analysis of the
Group's performance for the year by regional segments is set out
in Note 6 to the financial statements.

GROUP PROFIT

The consolidated profit and loss account is set out on page 113
and shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December
2020.

DIVIDENDS

The Board recommends a final dividend of RMBO0.131 per share for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB0.045 per share)
payable on or around 11 June 2021 to shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 25 May
2021. The final dividend, if approved, is to be payable in cash
in Hong Kong dollars which will be converted from RMB at the
average CNY Central Parity Rate announced by the People’s Bank
of China for the five business days prior to and including the date
of the Annual General Meeting (as defined in the below section
headed “Closure of Register of Members”). Together with the
interim dividend of RMBO0.128 per share, the total dividend for
2020 will amount to RMBO0.259 per share (2019: RMBO0.165 per
share).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 12 May 2021 to Tuesday, 18 May 2021, both days
inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company will
be registered. In order to determine the identity of members who
are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting to
be held on 18 May 2021 (the “Annual General Meeting”), all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor
Standard Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 11 May
2021 for registration.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS (Continued)

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting, the proposed final dividend will be payable to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company after the close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday,
25 May 2021, and the register of members of the Company will
be closed on Tuesday, 25 May 2021, during which no transfer
of shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify
for the proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents,
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company’s Share Registrar, Tricor Standard Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 May 2021 for
registration.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2020 is set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Risk
Management”, “Corporate Social Responsibility” and “Corporate
Governance Report” from pages 12 to 13, pages 18 to 21, pages
36 to 41, pages 42 to 57 and pages 58 to 82 respectively of this
Annual Report.

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations in particular, those having
significant impact on the Group. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and business unit from time to time. As far as the
Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Company.

FIXED ASSETS

Movements in the fixed assets of the Group during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are
set out in Note 28 to the financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
approximately RMB1,000,000.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Jian Yi
Mr. Hou Xiaohai (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Lai Po Sing, Tomakin (Chief Financial Officer)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink
(Resigned on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend
(Appointed on 26 June 2020)

Mr. Tuen-Muk Lai Shu

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Houang Tai Ninh

Dr. Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Dr. Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
Mr. Bernard Charnwut Chan
Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon

In accordance with Article 110 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Lai Ni Hium, Frank, Mr. Houang Tai Ninh, Mr.
Bernard Charnwut Chan and Mr. Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon shall
retire by rotation at the Annual General Meeting and are eligible
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the employing
company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020
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DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
which the Company, its subsidiaries, its parent company or the
subsidiaries of its parent company were a party and in which a
director of the Company or his connected entities had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
Biographical details of directors are set out on pages 28 to 35.

DIRECTORS OF SUBSIDIARIES

The name of directors and alternate director who have served on
the board of the subsidiaries of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report is available on the Company’s website
at www.crbeer.com.hk under “Investor Relations — Corporate
Governance”.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association of the Company provide that every
director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company
against all liability incurred by him as such director in defending
any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgement is
given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be
brought against the directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (“SFO"),
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including
interests and short positions which the directors and chief executive
of the Company are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO, or which are required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in the Listing Rules were as
follows:

() RAQNFECBTZERKLMEBRKR (A) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES AND
DHEENER UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY
HIEEZBSL
e KR 28 E Aggregate
EEME Long position/ Number of percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
&8 Sy 1,068,000 0.03
Hou Xiaohai Long position
B A 149,498 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
FHRF Sy 271,817 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
B &F - Notes:
1. BAARBRMDPHTEREEAR 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions in

Eé_g_giJr ﬂ +— EIE?é‘ﬁ
in BB D

2. EXFBEzES
BAZEDHEA -

SHEREFUNERE

shares of the Company to the total issued shares of the Company
as at 31 December 2020.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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BEEvREFEX®
(Z) R E:EDRITEERRIE
BERMTPEENES

RAB - ATUEEHBREEECE
ER(EZRBERID)NEETE
A 2 P

() M—FEABZEE - FHEW
ERAR(FEEEM]CH#TT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS
As at the same date, certain directors had interests in the

issued ordinary shares of associated corporations (within the
meaning of the SFO):

(i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Land Limited (“CR

ERR Land"):
HitESFS L

R %KR K& E Aggregate
EEHE Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
BROL 1 o) 10,000 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
TR we 50,000 0.01
Li Ka Cheung, Eric Long position
B 5 Notes:
1. BB RHOERE MG 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long

BBEEHBEHR T _Z2F
TZRA=+-HEBTROHR
BHBEDL -

2. EXFBBEzEERTEEIN
ERBEAEAZENRA -

positions in shares of CR Land to the total issued shares of
CR Land as at 31 December 2020.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by each director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

(B) INTERESTS IN

ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES

AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(i) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services

BETEBR 2B Limited (“CR Mixc"):
HiEESEDLEL
S R EE Aggregate
EEME Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
BROL 1 o) 4,157 0.01
Lai Ni Hium, Frank Long position
TR we 387 0.01

Li Ka Cheung, Eric

Long position

GES

EITRF SR MEREREE
BRD R B E BB R EER
§*?¢+*ﬂ_+ AE%
T4 R B E 5

2. EXFEr EARSESN
ERBEBAZHENRHE -

(i) R—FREEEE - EERE
2 ERAR(EEREDE

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares of CR Mixc to the total issued shares of
CR Mixc as at 31 December 2020.

All interests disclosed above are being held by each director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.

(iii)  Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
corporation, China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR

BOTLBAR R Gas"):
HiEESFAEL
BE KR B3 EE Aggregate
EEME Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
RO 1 o) 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

o AE

1. IR PP R EER AR
BEEERIMRENR-_ZT_ZF
TZA=+—HEBBEITRNH A
BHBEDL

2. EXFEBE S HRES
NESZBEEAZHENFHE -

Notes:

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares of CR Gas to the total issued shares of
CR Gas as at 31 December 2020.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the director
in his capacity as beneficial owner.
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BEEvREFEX® DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES (Continued)

() AEBEEC®TEEBR LM (B) INTERESTS IN ISSUED ORDINARY SHARES
RO IEENEDS (&) AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS (Continued)

(iv) M—HERBZEE - £EE (iv)

Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated

90

TRERAB(EHENDE corporation, China Resources Power Holdings
BITEBR 2D Company Limited (“CR Power"):
HiggEzTao

BE %R 38 E Aggregate
EENE Long position/ Number of  percentage of
Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)
LE e} 1,200,000 0.02
Jian Yi Long position
BOL A 10,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

Bt 7 Notes:

1. BHREMPROEREHKRNG 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
BEEERENIR=_ZT=-FF positions in shares of CR Power to the total issued shares of
TZRA=+—BZEBBEITRH CR Power as at 31 December 2020.

CY CERIY

2. BHTEWRRBERERBZ 2. Mr. Jian Yi was deemed to be interested in 1,200,000 shares
1,200,000% f% 9 2 # %= © through interests of his spouse.

3. MBI 2B B RTIEA SN - EXXFT 3. Save as otherwise specified under note 2, all interests
BB DR BHEEAER disclosed above are being held by the director in his capacity
BEAZEDEFE - as beneficial owner.

(v) R—EMREBEE - Z=EHKE (v) Interests in issued ordinary shares of an associated
ERARAR(ERKEDE corporation, China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
BOEBRR 2 ES ("CR Cement"):

H{EEZTSLL
S KRR Aggregate

EEHNE Long position/ Number of  percentage of

Name of director Short position shares interest' (%)

BROL "R 40,000 0.01

Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Long position

B 7 Notes:

1. BB FTF R RO B 1. This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
BEEEBHKER_T_TF positions in shares of CR Cement to the total issued shares
+-—A=+—BEETRHRA of CR Cement as at 31 December 2020.

HFHBES L
2. IR BE G HEES 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the director

NEDZEBEAZEHENRHE -

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEAERESNRR SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

N—ZE-—FF+-_A=+—H B EXF As at 31 December 2020, other than the interests and short
WEMERMAAIN  LLFALTRARF  positions as disclosed above, the following persons have interests
A AR D P A AIRIE(ESK  or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
HEKRAIDEXVHE_RE=D5MAZL Company as they fall to be disclosed to the Company under
R BN EARREFEMEL  Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the

MAMERIOXE register required to be kept by the Company:
RERZAREAR
BEREZNRAHE

Number of shares in

BE/ %R which the interested EREADL

Long position/  party is deemed to Percentage of

REEXFEH Name of interested party Short position have interests shareholding (%)

FEEHEB AR (FEERE]) China Resources Company Limited & 1,684,077,366 51.91
(3£ ("CRC") (Note 1) Long position

ZRROHBERARERRM]) China Resources Inc. (formerly known & 1,684,077,366 51.91
(PH 3E1) as China Resources Co., Limited)  Long position

("CRI") (Note 1)

CRC Bluesky Limited (¥ £1) CRC Bluesky Limited (Note 1) HE 1,684,077,366 51.91
Long position

EZH(EE)BRRA China Resources (Holdings) Company 2 1,684,077,366 51.91
(ZRsEDMED Limited (“CRH") (Note 1) Long position

EREE(ZR)ARAA CRH (CRE) Limited (Note 1) i) 1,676,338,664 51.67
(FF&E1) Long position

EHAERRAF (M) China Resources Enterprise, Limited 2 1,676,338,664 51.67
(Note 1) Long position

Heineken Holding N.V. (Fff#1)  Heineken Holding N.V. (Note 1) e 1,676,338,664 51.67
Long position

Heineken N.V. (Fff z£1) Heineken N.V. (Note 1) HAE 1,676,338,664 51.67
Long position

EREER(MEE) ARAF CRH (Beer) Limited (Note 1) HaE 1,676,338,664 51.67
(B3 &) Long position
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MEAABESNRR@E

oAt

EHEE(BE)ERARLRESEERAA S5
HE A ANRAA,676,338,664/% K&7,738,702
R fn - EHEE(RE) GRAABEHN
RI¥ AR A G H60%H 2 - I i Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V.3H40% % - M EHAI%E
ERABIAEBEEEERBERAAN D
BEWEBAR - EFEHEE(FER)ARAAR
EEBERAAHAERNEENER2AW
BAT o ZEHEEF/CRC Bluesky Limited #]
B2 EMBE AR © MCRC Bluesky Limited
HEBROG2EHEG - EHRME_BREE
HORRERZEAMBRAR - At #H
£ - CRC Bluesky Limited + 8 % {5 &
ERHE R RA HRARA,684,077,366
% % 17 o % B #E 25 ° Heineken Brouwerijen
B.V. A Heineken International B.V.#) % & [ B
‘A7) * Heineken International B.V. % Heineken
NV. & & & Kt B 2 & - i Heineken N.V. %
Heineken Holding NV.#J2 &M E A A - B
It + Heineken Brouwerijen B.V. * Heineken
International B.V. * Heineken N.V.J} Heineken
Holding N.V.# 18 /& R 22 7]1,676,338,664 4%
feth PR R -

B 3 84 it 5%

AR B PAAEEE AR 4E B SF A AR B AL
B MBREHBIHZ -

SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS
(Continued)

CRH (Beer) Limited and Commotra Company Limited directly held
1,676,338,664 shares and 7,738,702 shares in the Company respectively.
CRH (Beer) Limited is owned as to 60% by China Resources Enterprise,
Limited and 40% by Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.. China Resources Enterprise,
Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH (CRE) Limited. CRH (CRE)
Limited and Commotra Company Limited are beneficially wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CRH. CRH is a beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by CRI. CRI is an
ultimately beneficially wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC. Thus, CRH, CRC
Bluesky Limited, CRI and CRC are deemed to be interested in an aggregate
of 1,684,077,366 shares in the Company. Heineken Brouwerijen B.V.
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken International B.V. Heineken
International B.V is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken N.V., which in
turn is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Heineken Holding N.V. Thus, Heineken
Brouwerijen B.V., Heineken International B.V., Heineken N.V. and Heineken
Holding N.V. are deemed to be interested in 1,676,338,664 shares in the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year
or subsisted at the end of the year.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FR - AEBHBEALTETETRS:
FZERDRE LMRAEKBERS K
[(BEBERS ] WERPFHFBNH N
BRERNF =T —TEXRBERS] - AR

AERBERGETLEMRBELAER
HEER - FHZSEAETEMRAUE

1AATUERRSRA TN BERZ S 25T I5H
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(F) ER=-Z&— ﬂiﬂmﬁ“w
FZE-NFEEBRESIEHE Z%
b B 75 AE B & HE
R-ZE—NF+-A++H &XQA
MEBERRG  EHEERESR
BB AGFTAEKRNEENKE QR
MABERLHFEEITNIELER
& ((ZE-NFEEERBE]D
HRHAE-_ZE-_ZEF—H—H=E
T F+ZA=+—H1twm=
BEE mREERNDAEHEE
MERARE MEMSEEEmMEZAE
RAGMEREZ  WEBRS
EHEEALTMHAUNERETAAA
MBEEAL - —T—AFIELER
HEETHNEER I ENAEEH
BR-MEFBABPFELET  E
bR ET R BIIE TARRI M IFA
BERS -

AEBREROD-_ZE-—NFERE
%%#Ff¢$MEH$ETFﬁm

BEeBLIRNFEERERED
W&ﬁ%%%ﬂm BEHNEE&E
HE &M AAR2,100,000,000
T eSS BBEANEBETE
Wﬁ*ﬁ*ﬁ?%ﬁﬁ%ﬁAFﬁ
BFEBHERBE T8 AKRE
%ﬁ%'EKQEW—EFim#
AEBaMtE

HBER2HUARRAR_T-NF+
“AtTEBERTIENHRE -

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group conducted certain transactions with
connected persons which constituted “connected transactions”
or “continuing connected transactions” under the Listing Rules.
Particulars of these transactions are also set out in Note 31 to the
financial statements headed “Material Related Party Transactions”,
with respect to which the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. Details of those transactions which are subject to
the reporting requirements under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules
are summarised as follows:

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018

On 17 December 2019, the Company renewed the
Framework Loan Agreements in connection with the intra-
group lending arrangement with members of group of CRI
and CRH and their respective subsidiaries (the “Framework
Loan Agreements 2019”) for a term of three years from 1
January 2020 to 31 December 2022. CRI is the controlling
shareholder of CRH, which in turn holds a controlling interest
in the Company and thus CRI and CRH are both connected
persons of the Company as defined under the Listing
Rules. The connected transactions contemplated under the
Framework Loan Agreements 2019 will be continuously
carried out in the ordinary and usual course of business
of the Group, thus constituting continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual lending cap for the maximum aggregate amount
which can be lent by the Group on any single day (inclusive
of interest received and anticipated to be received rounded
to the nearest million) under both of the Framework Loan
Agreements 2019 is RMB2,100,000,000. Such maximum
daily amount is applicable for each day during the relevant
year, and such maximum daily amount is calculated on an
individual basis as outstanding at the end of each day during
the relevant year without aggregating with the daily amount
incurred on the days before.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 17 December 2019.
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BFERERXRS @)

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(F) ER=-FT—-NEFERLEFRHZE (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT
R—ZE-N\FHEBESEHZEZS TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
i B 7 AE B & HE () STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018

(Continued)
HE-_ZT-_ZTF+-_A=1+—HIE Information on all the above-mentioned lending made by the
FENBASEIRHEN L B Group during the year ended or balance as at 31 December
RZEZEF+A=+—HZHE 2020 (if any) were as follows:
(nB)WERDT :
R-B-%%§
+=A=+-8
X% FF= R

ERA BRA Principal BB  Interest rate Balance at
Lender Borrower amount Duration ~ per annum 31/12/2020
ERELRERE) ZHEXERAH AR® 1,200,000,000  07/12/2020- 35%  AR® 1,200,000,000

BREBRDF China Resources RMB 06/02/2021 RMB

Vanguard Co., Ltd

EHERQREME) ZFEER AE® 400,000,000  09/12/2020- 3915%  AR® 400,000,000

REABRDF BRAA RMB 08/02/2021 RMB
EZERERSBRME) ZHIHER AR# 2,000,000,000  27/07/2020- 3.915% -

BREBRAH BRAF RMB 03/12/2020

BE-_2-_FF+-_A=+—81t
FERN AEEE T -HEREZL
EXxmEmEBInMEBEBREAENA
K #32,000,0007T (48 & R 4 78 &
36,000,0007T) °

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate
amount of interest received by the Group under Framework
Loan Agreements 2019 was approximately RMB32,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$36,000,000).

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEBERXRS @ CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A ER-ZE-NEFEZREFHE (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

E—E-N\EEHBEEHZEz2S
b B 7% AE B & HE (|)

RZZE-N\F+—A=Z+1B AR
AR EESEBRITROERA
RI(FEHRT EEROZHBR
ANEBRRBELERAR([E
BET EERMDZWBARD R
RIEEAERE BRI AEEZZ
—hF—A—HEZE-Z=-—%F+=A8
St+—HLEN=EFE - &It - #
HIRTRERAARNEERES THFEX
MEAERTERBREBELRE
MASERESE TSRS NMESR
((ZZE-N\EEBEAERZE]D - AR
Z2HRODAFEEBRITREHR
EEEMERBBS0% - WIRE -
MR FHBTREBRELEA
ARARHEBEBAL - —T—N\FE
BEEREETHNEEIZBERA
SEAER —MEBBERFEE
17 Bt EmARAIE T AR A
MFEEERS -

AEEEFEBRITHELFERES
VTARZFEMERNERAY  $ESF
AEBRITOERKRP - A&ETR
AEAERRTHOEMERERF
HURIE - B A E R - E AR EZ
“E)\FEBAEHRT RN E
BRITEVE I 17 KA R R IRTT
HitBEFHFRUFERNRAFH X
FH8 0 8 FAR B 5 SR R AR - AERE
MET2EREARRITRMAF
RREMEEEFNEEE -

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

On 29 November 2018, the Company renewed the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements with China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd. ("CR Bank”, a subsidiary of CRI) and China
Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. (“CR Trust”, a subsidiary of
CRI) respectively for a term of three years from 1 January
2019 to 31 December 2021, pursuant to which CR Bank
has agreed to provide certain deposit and other commercial
banking services to the Group, and CR Trust has agreed to
provide certain financial services and products to the Group
(“Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018"). CRI holds more
than 50% of the registered capital of CR Bank and CR Trust
respectively and thus CR Bank and CR Trust are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules. The
connected transactions contemplated under the Strategic
Cooperation Agreements 2018 will be continuously carried
out in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, thus constituting continuing connected transactions
of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The Group may open deposit accounts with the CR Bank
and freely deposit funds into or withdraw funds from the
CR Bank deposit accounts. The Group may also engage CR
Bank in other deposit businesses to deposit funds such as
call deposits. Any deposit made with CR Bank under the
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018 will bear the same
interest and be on the same terms and conditions as would
apply to a similar deposit made by any other customer of
the bank, which rate(s) are determined with reference to
that published by the People’s Bank of China or such other
rates more preferential to the Company.
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BEBERXRS @ CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(A ER-ZE-NEFEZREFHE (A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

RZZE-NFEREEHREZE
mh B 75 A5 B & BF ()

A T AR AT B R R 1T
PR - BB 1E TR K 8 T4 1
Bl RIZIRY  SHRY - B
SEERY - B E AR - 8
ERREMEFHENSBBER
B LR ARSTH R ERG
RREEEEEERE XERHK
BIEEN  EEARBET A2
REBEEELEEARAES R
BHRROBAKTRE LS
B R R 1T M R S A T
AL PR G R R E B B
E3 % -

AEBERERBEREERHENE
BRGLRER BRETRRES
B -BEEE  EREFRRE
A - RERERYE - BUCKR
RRERS - BEAREHEAERR
B ESEERSEEMERERS
RS - ATBRRITREREREE
ZECERERBUETEN &
NAEHEBERTE B2RAMEZE
BEANGIEACE A= R i Q: 1 K
RKFHEE THERTERER
ERRRZFEF TEMEMEFR
HRBREEBNEXRGTE -

REBIRFHAEBRITHER
ERSRERSEEEEMSTB)
RBEZZT—NF  —FTTFRZ
T+ _A=1+—HItW={AF
B &% A AR%1,200,000,0007T °

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

The Group may use the commercial banking services of CR
Bank including but not limited to, credit services, agency
services, settlement services, cash management services,
financial consulting service, wealth management products
and other financial services and products as agreed by the
parties. Where the People’s Bank of China or the China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission of the
PRC provides for standard tariffs or charges in respect of
these services, such standard tariffs or charges will apply.
Reference will also be made to tariffs or charges imposed or
offered by other major commercial banks on similar services
in the same period. These services will be provided on terms
no less favourable than terms available to other independent
customers of CR Bank engaging similar services.

The Group may use financial services and products provided
by CR Trust including, but not limited to, cash management,
asset management, custodian trust loan services, equity
cooperation, shares nominee services, account receivable
factoring services, buying and resale consulting services,
debenture underwriting services and other trust and financial
services. Where the China Banking and Insurance Regulatory
Commission of the PRC provides for standard tariffs or
charges in respect of these services, such standard tariffs or
charges will apply. Reference will also be made to tariffs or
charges imposed or offered by other major trust companies
on similar services in the same period. These services will be
provided on terms no less favourable than terms available to
other independent customers of CR Trust engaging similar
services.

The proposed maximum daily deposit amount, inclusive of
interest payable, which may be placed by the Group with
CR Bank is RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEBERXRS @ CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(F) ER-ZE-NFERERBZH

RZZE-NFEREEHREZE
mh B 75 A5 B & BF ()

BE_Z2-_FTF+-_A=+—H81t
FER AEEGFHRREBERITH
GRZEHRFERSBAOA
R #£700,000,0007T (18 & A 4 75 &
832,000,0007T) * ZE 7 AW £ 5
FE WA AL AREE330,00075T (47
B #9785 #390,0007T) °

EHRTLEBGEERAARNEBHIEH®
NemREREREZEHITE(BR
G TRERAEEFHRNERIR
THEAGFR2)NEEEEES D
BFREZE—Z—NF —Z-ZTFK
—E-—F+-A=+—HIEH=
il F E & & & A R ¥1,200,000,000
5T o

HE-Z-_ZTF+-_A=+—H1t
FERN AEETEFEAEBIED
SEBEAMRENTM SR RE
FER NEREERBERERE
EEAmERAEAS -

HBFL2HARAR-_Z-N\F+
—AZthBmRR#EZRE -

(A) FINANCE RELATED ARRANGEMENTS PURSUANT

TO FRAMEWORK LOAN AGREEMENTS 2019 AND
STRATEGIC COOPERATION AGREEMENTS 2018
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the maximum daily
aggregate amount of outstanding deposits placed by the
Group with CR Bank was approximately RMB700,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$832,000,000), and the
aggregate interest income arising from such deposits was
RMB330,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$390,000).

The proposed maximum daily amount of the financial
services and products provided by CR Bank and CR Trust
to the Group on an aggregated basis (for the avoidance of
doubt, excluding the daily deposit amount placed by the
Group with CR Bank) is RMB1,200,000,000 for each of the
three years ending 31 December 2019, 2020 and 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not
use any financial services and products provided by CR Bank
or CR Trust, nor incurred any fees and commissions therefor.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 29 November 2018.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B)

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT AND
BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 2020

On 21 December 2017, China Resources Snow Breweries
Limited (“CRSB”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
together with its subsidiaries, “CRSB Group”), renewed the
beer supply framework agreement (“Beer Supply Framework
Agreement”) with Gain Land Limited (“Gain Land”, a
non wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, together with its
subsidiaries, “Gain Land Group”) with a term commencing
from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020, pursuant to
which the CRSB Group agreed to supply its beer products to
the Gain Land Group from time to time for the purposes of
retail and distribution of the same by the Gain Land Group.
The transactions shall be conducted on normal commercial
terms and the terms, as a whole, shall be no more favourable
than those terms offered to independent third party
retailers and distributors of the CRSB Group in relation to
the supply of beer products of similar nature and quality.
It is estimated that the maximum amount of purchases to
be made by the Gain Land Group under the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement will not exceed RMB297,000,000,
RMB323,000,000 and RMB348,000,000 respectively for the
three years ending 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 as
set out in the announcement issued by the Company on
21 December 2017. As Gain Land is an indirect subsidiary
of CRH which in turn holds a controlling interest in the
Company, Gain Land is an associate of a connected person
of the Company under the Listing Rules. The connected
transactions contemplated under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement will be continuously carried out in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group, thus constituting
continuing connected transactions of the Company under
the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 21 December 2017 and 23 January 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the aggregate
amount of purchases made by the Gain Land Group
from the CRSB Group under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement was approximately RMB56,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$63,000,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(B)

BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT AND
BEER SUPPLY FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT 2020
(Continued)

The Beer Supply Framework Agreement has been renewed
under a new beer supply framework agreement made
between the Company and China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH") dated 3 December 2020 (“Beer
Supply Framework Agreement 2020”). The Beer Supply
Framework Agreement 2020 was for a term of three years
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023, pursuant to
which the Group agreed to supply its beer products to
CRH and its subsidiaries (but excluding the Group and
its associates) (“CRH Group”) from time to time for the
purposes of retail and distribution of the same by CRH
Group. The transactions shall be conducted on normal
commercial terms and the terms, as a whole, shall be no
more favourable than those terms offered to independent
third party retailers and distributors of the Group in relation
to the supply of beer products of similar nature and quality.
It is estimated that the maximum amount of purchases to
be made by CRH Group under the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2020 will not exceed RMB358,000,000,
RMB366,000,000 and RMB374,000,000 respectively for
the three years ending 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023
as set out in the announcement issued by the Company
on 3 December 2020. As CRH is the indirect controlling
shareholder of the Company, it is thus a connected person
of the Company. Accordingly, the Beer Supply Framework
Agreement 2020 and the transactions contemplated
thereunder constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 3 December 2020.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020

Financial Statements /

99



100

ESSRS
DIRECTORS’ REPORT

HERE

(W)

X5 (&)

HEERHGS

RZEBE-_FEFNA+NLBARAE
EREEVIERGZ((HEEZE
Wl WEBE-ZT-_TF—A—
ARE-—E-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IFHEzAE - EHERRETFA
:WWE%BTTﬁ%ﬁ#¢H&
EBNMEETEERAE)HE
$%.Wﬂﬂ%@¢ﬁ5ﬁ§kz
B-AEBEBEREFEERIIT
2EMEHES REMEAZR (MK FHE
EWMENEERRE  UBRER)
HEHEBNETFARKLAFER
hETSERAENEMNE S IWER
RlﬁfﬂﬁlﬁTﬁéhﬁﬁiTﬁ_ﬂﬁ¢
=5 LA R Sk 8 UL 2 BT PR A5 R
%Hmﬂi°

Bz - —"F+-A=+—HI1=
BEEE KBTI INEEHEH
MNEAREEREENEZFE L
R A& A R#121,000,0007T - A R
94,000,0007T & A & #94,000,000
5T e

EHEEAARA N EZER AT
ﬁﬁiﬁﬁ%'%ﬂE!E$QT
FEAT - MEERGHEE N
BREGENRAEEAER —REH
BREPRHELET AUHBRETR
AIETARRINFHEBERS -

HEFSHARTR-T-FEN
AHABRTEZRE -

REE-ZT-_TF+_A=+—H
IEFEE AEBEREHEEREHH
ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%%@%%éﬁmﬁ
E# A ARH51,000,0007T (FHZERH
#) 7% 57 ,000,0007T) °

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(©

LEASING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT

On 19 August 2020, the Company entered into the
Framework Agreement (“Leasing Framework Agreement”)
with CRH to govern the leases for a period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2022. The CRH Group (as landlord)
may, from time to time, lease premises in the PRC and Hong
Kong, predominantly offices, to the Group (as tenant) for its
daily operations. The Group shall determine the rent payable
for each of the leases after arm’s length negotiations with
the CRH Group based on normal commercial principles with
reference to market rent and other factors such as floor area,
location and the type of premises being leased to ensure
the rent payable under each of the leases does not exceed
the rent payable by or to be charged by independent third
parties in respect of the same or similar premises.

The proposed annual caps for the total value of right-of-use
assets related to the leases which has been or to be entered
into in the three years ending 31 December 2022 will be
RMB121,000,000, RMB94,000,000 and RMB94,000,000.

As CRH is the intermediate holding company of the
Company, CRH is a connected person of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The connected transactions
contemplated under the Leasing Framework Agreement
will be continuously carried out in the ordinary and usual
course of business of the Group, thus constituting continuing
connected transactions of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 19 August 2020.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total value of
right-of-use assets related to the leases which has been
entered into by the Group under the Leasing Framework
Agreement was approximately RMB51,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$57,000,000.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The aforementioned continuing connected transactions
contemplated under the Framework Loan Agreements 2019,
Strategic Cooperation Agreements 2018, the Beer Supply
Framework Agreement, the Beer Supply Framework Agreement
2020 and Leasing Framework Agreement constituted non-exempt
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and
are therefore subject to annual review by the independent non-
executive directors and the auditors of the Company.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised), Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740, Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. The auditor has issued his unqualified letter
containing his findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 93 to
100 of the Annual Report in accordance with Main Board Listing
Rule 14A.56. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by
the Company to The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed these transactions and confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions have been entered into:

(@ in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b)  on normal commercial terms or better; and
(©)  in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars regarding the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2020 are set out on pages 182 to 185.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

DIRECTORS" RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, the subsidiaries of its parent company, or its parent
company a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the respective percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers and
the aggregate turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers was less than 30% of the Group's total value of
purchases and total turnover.

AUDITOR

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 22 May
2020, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers retired as the auditor
of the Company and Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu was
appointed as the new auditor of the Company.

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment.

On behalf of the Board
HOU XIAOHAI
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Deloitte
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To the Members of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
(incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 113 to 181, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet
as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit
and loss account, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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Key audit matter
BENREETE

Impairment assessment of goodwill
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We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
balance of goodwill to the Group’s total assets and the
significant degree of judgement and assumptions made
by the Group’s management in determining the value
in use of the relevant cash-generating unit (“CGU").
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had goodwill of
RMB9,326 million which was arise from acquisitions
of businesses that are engaged in the manufacture,
sales and distribution of beer products in previous
years. Management of the Group conducted an
impairment assessment of the goodwill by comparing
the recoverable amounts of the respective CGUs that
were estimated based on value in use calculation, with
their carrying amounts.
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The value in use calculation requires the management
of the Group to estimate the present value of future
cash flows of the CGUs, which includes key assumptions
and judgement on cash flow forecasts, namely expected
revenue growth rate beyond the five years’ financial
budget and the discount rates as disclosed in notes 3A
and 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Based on the recoverable amounts of the CGUs as
at 31 December 2020 determined by the Group’s
management based on their value in use calculation, no
impairment has been recognised for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMPERBENREFENEFE2HE:
Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill included:
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Obtaining an understanding of the key
controls of the Group over the impairment
assessment process of goodwill including the
preparation of cash flow forecasts and related
significant assumptions made by management
of the Group;
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Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast are in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by management of the Group;
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Comparing the actual results of the current
year with the cash flow forecast prepared
in the previous year, on a sample basis,
to evaluate the reliability of management'’s
estimation;
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Engaging our internal valuation specialist to
evaluate the reasonableness of the discount rate
adopted by the management by benchmarking
it against market data and comparable entities;
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Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five years’
financial budget by comparing them to
relevant market researches and the financial
performance of competitors in the current
year; and
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Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions namely expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five years’ financial
budget and discount rate to evaluate the
magnitude of their impacts and assess
whether impairment provision would have
been required.
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HREAEE

Key audit matter
FEREFRNEETEERERAEEENRETS
Impairment assessment of fixed assets and right-
of-use assets with impairment indicators
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We identified the impairment assessment of fixed assets
and right-of-use assets with impairment indicators (the
“Relevant Assets”) based on a value in use calculation
as a key audit matter due to the significant degree
of judgement and assumptions made by the Group’s
management in determining the value in use of the
relevant CGUs.
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As disclosed in notes 16 and 17 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group had fixed assets and
right-of-use assets with carrying amount of RMB14,414
million and RMB3,367 million, respectively as at 31
December 2020. In view of the impairment indicators
identified on certain CGUs to which the Relevant
Assets belong, the Group’s management conducted an
impairment assessment on those Relevant Assets by
estimating the recoverable amounts of their relevant
CGUs based on a value in use calculation.
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The value in use calculation requires the management of
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected
to arise from the CGUs, which includes key assumptions
and judgement on cash flow forecasts, namely expected
revenue growth rate beyond the five years’ financial
budget and the discount rates.
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Based on the value in use of those CGUs as at
31 December 2020 determined by the Group's
management, no impairment loss recognised in respect
of the Relevant Assets for the year ended 31 December
2020 and as of that date. Besides, as further disclosed
in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group has recognised an impairment loss of RMB574
million of certain fixed assets based on their fair value
less costs of disposal for the year ended 31 December
2020.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BHERBEEEEER

MEREEMERRERG

MR FBIE:

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of the Relevant Assets based on a value
in use calculation included:
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Obtaining an understanding of the key
controls of the Group over the impairment
assessment process on Relevant Assets
including the preparation of cash flow
forecasts and related significant assumptions
made by management of the Group;
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Assessing whether the principles and integrity
of the cash flow forecast are in accordance
with the relevant accounting standards and
comparing the forecast with the budgets
approved by management of the Group;
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Comparing the actual results of the current
year with the cash flow forecast prepared
in the previous year, on a sample basis,
to evaluate the reliability of management’s
estimation;
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Assessing the reasonableness of the expected
revenue growth rates beyond the five years’
financial budget by comparing them to market
researches and the financial performance of
competitors in the current year;
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Testing the discount rate by comparing it to
the economic and industry data; and
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Performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions namely expected revenue growth
rates beyond the five years’ financial budget
and discount rate to evaluate the magnitude
of their impacts and assess whether additional
impairment provision would have been
required.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2019 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 20
March 2020.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group'’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tsang Yiu Chung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 22 March 2021
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melR@mE
CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

HE-T-ZTF+=-F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

—EBCEF —E-REF
2020 2019
B 5 AREBEET ARBAEET
Notes RMB million RMB million
L Turnover 6 31,448 33,190
Fiz RPN Cost of sales (19,373) (20,964)
EH Gross profit 12,075 12,226
Hab YA Other income 7 1,687 1,017
HERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (6,123) (5,925)
TR EEME R Administrative and other
expenses (4,419) (5,046)
B % X 2R Finance costs 8 211) (70)
B £ B v F Profit before taxation 3,009 2,202
I8 Taxation 13 (915) (892)
AEEERF Profit for the year 9 2,094 1,310
2 ER: Attributable to:
VNN S Shareholders of the Company 2,094 1,312
I 28 1) A% B4 2 Non-controlling interests - (2)
2,094 1,310
BRER Earnings per share 15
N Basic RMBO.65 RMBO.40
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REEDWRE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIDE INCOME

HE-ZT-_TF+-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

—t St 1S ZTE-NF
2020 2019
ARBEERT ARKEER
RMB million RMB million
AREERF Profit for the year 2,094 1,310
HttZ®E(ERH) K Other comprehensive (expenses)
income:
TEESEFEZX2EH:  Item that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
M EIREREYEK Exchange differences on translation of
FrEE zEEEZR functional currency to presentation
currency (1,426) 490
BERTESEEEZXZEH: Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss:
BINEBZEXRER Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations 1,441 (489)
CMEEANBEARE Fair value adjustment on financial assets (1 -
1,440 (489)
AFEEHMEEUE Other comprehensive income for the
(BR%i1%) year, net of tax 14 1
AEEZEWNSEE Total comprehensive income for the
year 2,108 1,311
S ER: Attributable to:
ZAN/NE N S Shareholders of the Company 2,108 1,313
IE 2 Il A% B4 2 Non-controlling interests - (2)
2,108 1,311
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mMoBERRER

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

R-ZZE-ZTHF+-H=+—H As at 31 December 2020
it et 12 —E-NF
2020 2019
B 5 ARBEEL AR®BAET
Notes RMB million RMB million
(E7)
(Restated)
ERBEE Non-current assets
& E & E Fixed assets 16 14,414 15,818
EREEE Right-of-use assets 17 3,367 3,595
kS Goodwill 18 9,326 9,422
HihfmEEE Other intangible assets 19 320 384
LAREBEGFEHEEZS  Finandal assets at fair value
ETAEAMARE W =8 through other comprehensive
TREE income 20 7 9
TE FRIE Prepayments 21 106 13
FEETIBEE Deferred taxation assets 26 2,858 2,532
30,398 31,873
REBEE Current assets
rE Stocks 22 6,014 6,018
8 5 N H e IR IR Trade and other receivables 23 2,378 943
Al 3R [O] 77 I8 Taxation recoverable 371 349
EERIRITETT Pledged bank deposits 76 68
HeRBREeEED Cash and cash equivalents 4,538 2,340
13,377 9,718
mENBE Current liabilities
B 5 N EMENRIE Trade and other payables 24 (19,327) (19,061)
MHIE X Short term loans 25 - (511)
HEHE Lease liabilities (83) (90)
FEBIR Taxation payable (162) (194)
(19,572) (19,856)
RBAEEREE Net current liabilities (6,195) (10,138)
BEERTHEE Total assets less current
liabilities 24,203 21,735
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MEBERRBE

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ANZTZTF+=RB=+—H As at 31 December 2020
—EZEH ZTE-NF
2020 2019
Bt % ARBBEERT AREBHERT
Notes RMB million RMB million
(&)
(Restated)
EREBEE Non-current liabilities
HERE Lease liabilities (117) (124)
RERIBEE Deferred taxation liabilities 26 (788) (678)
EmIEREaE Other non-current liabilities 27 (2,024) (1,206)
(2,929) (2,008)
21,274 19,727
BARGEE Capital and reserves
fi& 7= Share capital 28 14,090 14,090
15 Reserves 7,127 5,580
AATRRELER Equity attributable to
shareholders of the
Company 21,217 19,670
FEFIIRRER Non-controlling interests 57 57
MRS Total equity 21,274 19,727

%238 HOU XIAOHAI
ZE & Director
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mBREAER

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-Z-_TF+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

—E-EF ZTE-NF
2020 2019
M AREEERLT AREEET
Notes RMB million RMB million
RETH2RERE Cash flows from operating
activities
REMGEZRE Cash generated from
operations 29A 5,628 4,804
EREBMNEN Hong Kong profits tax paid (2) -
B A5 B A BT A5 A Chinese Mainland income tax
paid (1,455) (944)
REFEANMATER Chinese Mainland income tax
refunded 309 238
RETH2HRESMRAFEHE Net cash from operating
activities 4,480 4,098
BRETHZ2RERE Cash flows from investing
activities
HEBETEEEMEHRIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed
assets 384 688
B U B Interest received 136 107
BT Receipt of government grants 1,065 144
WEE T B AR Repayment of loan to a holding
B% company - 1,400
BT —EERRNER Loan to a holding company - (1,400)
WEETFERAREE Repayment of loan to fellow
MEBARER subsidiaries 2,000 -
EFEAREENE Loan to fellow subsidiaries
NEl B (3,600) -
BAERTEE Purchase of fixed assets (1,047) (1,490)
WM B AR, ¥ Acquisition of subsidiaries/
(BB EmEZRE businesses (net of cash and
FREEE) cash equivalents acquired) 29B - (2,216)
BEEBRITEFCEY Changes in pledged bank
deposits (8) M
RETHEAZERS Net cash used in investing
activities (1,070) (2,768)
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REREAER

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

HE-ZT-_TF+-H=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

—EZEH —E-NF
2020 2019
B 5 ARBBEERT AREBHERT
Notes RMB million RMB million
MEITHZ2RERE Cash flows from financing
activities
BREE Dividends paid (561) (487)
AL EYNGIEEE 2 Dividends paid to
IRE 2 & non-controlling shareholders
of subsidiaries - (7)
B F& Interest paid (56) (65)
MENKZ AL Principal elements of lease
payments 29C (54) (78)
BRITREMEERS Proceeds from bank and other
b8 loans 29C 1,469 1,875
EERTEREMEE Repayment of bank and other
loans 29C (1,995) (2,116)
BMEITHERAZERS Net cash used in financing
activities (1,197) (878)
BRERRAESEEEM Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 2,213 452
E R 7 2 & Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes (15) 30
R—A—BzHz Kk Cash and cash equivalents as at
ReEE 1 January 2,340 1,858
BR+=—RA=+—-H2z Cash and cash equivalents as
RekBALEE at 31 December 4,538 2,340
HeRELEEZEB 2D Analysis of the balances of
cash and cash equivalents
BeRETER Cash and bank balances 3,538 1,340
HEMRITER Other deposits with banks 1,000 1,000
4,538 2,340
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moBRREDEEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

F+-A=1+—BIFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

33
RRER
Non- nEs
AR REGER controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
k& fERE  ERXRE  REEN
Share  Valuation  Exchange  Retained At
capital reserve reserve profits Total
ARBEERT ARMEER ARWEER AR¥EER ARWAER ARYEER AREAEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
A\ZE-RE-F-H As at 1 January 2020 14,090 3 (2,347) 7924 19,670 57 19,727
Exzd Exchange differences - - 15 - 15 - 15
SHAEAABERE Fair value adjustment on
financial assets - (1) - - (1) - (1
TEEET Profit for the year - - - 2,094 2,094 - 2,094
KEE2E(BR)NEEE  Total comprehensive (expenses)
income for the year - (1) 15 2,094 2,108 - 2,108
BEEARS: Transactions with owners:
REMETm) Dividends (Note 14) - - - (561) (561) - (561)
RZEZEEFZA=+-A Asat 31 December 2020 14,090 2 (2,332 9,457 1217 57 21,214
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-T-ZTF+=-R=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2020

SEEH
hRER fEs
ARARRELESR Non-controlling Total
Equity attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
e fhEHE EXEE  REEN
Share Valuation Exchange Retained CEl
capital reserve reserve profits Total

AREBET AREEEnR ARWAET ARYBEET ARKEER AREEET ARMEER
RMB milion ~ RMB milion ~ RMB milion  RMB milion ~ RMB milion  RMB milion  RMB million

RZE-n5-F-A As at 1 January 2019 14,090 3 (2,348) 7103 18,848 6 18,910
Exzg Exchange differences - - 1 - 1 - 1
KEERH Profit for the year - - - 1312 1312 Q) 1310
AEERENE(ER) AT Total comprehensive income (expenses)

for the year - - 1 1312 1313 Q) 130
HEEARS: Transactions with owners:
LENBLRER Purchases of additional interest in

subsidiaries - - - @ (& 4 -
ReMEtm Dividends (Note 14) - - - (487) (487) () (494)
BEEARSLE Total transactions with owners - - - (491) (491) B) (494)
RZE-nE+ZA=+-A As at 31 December 2019 14,090 3 2,347) 7924 19,670 51 19727
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GENERAL
ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY

The Company is a public company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The directors regard the ultimate holding
company to be China Resources Company Limited ("CRC"),
a company established in the Chinese Mainland. The address
of the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company is 39/F, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"). The Group's revenues and cash flows are primarily
generated from beer operation in China of which the functional
currency is RMB. In order to reduce the impact of foreign
exchange movements on reported results so as to better reflect
the underlying performance of the Group, the consolidated
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB").

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing, sales
and distribution of beer products. The principal activity of
the Company is investment holding. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 182 to 185.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020 have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"). Except as specified in the principal accounting
policies as set out in Note 2, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value
of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Listing Rules and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and expected
future cash flows from operations and unutilised available
banking facilities of the Group, management expected the
Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities and
commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)

D (i) APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments
to References to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS
Standards and the following amendments to HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1
January 2020 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements.
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group's financial positions and performance
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.
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1.

GENERAL (Continued)
D(ii) NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT

NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new standard,
amendments to existing standards and framework that have
been issued but are not yet effective.

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendment to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)*

Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020°

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions'

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments*

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —
Phase 2?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between

and HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®
Notes:
1. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 June 2020.
2. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
3. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.
4. Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
5. Effective for annual period beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

These new and amendments to HKFRSs are not expected to
have a material impact on the entity in the current or future
reporting periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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GENERAL (Continued)

ADJUSTMENT FOR GOODWILL ARISING FROM
ACQUISITION OF HEINEKEN CHINA

On 29 April 2019, the Group acquired from Heineken N.V.
("Heineken Group”) the entire equity interest of Heineken
China (i.e. Heineken (China) Management Services Co., Ltd.,
Heineken Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Heineken (Shanghai)
Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd., Heineken
Brewery (Zhejiang) Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery (Hainan)
Co., Ltd., and Heineken Hong Kong Limited), while the
price adjustment items and final consideration had not
been agreed as at 31 December 2019, the provisional
consideration of RMB2,333 million was applied for the
calculation of provisional goodwill as at 31 December 2019.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group and
Heineken Group reached a consensus on the consideration.
The final consideration is determined to be RMB2,390 million
and the goodwill was adjusted to RMB997 million.

The adjustments on the consolidated balance sheet as at 31
December 2019 are summarised below:

—E-hE
+=-HA=+—H
31 December
2019 —Z2-NF
FEE5R +=A=+—H
RBER 31 December
As originally 2019
presented and A 5
audited Adjustments Restated
Consolidated balance AEBEHEBE T AEBEHBE T AEBERE T
GABEEAER(EHR) sheet (extract) RMB million RMB million RMB million
FRBEE Non-current assets
kS Goodwill 9,365 57 9,422
REBEE Current assets
BN E A EWFIA Trade and other receivables 1,000 (57) 943
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GENERAL (Continued)
SIGNIFICANT EVENT

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020 in Mainland
China, local governments implemented lockdown policies
in various cities and a number of emergency prevention
and control measures to reduce the risk of the pandemic
spreading in the country. The beer market was severely
affected during the pandemic. Since the end of March, the
pandemic situation in most areas in Mainland China started
to ease, and the emergency level was gradually reduced.
The recurrence of COVID-19 in areas such as Northeast
China and Beijing was controlled quickly and effectively, and
the beer market has gradually recovered to a normal level.
Affected by the pandemic, the beer market size has shrunk
considerably compared to the same period of last year.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of the Group include
the financial statements of the Company and of all its
direct and indirect subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries
acquired or disposed of during the year are included from
the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of
disposal, as appropriate. All material intra-group transactions
and balances have been eliminated on consolidation.

Prior to 1 January 2010, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the
acquisition of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain
purchase gain being recognised where appropriate. For
decreases in interests in subsidiaries, regardless of whether
the disposals would result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries, the difference between the consideration
received and the carrying amount of the share of net assets
disposed of was recognised in the consolidated profit and
loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

From 1 January 2010 onward, changes in the Group's
ownership interests in existing subsidiaries that do not
involve a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, with no impact on goodwill or profit or loss.
When control of subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the Group derecognises all
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests at their
carrying amount. Any retained interest in the former
subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date the
control is lost, with the gain or loss arising recognised in
the consolidated profit and loss account.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.
The Group retrospectively adjusts the provisional amounts
recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities
during the measurement period, based on new information
obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date. The measurement period ends on
twelves months from the date of the acquisition.

SUBSIDIARIES

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases. In the Company’s balance
sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any
impairment loss. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and
receivable.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
GOODWILL

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a subsidiary prior to 1
January 2010 represents the excess of the cost of acquisition
over the Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill arising on
acquisition of a subsidiary on or after 1 January 2010
represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree, and the fair value of the previously held
equity interest in the acquiree over the net fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is tested for impairment at the reporting date and
whenever there is an indication that the cash generating
unit to which the goodwill relates may be impaired. Such
goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. An impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in the
consolidated profit and loss account and is not reversed in a
subsequent period. On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is included
in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.

Prior to 1 January 2010, a discount on acquisition arising on
an acquisition of a subsidiary represents the excess of the
Group's interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquired subsidiary
at the date of acquisition over the cost of acquisition. Gain
on bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary
on or after 1 January 2010 represents the excess of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed over the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the previously held equity
interest in the acquiree. Discount on acquisition or gain on
bargain purchase arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is
recognised immediately in the consolidated profit and loss
account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Classification and measurement of financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

- financial assets carried at amortised cost;
- financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”); and

- financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
("FVPL").

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Classification is driven by the Group’s business model for
managing the debt instrument and the debt instrument’s
contractual cash flow characteristics.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group’s business model for managing the asset and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
other income using the effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly
in profit or loss.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)
Financial assets at FVOCI

Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are
taken through other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included
in other income using the effective interest rate method.

Financial assets at FVPL

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost
or FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss on a
debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at
fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to
present fair value gains and losses on equity investments
in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit
or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive
payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020

129



150

® S Rl 35 R 55 i 51
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

aq_n

FEEHBE®E
EMEEREGEHE)
cREEN T ERFE

HUAREEEAHZE A EH
oL@ EE
UARBEFELEEHAAEH
ExemaEyrianEEE
TEBA REAMRABRZ2ESEGLE
H BAABEFAEZENSHE
BEANEBETE  ANEBEED
HEREHRABERRER -

ED} r,t D)

HAthEzME R
Hte@ABEN SR AREEET
EELKRBREAERNFRIZSE
ARG E -

WA
HRUAEBRKN AT ENSREE
FFTEMUAAREBEREBEEET
AHMIEGEERZNEB LR K&
Ept ETEH (= BB A MDA E T
o BEREAREERARRZ
BREM o

MAFEERREEMS  A&EE
RE BOSHERNBHETHEE
SN AR &) & BB E AT AR
ERHMEREABERAEE)ER
(KRR AKEFAFEHEERR)F
BA - Em LB KEE
R %Iﬂﬁ%tﬂ%i Al 5%
EEX ﬁ#$%lﬁA@HT§
BHWEHBHAERENELNRE
BEAE -

WEEMBRYEF T EEERENE
W2 - BERR I U E I8 R Al
SMBEFHHRBEBREAWER
Fro ANREE—-REETHMHE - -RNE
BN HEEZEEAAEBRE AKH
A RED & R R U R AR Fr e 2E 1 4l 3
B EE - PTULE A E [ IR
BEPHER -

(b)

(9

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial
liabilities
Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL are initially measured at fair value.
At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial recognition,
financial liabilities at FVPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised directly in the consolidated
profit and loss account in the period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortised cost and FVOCI. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group). Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate that
a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)
Impairment (Continued)

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach in measuring expected credit losses prescribed by
HKFRS 9. Management considers the debtors do not contain
a significant financing component. Thus, the impairment
provision recognised during the year was equal to the
lifetime expected losses.

Impairment on other receivables are measured as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of other receivable have occurred since
initial recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit losses.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset
measured at amortised cost, the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in the consolidated
profit and loss account.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the valuation reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to retained profits.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss
account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS
Construction in progress

Property, plant and equipment in the course of construction
for production or administrative purposes, are carried at cost
less accumulated impairment losses, if any. Costs include
any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy.

No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time when construction work is
complete and the costs of construction are transferred to
the appropriate category of fixed assets when available for
use.

Other property, plant and equipment

Fixed assets other than construction in progress are stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation of other property, plant and equipment is
provided to write off the cost of the assets over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account their
estimated residual values, using the straight line method. The
residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted,
if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The estimated
useful lives are as follows:

— Buildings held for own use
— Leasehold improvements

20 to 40 years

3 to 10 years or over the
unexpired term of lease,
whichever is shorter

5 to 25 years

3 to 10 years

5 to 6 years

— Plant and machinery
— Furniture and equipment
— Motor vehicles
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FIXED ASSETS (Continued)
Impairment of fixed assets

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external
sources of information are considered to assess whether
there is any indication that fixed assets are impaired. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
asset is estimated and where relevant, an impairment loss
is recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (“CGU") to which the asset belongs. A CGU
is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or group of assets. Such impairment losses are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.

The calculation of recoverable amounts are using cash flow
forecast projections based on financial budgets approved
by management, cash flows covering five-year period are
extrapolated using the key assumptions including expected
revenue growth rates and a discount rate. A reasonably
possible change in a key assumption would not cause the
recoverable amount to fall below the carrying amount of
the respective CGU.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the assets is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of
impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal or retirement of an item
of fixed asset is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
assets are available for the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration in the
contract to the lease and non-lease components based on
their relative stand-alone prices. Non-lease components are
separated from lease component and are accounted for by
applying other applicable standards.

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

- fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

- variable lease payment that are based on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

- the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be determined,
the lessees’ incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

- the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liabilities;

- any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received;

- any initial direct costs; and

- restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-
use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The impairment of right-of-use assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2E(c).

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less.

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

- the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

- the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

—ZT =T F 3R/ Annual Report 2020

135



136

fRORIF5 RS M5t
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

R

FEFHBEK@E

BE@E
RAER—HEBEEALNEES
EHms  AEEERBBERE
B A 2 E HR B AR 15 5T B ER SR BE R 4T
& 5T A & 2E 0 45 15 2 7R B 19 T
EFHEESABGIREMEK
&8 m)

AEBEREHAMEREEELTT
MHERHE HHERENENTE
ETERE - EENENAHNE
SHEAKRIY M — A% EELM
HESFEEAKIT K - KNEE
SRBEHEAKTONEYBLE
&N IEHEARREE D B AR B L EAR
BERENENTHNREIEES
BEREEKED -

HthEBLEE

RERERE  DHBARKEE
BH Bz Hb B EED Bl A
RAABEER RERHERR
FEERAERFHZEABELE
ERRARER N 2 REHRER
B WE - BREAERFH
ZEMEBLEERKASR - AR
HoERFMANEREZHEE - #
HHEEAHERERGBEE - )
TRERTEAERFH ZEMER

BEZMGFAMERFE:
GRE 102204
A2 754

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease
components.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At initial recognition, other intangible assets acquired
separately and from business combinations are recognised at
cost and at fair value respectively. After initial recognition,
other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are carried
at cost less subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated
at cost and are amortised on the straight line method over
their useful lives with amortisation commences when the
asset is available for use. The estimated useful lives of other
intangible assets with finite useful lives are as follows:

Brand names
Trademarks rights

10 to 20 years
7.5 years
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are
assessed for impairment at each balance sheet date by
comparing their carrying amounts with their recoverable
amounts. Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are
assessed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that their carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. Where impairment exists, an impairment
loss is charged to the consolidated profit and loss account
to reduce the assets to their recoverable amount. Where
an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the assets is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount. Such reversal of impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
in prior years.

The impairment of other intangible assets is same as the
impairment of fixed assets stated in Note 2E(c).

CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION
Current taxation

The current taxation charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Company’s subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full on temporary differences
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements, with limited exceptions. Deferred taxation assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the temporary
difference can be utilised. Deferred taxation is calculated at
the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CURRENT AND DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)
Deferred taxation (Continued)

Deferred taxation liability is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except for
deferred taxation liability where the timing of the reversal
of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities. For leasing
transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income
Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a whole.
Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Offsetting

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current taxation assets
against current taxation liabilities and when the deferred
taxation assets and liabilities relate to taxation levied to the
same taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
STOCKS

Stocks which comprise raw materials, consumables and
packing materials, work-in-progress and finished goods are
stated at the lower of cost (Include those costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of finished goods. Purchase
rebates are deducted in determining the cost of purchase)
and net realisable value.

Cost of work-in-progress and finished goods comprise direct
materials, direct labour cost and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads.

Costs of inventories are determined on the weighted average
method.

Net realisable value is determined as the estimated net
selling price less all further costs of production and the
related costs of marketing, selling and distribution.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When
the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income over the periods necessary to match the grant
on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to
compensate. Where the grant relates to an asset, the
fair value is credited to a deferred income account and is
released to the consolidated profit and loss account over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
RECOGNITION OF REVENUE

Revenue is recognised based on the price specified in the
contract, net of the estimated volume rebates, allowances,
discounts, etc. Sales of goods (i.e. beer products are
recognised when the control of the goods is transferred to
the customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and
the laws that apply to the contract, control of the goods
may transfer over time or at a point in time.

For sales contracts which the control of the goods is
transferred at a point in time, revenue is recognised when
the control of the goods is transferred to the customer.

Control of the goods is transferred over time if one of the
following criteria is met:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs; or

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effect of a
financing component if it is significant.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs are accounted for on the accrual basis and
charged to the consolidated profit and loss account in the
year incurred, except for costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are capitalised as part of the cost of that assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Fees paid for the arrangement of syndicated loan facilities
and debt securities are deferred, and are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

In preparing the consolidated financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies other than
the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in its functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Non-monetary
items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period in which they arise, except for exchange differences
arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s
net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the consolidated financial statements. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN EXCHANGE (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group at the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance
sheet date, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
Group’s exchange reserve. Such exchange differences are
recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account in the
period which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the exchange reserve.

DIVIDEND INCOME

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Upon entering into a contract with a customer with the
scope of HKFRS 15, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes performance
obligations to transfer goods or provide services to the
customer. The combination of those rights and performance
obligations gives rise to a net asset or a net liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. Contract assets are
recognised if the measure of the remaining rights exceeds
the measure of the remaining performance obligations.
Conversely, contract liabilities are recognised if the measure
of the remaining performance obligations exceeds the
measure of the remaining rights.

SHORT-TERM AND OTHER LONG-TERM EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of
the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made
by the Group in respect of services provided by employees
up to the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’
carrying amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion
in the cost of an asset.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF GOODWILL

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2C. The Group conducted an impairment review
by comparing the recoverable amounts of the goodwill,
estimated based on value in use calculation, with their
carrying amounts. The key assumptions and judgements
adopted by management in the relevant discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates and expected revenue
growth rates beyond the five-year projection period.
Details of the key assumptions are disclosed in Note 18. In
performing this impairment review, the Group estimated
the present value of future cash flows of the CGUs based
on the conditions as at 31 December 2020. In the goodwill
impairment test performed in 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak
and its impact on the present value of estimated future cash
flows of the CGUs have been considered.

ESTIMATED IMPAIRMENT OF FIXED ASSETS AND
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

According to the accounting policies stated in Notes 2E(c)
and 2F, if impairment indicators exist on the CGUs to which
the assets belong, management conducted an impairment
review by estimating the recoverable amounts of the
relevant CGUs, using the higher of value in use calculation
and fair value less costs of disposal. The key assumptions
and judgements adopted by management in the relevant
discounted cash flow forecasts included discount rates
and revenue growth rates beyond the five-year projection
period, etc. In performing this impairment review, the Group
estimated the present value of future cash flows of the CGUs
based on the conditions as at 31 December 2020. In the
impairment test performed in 2020, the COVID-19 outbreak
and its impact on the present value of estimated future cash
flows of the CGUs have been considered.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVE
AND POLICIES

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

CREDIT RISK

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's credit risk is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables and bank
balances.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk to
trade and other receivables as its customer bases are widely
spread across diverse geographical locations in China. The
Group has policies in place to ensure that open account
customers are financially viable and with an appropriate
credit history. To minimise its credit risk exposure, credit
evaluations are performed for the determination and
approval of credit limits granted and other monitoring
procedures are implemented to ensure that follow-up
actions are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
regular reviews on aging and recoverability are performed
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group’s exposure to trade and
other receivables is set out in Note 23.

In respect of bank deposits, the Group has procedures and
policies in place to ensure they are made to counterparties
with good credit rating.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of adequate committed
credit facilities to fund capital, prospective investment
opportunities, debt servicing obligations and dividend
payments. Management also closely monitors the Group's
rolling forecast and actual cash flows and maturity profiles
of financial liabilities.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Taking into account the gearing ratio, historical and expected
future cash flows from operations and unutilised available
banking facilities of the Group, management expected the
Group has adequate resources to meet its liabilities and
commitment as and when they fall due and to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The following table details the outstanding contractual
maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's lease
liabilities, loans and trade and other payables (excluding
contract liabilities) which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest date

= the Group can be required to pay.
EHEES: 3]
R—2-F R-ELF ReNERE
28 A | Total
—#£R  Between  Between HBBEF contractual REE
Within 1 1and 2 2t05 Over 5 undiscounted Carrying
year years years years  cash flow amount
AREBER \E¥BERT ARERET ARBAEET ARBBRET AREEER
RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
it i 12 2020
ENEHE Fixed rate interest bearing
HEBR Lease liabilities (85) (54) (47 (29) (215) (200)
T8 Non-interest bearing
ZHREMEMZIE  Trade and other payables (11,876) - - - (11,876) (11,876)
It SR 2019
ENEHE Fixed rate interest bearing
HERE Lease liabilities (93) (76) (68) 7 (244) (214)
FBAEEE Variable rate borrowings
RITER Bank loans (514) - - - (514) (511)
(607) (76) (68) (7) (758) (725)
Fit8 Non-interest bearing
ZHREMENFTIE  Trade and other payables (11,634) - - - (11,634) (11,634)

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits, loans and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank balances and variable-rate
loans. To cover interest rate risk, the Group maintains the
loan portfolio in a preferred fixed/floating interest rate mix
and review regularly.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and
non-derivative instruments at the balance sheet date. For
floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the balance sheet date
was outstanding for the whole year.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and
all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year ended 31 December 2019 would decrease/increase
by RMB5 million.

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market interest rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVE
AND POLICIES (Continued)

CURRENCY RISK

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
balance sheet date to currency risk arising from recognised

MEANERERR REZBEER assets or liabilities denominated in a currency other than the
LA o functional currency of the entity to which they relate.
i St 33 —T-NF
2020 2019
BE & BE =L
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
ARHEERT ARWEERT AR¥EERT ARBEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB million
AR Renminbi 300 2,370 1 4
ET US Dollars 205 - 224 -

TRAMARBLBETRETTIHE
SHHAEENTE  REBTLHE
THMBEXEIAZTE - FEHK
RESMEBBUIIEHENER
B FEREFAREE  URERI
H[E R 5% & EARBLET
K R TR fE5% » ¥ MR E B E
ERFEERNEZE -

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% strengthening in Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars
and US Dollars, assuming the pegged rate between Hong
Kong dollar and US dollar would be unaffected. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
year end for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. For a
5% weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars and
US Dollars, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the profit or loss.

—E-8F —T-n&

2020 2019

ARBEET ARBAETR

RMB million RMB million

EapTRc iR 0b -4 Effect on profit after tax (105) )

WO DIREBERXERERBRERB
mET - RERBRT m%[$
TeEENE  BEEERA/U DN
RRtE2% - T}E%&Zﬁf’ﬁﬁimiﬁéﬂ
B EH TR -

This analysis is prepared by using certain assumptions on
a hypothetical situation. In reality, market exchange rates
would not change in isolation. In management’s opinion,
the analysis is used for reference purpose and should not
be considered a projection of the future profits or losses.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the loans disclosed in Note 25, cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to equity holders of the
Company, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital, and will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues as well as the raise of bank
loans or the redemption of existing debt.

EXEHERSBER TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
—EZEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBEETX
RMB million RMB million

EXEAERBETHIER Turnover comprises revenue from:
ZUW A

HEEm Sales of goods 31,448 33,190
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N BEEERSBEHG@E 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
2 #BE SEGMENT INFORMATION
nEaH/
RE HE HE B
Eastern Central Southern  Corporate/ &t
region region region  Elimination Total

ARBEERL AR¥EER AR¥EER AR¥EER AR¥EER
RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million  RMB million  RMB million

BE-3-%% For the year ended
+ZA=+-HLEFE 31 December 2020

HES L TURNOVER'
HHEE External sales 15,785 7,497 8,166 - 31,448
AHREE Inter-segment sales 584 390 186 (1,160) -
EH Total 16,369 7,887 8,352 (1,160) 31,448
LEESL Segment result? 1,134 757 1,312 3,203
RESHNLFBHZH  Unallocated corporate

expenses (124)
FEMA Interest income 141
KK A Finance costs (211)
BRER AR Profit before taxation 3,009
#E Taxation (915)
REERF Profit for the year 2,094
R=B-Z2F+-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020
EE ASSETS
NHEE Segment assets 20,574 8,206 11,692 40,472
ERHEEE Deferred taxation assets 2,858
EEHE Taxation recoverable 371
RESENLFEHEE  Unallocated corporate assets 74
GREEHE Consolidated total assets 43,775
B LIABILITIES
PHEE Segment liabilities 11,231 5,501 4,767 21,499
A Taxation payable 162
ERHEAE Deferred taxation liabilities 788
AEPENRAEHEE  Unallocated corporate

liabilities 52
GABREAE Consolidated total liabilities 22,501
Hit g R OTHER INFORMATION
REERYEE Additions to non-current

assets® 528 357 102 24 1,011
REREH Depreciation and amortisation 943 416 379 8 1,746
ERRETEER Impairment loss recognised for

FEREBR fixed assets and stocks 420 390 159 - 969

150 2B R (3 %) AR A & / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
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INFORMATION

NEES/
Eastern Central Southem  Corporate/ CH
region region region Elimination Total
AREBEET AREEET AREBEET AREBEET ARBEER
RMB million RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million
HE-Z-1F For the year ended
+ZA=+-RLEE 31 December 2019
BEE TURNOVER!
HMNEE External sales 16,927 8,073 8,190 - 33,190
PREHEE Inter-segment sales 351 47 276 (1,044) -
At Total 17,278 8,490 8,466 (1,044) 33,190
AEEE Segment result? 1,007 598 714 2,319
RESHNLFEFZH  Unallocated corporate
expenses (156)
FEKA Interest income 109
KK A Finance costs (70)
BR A AR R Profit before taxation 2202
Rt Taxation 89)
FEEET Profit for the year 1310
RZE—-AE+=A=+—H As at 31 December 2019
EE ASSETS
PREE Segment assets 19,549 7,859 11,260 38,668
ELWE BE Deferred taxation assets 2,532
REH B Taxation recoverable 349
FEDHNOLFEHEE  Unallocated corporate assets 4
GABELE Consolidated total assets 41591
g LIABILITIES
PHEE Segment liabilities 11,690 4,261 4,47 20,423
ENHE Taxation payable 194
REERES 1 Deferred taxation liabilities 678
RESENLFEHEE  Unallocated corporate
liabilities 569
GRARME Consolidated total liabilities 21,864
HitE R OTHER INFORMATION
REFERBEE (B Additions to non-current
assets® (Restated) 3,249 539 140 - 3,928
TEREH Depreciation and amortisation 90 42 375 7 1,724
ERRAETEER Impairment loss recognised for
FEREBE fixed assets and stocks 487 240 325 - 1,052
B 5 Notes:
1. EEBRRYEER I 7E HE — 1. Turnover represents sales of beer products and was recognised at

MR- NEE=
NFE+—A=+—

HE
ETER_T—
H L%

g REF

ERBEAKEHEHEI0% -

2. DEBEB ARG BKA

R IER AT

3. REFRDEEBREETEE -

BUR DS

%A

HEE  BEREMEFREE - REBZE
—E-NE+_A=+—HLEE -8
FEREENHEARE2767TAE T -

a point of time. There was no customer contributing over 10% of
total turnover of the Group for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

2. Segment result represents earnings before interest income, finance
costs and taxation.

3. Additions to non-current assets included fixed assets, right-of-use
assets, goodwill and other intangible assets. For the year ended
31 December 2019, included RMB2,767 million arising from the
acquisition of Heineken China.

—EqE-F

= —=
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+. Hitlk A 7. OTHER INCOME
—ECEHF —E—hF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
EMWAGIETS/E: Other income includes the
following:
APSE PN Interest income 141 109
BB 58 I 4 B Government grants recognised 473 162
HEBTEEMSEF*  Profit on disposal of fixed assets* - 161
HEREERN L Profit on disposal of interests in
1 = P 15 & A leasehold land held for own use 53 6
EEE YR E Sales of scrapped materials 208 232
WOm A A YA Bottles usage income 567 203
* 2019F HEREEEEMSRFEF K * Profit on disposal of fixed assets for 2019 included compensation
BB S BE/EARK248 8 received from the Government of RMB254 million.
e
N, BHERA 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E-%% —T-hf
2020 2019
ARBBERT ARBBEETT
RMB million RMB million
IRITER R EMEZFE Interests on bank loans and other
loans 50 54
HEBEMNE Interests on lease liabilities 6 12
A& Financing charges 5 1
fE X & 18 Exchange loss 150 4
21 71
o= N o N S Less: Interest capitalised* - (1
21 70

©RIEAER —RER

BEARMOH R B FEF1.34% -

B 0 4 *

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

During 2019, the weighted average capitalisation rate on funds
borrowed generally is 1.34% per annum.
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—2-®F —ZET-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBEETL
RMB million RMB million
AEEHRFMEMBKTH  Profit for the year has been arrived
#I8: at after charging:
% R0 B & Auditors’ remuneration
- BRR - Audit services 10 13
- EEZRTE - Non-audit services - -
BIAKN(BIEES Staff costs (including directors’
B <) emoluments) 5,607 6,309
e Depreciation
-HEEE - Owned assets 1,489 1,552
-FRAEEE - Right-of-use assets 193 123
H i\ & E# i Amortisation of other intangible
assets 64 49
EHRAEMEEE Impairment loss recognised on
-EEEE — Fixed assets 574 700
-FE — Stocks 395 352
HEBTEEMBSEIE  Loss on disposal of fixed assets 42 -
EEEmKA Cost of goods sold 19,373 20,964
WM EHEEMBMNER  Expense relating to short-term leases 91 51
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ESEMNRES 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
EEMeE DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
—EZESF —E—F
2020 2019
ARBBEERL ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
we Fees 1.62 1.56
AR S RER Basic salaries and allowances 3.53 3.50
NESHK Provident fund contributions 0.21 0.24
4T Bonus' 10.63 5.46
15.99 10.76
e Hitf
Fees Other Emoluments
EXEe
REE LAESHR E-NE
Basic Provident At
Salaries and Fund i At 2019
Allowances  Contributions Bonus' Total Total
~BCBE 2020 ARBEER ARMEER ARMEER ARMEER ARMEER ARWRER
BEER? Name of director RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million
B Jian i = 1.03 0.04 144 251 175
RZE Hou Xiaohai - 1.51 0.13 6.83 8.47 5.45
RER Lai Po Sing, Tomakin - 0.99 0.04 2.36 3.39 2.00
g Lai Ni Hium, Frank 0.11 - - - 0.1 0.11
Richard Raymond Richard Raymond
Weissend?® Weissend® 0.06 - - - 0.06 -
BREE Tuen-Muk Lai Shu® - - - - - -
EAE Houang Tai Ninh 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.28
IRE Li Ka Cheung, Eric 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.8
B85 Cheng Mo Chi, Moses 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.7
RER Bernard Charnwut Chan 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.27
i Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon 0.28 - - - 0.28 0.28
Rudolf Gijshert Servaas Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas
van den Brink® van den Brink® 0.05 - - - 0.05 0.07
CH Total 162 3.53 0.21 10.63 15.99 -
—E-NE 2019 1.56 3.50 0.24 5.46 - 1076

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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EEZREVRERS 3 10. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Continued)

EEME (& DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

B 5 Notes:

1. BBEAN2EMEFE 2LEER - 1. The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the
BRI AT THERRRRABETSHFTH operating results, individual performance and comparable market
FHEE ° statistics during both years.

2. RFEEZHAESHEERBAR 2. Director fee for the year had been waived by respective directors.

3. EEMemPEERAE - 3. The director’s emoluments were borne by CRC.

4. RBE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—RH1t 4. During the year ended 31 December 2020, no retirement benefits,
FE ERKLEERBAEEXHE payments or benefits in respect of termination of directors’ services
BEXASIERRKRET - ek Tl were paid or made, directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any
thEERERNR(ZSE—NF &) -8 payable (2019: Nil). No consideration was provided to or receivable
BEARBEEREHNE=-"FRERE by third parties for making available directors’ services (2019: Nil).
KEWRE(ZE—NAF: |\ - REEF There are no loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of the
REE HEGIWEABRBRERE directors, their controlled body corporate and connected entities
BHNER  EERSHEMZS(ZT— (2019: Nil). The emoluments of executive directors were for their
NF | - PITEZZHFMOIRRS services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
EBARARERASEENETEMREHRZ Company and the Group. The emoluments of non-executive directors
RIS - SENITE E R B IEHTT and independent non-executive directors were for their services as
EECFMDOBBREERARRES the directors of the Company.

FT iR 2 AR 75 T 35 A ©

5. Richard Raymond Weissendt £ A =% 5. Mr. Richard Raymond Weissend was appointed on 26 June 2020 and
ZTF XA =+ N B % % £ MRudolf Mr. Rudolf Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink resigned on 26 June 2020.
Gijsbert Servaas van den Brink 5t 4 %

SECREXASFABRE -

AN ESHES 11. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
HE_Z-_ZTF+_HA=1+—H1E During the year ended 31 December 2020, the five highest
FE hEEaFEERE —HBE paid employees included one (2019: one) director, details of
FE(ZE-NF:—8) BEWeF whose remunerations are set out in Note 10. The details of
BHEHARMFET - A0z (== —h the remunerations paid to the other four (2019: four) highest
F UML) m B E B T S 2 B paid employees are as follows:

SHEMT:

—E-8F —E-hE
2020 2019
AR¥BERT ARBAEET
RMB million RMB million

EXRF e KRR Basic salaries and allowances 3.56 3.34

NEEHK Provident fund contributions 0.34 0.37

TEAL Bonus 16.25 16.84

20.15 20.55
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1.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

The emoluments of these four (2019: four) highest paid
individuals were within the following band:

AE
No. of person
—ECEHF —E-NF
2020 2019
AR #4,445001T & RMB4,445,001 to RMB4,889,000
AR #4,889,0007T (HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000)
(7 %5,000,0017T &
78 #5,500,0007T) 2 -
AR #4,889,0017T & RMB4,889,001 to RMB5,333,000
A R #5,333,0007T (HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000)
(7 #5,500,0017T &
76 #6,000,0007T) 1 4
A R #5,333,0010 & RMB5,333,001 to RMB5,778,000
A R #5,778,0007C (HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000)
(75 #6,000,0017t &
% #6,500,0007T) 1 -

HWEAES

i

AEBERBEZHEAHKETESR i%ﬁ/ 2
B FEEFRNKEE - ZFTE
ZLEERASEEEED Eﬂ*éfi Riz

HBVEREZESRA - AT
$EF4EE%$ 1 2K E AL ET

CMEBBETEREZEZEME
HSZT KRN DABUE AN SR B 2 (K

m 3

D) D>

AERERMBASER D LR
AT ZEFARMEFEHLR
}\E’%E* T e

STAFF PROVIDENT FUND
HONG KONG

The Group operates various defined contribution retirement
schemes which are available to all Hong Kong employees.
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those
of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
amount of contributions is based on a specified percentage
of the basic salary of employees and any forfeited
contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff leavers
are used to reduce the Group’s contributions.

The total cost charged to consolidated profit and loss
account in respect of Group contributions to staff provident
fund in Hong Kong amounted is less than RMB1 million for
both years.
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BELAEE®W@ 12. STAFF PROVIDENT FUND (Continued)
A B A it B CHINESE MAINLAND
AEBEFRREAMEESHBERA The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
AR RFLENBREIRR members of state-managed retirement benefit schemes
KREFMEFEIRKE - REB AR Z operated by the respective local government in the Chinese
FESMEIERE RS R Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a specified
ERBBHES - NEBEILEEE percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund the
FE—BEEEEINEEERR - benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these schemes is to make the specified contributions.
7% bt &9 AR B A 3 AR R G B T AE AR The total cost charged to the consolidated profit and loss
GEERTFIKRNBXNETNEAR account in respect of the above-mentioned schemes in
BB BT(ZTE—NEFE ARK the Chinese Mainland amounted to approximately RMB106
407EETT) million (2019: RMB407 million).
HIE 13. TAXATION
—ECEH —ZE-NF
2020 2019
ARBEERT ARBEHET
RMB million RMB million
R A 3t BT AS BL Chinese Mainland income tax
REZRIE Current taxation 1,101 771
IEEF I8 Deferred taxation (186) 121
915 892

EENBRIBRIEARNEE 2 G5 E
R A B E165% (ZF —h
F:16.5%)5T & -

o B A 4t P B X ) 2 BT AS B D AR R
BE BE_T-_TF+_A=1

—HLEFEMEAMBMREAE25%
—EZ—NF 25%)°

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2019: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits for the year.

Chinese Mainland income tax has been provided for based
on the estimated assessable profits in accordance with the
relevant tax laws applicable to the subsidiaries in the Chinese
Mainland. The applicable principal income tax rate for the
year ended 31 December 2020 is 25% (2019: 25%).
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+=. B ()

13. TAXATION (Continued)

FA—LEEAR - BHEAREEMAD
OERR - TREE E A R R ERD
MESERARBERORKES
AEEWE YR EZRN L@ mAH
R NEHEARMBB RN KA
BRNBRERFEAERBEZERREX
AEZEBRS  FBMT:

The effective tax rate is higher than the domestic rates
mentioned above as there were tax losses arising from
certain loss-making subsidiaries, including breweries which
were determined to be closed down, of which no deferred
tax assets were recognised as the realisation of the related
tax benefit through the future taxable profits is not
probable. The taxation on the Group’s profit before taxation
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the domestic rates applicable to the country concerned as

follows:

—g-%%  -—T-hf
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAETR
RMB million RMB million
B %54 A& A Profit before taxation 3,009 2,202
NBBEREBMREE Tax calculated at the domestic rates
2 T I8 applicable in the country concerned 752 552
BmARD WA Income not subject to taxation - ()
NAIHBR 2 2 H Expenses not deductible for taxation
purposes 88 72
FEHARAABERZEE Utilisation of previously unrecognised
MER temporary difference (282) (318)
KERRBZFIBREEE Tax losses and temporary difference
=8 not recognised 243 541
EEL(Z)BEZTIE  Under/(Over) provision on taxation in
previous year 7 (1)
Ko BCHEZFEIFTE T Withholding tax on undistributed
profits 107 58
METH Taxation charge 915 892

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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+0.

a2 14. DIVIDENDS
—ECEHF —E-NF
2020 2019
AREBERT ARBAET
RMB million RMB million
TE-TEHDIREHE 2020 interim dividend paid of
KREERE®MRARE  RMB0.128 per ordinary share
0.128L (=T —NF: (2019: RMBO0.12)
AR®0.127T) 415 390
TE-TEMEIRZERE] 2020 proposed final dividend of
B g B ARE  RMB0.131 per ordinary share
01T (ZZE—NF: (2019: RMBO0.045)
AR #0.0457T0) 425 146
840 536
B 5 Note:

ERRTN - - —F=A-+-_HETHNE
FLE EEHRERIRESRTBERARE
0B (ZT—NF: AR¥0.0455T) © #t K
REDEARARBTEFTEEREANE
BRREATE - ZER BN ENGRE VR
LENERBEE AFEREUBRENMR
MARRENMBRELBECRE_S—NF
EORPRER-Z_SFENFHRE
BEANRESIABET(ZTE—NF ARE
ATEE L BEZT - N\FEMNRARER
—T-NFEHRHRE) -

At the meeting held on 22 March 2021, the directors proposed final
dividend of RMBO0.131 (2019: RMBO0.045) per ordinary share. This proposed
dividend, which is calculated on the Company’s number of ordinary shares
as at the date of the board meeting, is not recognised as a liability in these
consolidated financial statements. The total dividends paid by the Company,
including the final dividend for the year 2019 and the interim dividend for
the year 2020, amounting to RMB561 million (2019: the final dividend for
the year 2018 and the interim dividend for the year 2019, amounting to
RMB487 million) are reflected in the current year consolidated financial
statements.
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+i. BRAETF

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

—EEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
FREAREFTIRIE T The calculation of the basic earnings
HEBETHE: per share is based on the following
data:
ZF Earnings
AUGESREKRRBTE Profit attributable to shareholders of
A &) B R FE AL s T the Company for the purposes of
calculating basic earnings per share 2,094 1,312
—EZEH —E—hE
2020 2019
K EAE Number of shares
BAUGESREKRRTE Weighted average number of ordinary
T AR AN AE 15 £ shares for the purpose of calculating
basic earnings per share 3,244,176,905 3,244,176,905
—EEH ZE-NF
2020 2019
AR¥ R ARMETT
RMB RMB
SREXREF Basic earnings per share 0.65 0.40

RN MEFESL EHITEINZE
EEBER  RUWEBL 25 FRE

ERFIZEH -

outstanding issue for both years.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited

No separate diluted earnings per share information has
been presented as there were no potential ordinary shares
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BExE&E 16. FIXED ASSETS
Hit%  BERRE
Other property, plant and equipment
BREF ERIR BERE
Buildings held  Construction Plant and Hitr At
for own use in progress machinery Others Total
ARBEEL AREBET ARWBERT AR%EERT ARKBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million RMB  million RMB million
KA Cost
RZE-NF-A—A At 1 January 2019 10,159 922 20,612 1,065 32,758
WERBAR/EBBEEA Acquisition of subsidiaries/business 468 1 637 19 1,125
RE Additions 17 686 205 31 1,039
HE Disposals (177) - (2,083) (113) (2,373)
ENNE Reclassifications 127 (972) 685 54 (106)
EXES Exchange difference (6) 2 (17) - 1)
RZE-AF+-RA=+—H At 31 December 2019 10,688 639 20,039 1,056 32,422
RE Additions 36 819 10 20 885
HE Disposals (555) (1,461) (144) (2,160)
ENNE Reclassifications 163 (854) 560 82 (49)
EXES Exchange difference 25 (5 7 1 )
RZBZZREFZA=T—H At 31 December 2020 10,357 599 19,219 1,015 31,190
ERRERAE Accumulated depreciation and
impairment
—Z-NE-A-H At 1 January 2019 4,205 1 11,328 741 16,275
FEEHE Charge for the year 398 - 1,065 89 1,552
HERD Written back on disposals (53) (1) (1,634) (97) (1,785)
BRAZRERR Impairment loss recognised 300 2 386 12 700
ENNE Reclassifications Q) - (102) 3) (106)
ERES Exchange difference (6) - (25) 0] 32)
“E-AF+-A=t-H At 31 December 2019 4,843 2 11,018 74 16,604
rEEHE Charge for the year 377 - 1,026 86 1,489
HERE Written back on disposals (403) 2 (1,385) (133) (1,923)
BRRAZRERR Impairment loss recognised 276 - 291 7 574
ENNE Reclassifications ¥i] - (83) 36 (49)
EEE%E Exchange difference 27 - 54 - 81
“E-EE+-A=Z1-H At 31 December 2020 5118 - 10,921 737 16,776
EEE%E Net book values
WZE-ZF+-A=1-H At 31 December 2020 5239 599 8,298 278 14,414
WZE-AF+-A=t-H At 31 December 2019 5,845 637 9,021 315 15,818

RER  BRESRE  KEEDR

EREE

TR R K BE BB R Y

BE ARAEERZEHERR

R AE ] AT AE Ue @ 9 A 21

5 1% B ARUR TE

BEERAEANRESIAEETL(ZZ —

F:ARK7008ET) -

%XﬁFm

BB NREAREERKE

A HE

During the year, as a result of efficiency enhancement,
certain breweries were determined to be closed down
and certain aged assets were determined as obsolete.
Consequently, the Group has recognised an impairment loss
of RMB574 million (2019: RMB700 million), after considering
any possible benefit receivable during the disposal process.
The recoverable amounts of these assets are based on their
fair value less costs of disposal.
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Tt ERAEEE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

—ECEHF —N&F
2020 2019
AREBERT ARBAET
RMB million RMB million
BEBRMN TR Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 3,174 3,354
gF Buildings 134 190
E A, Others 59 51
3,367 3,595
—EEHF —N&F
2020 2019
ARBEERT ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
EREEENRE Depreciation charge of right-of-use
assets
BFIEE B A it Interests in leasehold land held for
own use 920 92
BF Buildings 85 24
HApb Others 18 7
193 123

@:I: 7—7£E+ H + EIJ_]:

FEMENEREEEABARKI26
AELT(ZE—NF  ARBI22EE
L) HEZTE-—hF+A=1+—
BIEFERKENB AR ¥15Mm
BANFEREEESARKIVES

JC °

TECTFMHESEMEREE
BRASTEBBAEARKISIEET
—NFE ARBIMBETL) - K
SEFEHTYAE BEREHER
Fﬁﬁ’]%ﬁﬁfﬂ CHRIZEZTFR
—NF+ZA=1+—8 " 284
%Wﬂm,\utﬁﬁmﬁsﬁfﬁhﬁ
AFmYErnREBESENESHEL -

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 December 2020 were RMB126 million (2019: RMB122
million) and additions to the right-of-use assets through
acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses during the year ended
31 December 2019 were RMB337 million.

The total cash outflow for both lease liabilities and short-
term leases during the year ended 31 December 2020 was
RMB151 million (2019: RMB141 million). The Group regularly
entered into short-term leases for motor vehicles, machinery
and equipment and warehouses. As at 31 December 2020
and 2019, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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+tt. EFHEEE @)

HHBEARANEEEE 2 ERE
@A ME W E NI EA R
HEEETSBEEERER -

$’§l$ﬂ‘£&%ﬁ{”ﬁ§ﬁﬁﬁ’]if@%

CBFREMENER BT
&ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ’ﬁﬂ%ﬁéﬂ W A1E355F
7 & E HABR ©

P16 502 7 1 B BB b 3 A
B - A B A Z A R R SR I
f o

th. &8

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group leases various interests in leasehold land held for
own use, buildings and others. Rental contracts for buildings
and others are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 35
years.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

18. GOODWILL
AREBETT
RMB million
2% Cost
RZE—hF—A—AH As at 1 January 2019 8,390
WM B AR, %% (EH) Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses
(restated) 997
M H =5 Exchange difference 35
RZE-NF+_A=+—8K As at 31 December 2019 and
—E-FTF—AF—HE7) 1 January 2020 (restated) 9,422
E W =% Exchange difference (96)
RZEZZFEF+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2020 9,326
IRE{E Carrying values
RZEZEF+-_A=+—H As at 31 December 2020 9,326
RZE—NF+_A=+—H(EF%|) As at 31 December 2019 (restated) 9,422
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+A. &2 @)

BEEHEIKERSRELENM
(TCGUD) » W AREBERETHEZ
HmrwEEINEED BB
ZEEER - UTHBEIRZD

BE:

18. GOODWILL (Continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill was allocated to the
cash generating units (“CGU"), each of which represent
the operating segments identified by the Group for the
purpose of segment reporting in geographical perspective.
A segment level summary of the goodwill allocation is
presented below:

—ECEHF —ZT-NF

2020 2019

AREBERT ARBAET

RMB million RMB million

(E7)

(Restated)

= Eastern region 3,201 3,337
& Central region 883 843
i & Southern region 5,242 5,242
9,326 9,422

CGUz RNk B & 58 hiRF AEEE
EETE  c REFEREAHEAREE
BEEBBzAFTHYFEEEMEL
ZiEFReRE BORAFH IR
& 2 B0 T BTl &9 TR FT Uk A 12
EER85% (ZZE—NF:187%) 2
MEFIREEERNBRES/FFTE -
i A0 F 37 28 R 710.3% £10.6% (=
T —NF:102%=10.7%) &M o

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
based on a value in use calculation. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a five-year period, cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the key
assumptions including expected revenue growth rates stated
below and a post-tax discount rate of 8.5% (2019: 8.7%)
per annum. Pre-tax discount rates are ranged from 10.3%
to 10.6% (2019: 10.2% to 10.7%) per annum.

BHLFHBEERE2
FERABABRE
Expected revenue growth rate
beyond the five years’
financial budget

(%)
—E-EF —T-NF
2020 2019
R@ Eastern region 2% 2%
F = Central region 2%-3% 2%-3%
M @ Southern region 2%-3% 2%-3%

TEBRRNEBEPHTISZUNR
CGUMAT R 2 MK E RN ERE
3 o

A reasonably possible change in a key assumption would
not cause the recoverable amount to fall below the carrying
amount of the respective CGU.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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th HittBHEEE

19. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

[} 3 (R0 3L
Brand  Trademarks G
names rights Total

AREBEBT ARWKBERT AREKEBER
RMB million RMB million RMB million

R Cost
RZE-NE—-H—H At 1 January 2019 470 - 470
WEHMBLR /% Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses - 308 308
R Exchange difference (1 - (1)
RZE-NF+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 and
RZZZFF-H—H 1 January 2020 469 308 777
EHESR Exchange difference 4 - 4
RZZE-ZTE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 473 308 781
ZitBERAE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
RZE—-NE—-H—H At 1 January 2019 346 - 346
KEEHE Charge for the year 21 28 49
B EE Exchange difference ) - 2)
RZE—NF+ZA=+—H At 31 December 2019 and
N-_Z2-FF—H—H 1 January 2020 365 28 393
KEZHE Charge for the year 24 40 64
EHEH Exchange difference 4 - 4
RZTZZF+ZA=F+—H At 31 December 2020 393 68 461
REEE Net book values
MZE-FF+=-A=+—H At 31 December 2020 80 240 320
RZZE-NE+-A=+—H At 31 December 2019 104 280 384

ENGEERBENENOMBEETE
RFE - BAERMRPFIH B RE BELE
BERBOEMEETAERKE
BZRAREER  HERBRERER
TS5EMBEFHERS N EREET

The trademarks rights for the exclusive use of the Heineken®
brand owned by the Heineken Group at a favourable term
for certain period in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Macau
were recognised at its fair value at the date of acquisition
and are subsequently amortised on straight line over their
estimated useful live of 7.5 years according to licensing
agreement.
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—+ UL AEBHEIIEHEEZE 5 20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

t,

AHMGARENEMEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

—EEH —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET AREBAER
RMB million RMB million
PEAM ETARG Listed equity shares in Chinese
RABE Mainland, at fair value 7 9

EHEBEENARBERRES
1ROREBEER 2EMERER

The fair values of investment in listed equity shares are
determined under Level 1 fair value hierarchy with reference

JE © to quoted market bid prices.
FERRIE 21. PREPAYMENTS
—EEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAETR
RMB million RMB million
BEETEEE IS MNE Deposit payment for purchase of
fixed assets 106 113
7E 22. STOCKS
—EEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEERT ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
R R Raw materials 682 669
SR m ke EME Consumables and packing materials 4,037 3,709
£ & Work-in-progress 260 236
2UPK fh Finished goods 1,035 1,404
6,014 6,018
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Tt ESREMEBWRIE 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
—ECEHF —E-NF
2020 2019
AREBERT ARBAET
RMB million RMB million
(&%)
(Restated)
JEWE=FEZEXK Trade receivables from third parties 217 349
WG RRIEEM B AR Trade receivables from fellow
B 5N subsidiaries 19 26
B EEEERE Less: allowance for credit losses (40) (46)
196 329
AT Y [B] 4% 1B 7 Value-added tax recoverable 157 195
TET R IB Prepayments 135 205
B Re Deposits paid 22 20
E i R TE Other receivables 263 192
FEW — AR ABIFIE  Amount due from a holding company
(FF &£ (Note 1) - 1
W ARIEEN E2AR Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
A (M 5E2) (Note 2) 1,605 1
2,378 943
M & Notes:
1. Bl —MEBRARREAERE & 1. Amount due from a holding company was unsecured, interest-free
BREREE - and repayable on demand.
2. WS AR EBENMBARREASEIR 2. Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries were unsecured, bear interest

¥ EF ER35%-3915%:F 8 KA
RBERREN —FREENRE -

AEE-RETEPUTZEES:

()
(2)

BE 50 K
=tEATRRE

at 3.5%-3.915% per annum and repayable within one year from the
reporting date.

The Group normally trades with its customers under the
following credit terms:

(@  cash upon delivery; or
(b)  open credit from 30 to 90 days
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St ESREMEWRR

R IE (%) 23.
REERREZAME2IN N RIE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The following is the aging analysis of trade receivables from

= RBRRAEENBLARESE third parties and fellow subsidiaries as at the balance sheet
HZBEERTWT date by invoice date:
—EEHF S —NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAETRT
RMB million RMB million
AEH The Group
0-30X 0-30 days 43 34
31-60K 31-60 days 28 40
61-90°X 61-90 days 1 25
>90K >90 days 114 230
196 329
B SR RIE 2 BENEEANTE Impairment assessment on trade receivables is using the

HEBRXDERYSERKEKER®
%}521*,1.%{5 WIRFEEP&

expected loss rates which are based on credit assessments
on each aging category of customers and adjusted for

BB S EWFIERE N 2 AT E R forward-looking information affecting the ability of the
ELFHE - customers to settle the trade receivables.
H b FEU SR I 2 BB TR 1218 A 38 Impairment on other receivables is measured as either

HMEEBERI2HNBHMEERHER
B BTAVSIHEREECHRE
REERBRIEM -

REBEEBETZHG AKER
REANES R HEMERFRERR

L

12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since the initial recognition.

Based on the assessments performed by management, the
fair value of the Group’s trade and other receivables at

BESEAEREERES balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding
carrying amount.
FEBEREzE MOVEMENT IN THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT
LOSSES
—ECEH —ZT-NEF
2020 2019
ARBBEERL ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
mn—HA—H8 As at 1 January 46 39
W EEM B AR, %K Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses - 3
EHR2REEE Impairment losses recognised 6 19
HEXWEmFE 2 © % Amounts written off as uncollectible (12) (15)
R+Z—A=+—8” As at 31 December 40 46

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

ial Statements

—ECEHF —ZT-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
BNE=ZFEZEX Trade payables to third parties 2,332 2,710
JEM AR EBE M B AR Trade payables to fellow subsidiaries
B 5 R 5 3
2,337 2,713
AREE B ED Contract liabilities (Note 1) 7,451 7,427
ERER Accruals 2,986 2,667
B Ui & (ff 5E2) Deposit received (Note 2) 4,676 4,412
E A & 1 5K Other payables 1,842 1,801
R NCIE Amounts due to holding companies
(P 3E3) (Note 3) 26 40
e BN TS BB AT  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
XA (B 3£ 3) (Note 3) 9 1
19,327 19,061
B 5 - Notes:

BREARESMIEETL(ZE—HLF:
ARBIMEET)NERIERAR
Bes87E BL(ZE—NF AR
6,486B BIIL)MRIHFTEBE - &R
EENBEARDAEG BAA%KHE
TEHERE S AREMI2EANEEZ
BE REE-_Z_TF+_A=+
—BALEFE BEIAVNBABGTAF
MHEREEHRES  BARK7427
BEL(ZE—hF ARK7168EE
JT) °

REFTEREIRMEBEMHNE
Wiz & o

R ARRARGARNEENBEA
BARAEREERT 2OREREE -

Included receipt in advance on sales of RMB864 million (2019:
RMB941 million) and liabilities on promotional schemes of RMB6,587
million (2019: RMB6,486 million). Contract liabilities are classified as
current liabilities because the Group expects to settle them within
12 months after the end of the reporting period. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, revenue recognised that was included in
the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the year amounting
to RMB7,427 million (2019: RMB7,168 million).

Amounts mainly included deposits received for consumables and
packing materials.

Amounts due to holding companies and fellow subsidiaries were
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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SR E S R H At A R IE @) 24. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)
E’\ﬁi ERH ?é?iﬁﬁﬂiﬂﬂ’]ﬁgﬁféf The following is an aging analysis of trade payables as at
R ZBRROTIAT the balance sheet date by invoice date:

—t et 33 —ZET-NF

2020 2019

ARBEERT ARBEHET

RMB million RMB million

0-30K 0-30 days 2,290 2,452

31-60K 31-60 days 1 110

61-90K 61-90 days 10 13

>90k >90 days 26 138

2,337 2,713
AEERZEER E’J%ﬁ%&ﬁ’r@ﬁgﬁ The fair value of the Group’s trade and other payables as at
HREAANEBERAKRAEBERS balance sheet date was approximate to the corresponding

carrying amount.

HLER 25. LOANS
—E-8F —ZT-NF
2020 2019
AR¥BERT ARBAET
RMB million RMB million
HEmIEIRRITE R Short-term unsecured bank loans - 511
—E-%E  —2-hf
2020 2019
ARBEELT ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
MITEN Bank Loans
—F R Within 1 year - 511
REBEUNABRARBABMA 2 The Group has floating rate loans denominated in Hong
FEER BEXDRIEFBRITH Kong Dollars and Renminbi with interest rates linked to Hong
¥ B ([HIBORD KA B A RIRITR Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") and the lending rate
TE 2 PSRN =B 4 o stipulated by the People’s Bank of China respectively.
RZE—NF+ZA=+—H =« As at 31 December 2019, the effective annual interest rates
SEFEERZEBRFNEREF on the Group's floating rate borrowings range from 1.45%
1.45% £3.70% T 55 to 3.70% per annum.
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AR EE L E 26. DEFERRED TAXATION
NTREEHFZGEEABRRTER The components of deferred taxation assets recognised in
ZEREFIBEEMAKRTHORRER the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
28 : the year are as follows:

WE BEREHEHER

WE Impairment, provision and At

Tax losses other temporary differences Total
ZEI8E —Z-hf ZBIRE —T-NF ZBIEE —T-NE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

ARBEEL AR¥BET ARBEERL AR¥AET ARBEERL ARKAER
RMB million  RMB million RMB million ~ RMB million  RMB million  RMB million

ERHEEE Deferred taxation assets
®—HA—H At 1 January 50 165 2,482 2,261 2,532 2,426
WENBRRE,/$% Acuiition of

subsidiaries/businesses - 1 - 116 - 17
EHEABERIA/ Credited/(Charged) to

ey consolidated profit and

loss account 38 (116) 288 105 326 1)
WHZA=+—H At 31 December 88 50 2,710 2,482 2,858 2,532
BREMBEEARBORBNZS Deferred taxation assets are recognised for tax losses carried
AR RERRBFNER A LR - forward to the extent that realisation of the related tax
RUMBEREEERR R_T_F benefit through the future taxable profits is probable. At 31
F+ZA=+—H XEERER December 2020, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
ZHBEEEARK2817TEEL(Z RMB2,817 million (2019: RMB3,346 million) and deductible
T—NF: AR¥3346BE L) KA temporary differences of RMB1,457 million (2019: RMB1,431
MBERMEEEARKEL4578E T million) which are uncertain as to whether they can be
(ZE—NF:AR1,43188T) - utilised to set off against future taxable income. Out of these
MAEEKRERT A LTEAZLR amounts, the unrecognised tax loss of RMB2,548 million
THELR PR E R UL A S 8 - 3% i (2019: RMB3,254 million) will expire within 5 years.

SHEAERNAFRERZ AER
HEEEBAEARK25488 &L (=
T—NF  ARKE32488 L) °
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Ztt.

SRR EE WA (@)

26.

DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

NTREEHFEEAEABRRTER The components of deferred taxation liabilities recognised in
ZEBELEHBAEAKNDBOEREA the consolidated balance sheet and the movements during
2 EE: the year are as follows:
ROEFBZ
HAFEH
Withholding
MERIERE tax on
Accelerated tax  undistributed G
depreciation profits Total
ARBEET AREBERT ARKAEETR
RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZZE—-NF-H—H At 1 January 2019 246 153 399
WEMBLR/ %% Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses 156 - 156

ERABAEXRMR

Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account

52 58 110

R Exchange rate adjustment 8 5 13
RZZ—&E+-A=+—HK At 31 December 2019 and
%% —-A—H 1 January 2020 462 216 678
EREBERRNR Charged to consolidated profit
and loss account 33 107 140
[E & iER Exchange rate adjustment 9) 21 (30)
RZEZFTF+ZA=F+—H At 31 December 2020 486 302 788

REBEPEARKMBEER - R
SHEHTEMBARNE -_ZZTN
F-A—BRRIMOFBREMD
P B B o R FE B I8 A K 0 BE A
HEFEANEENSREMNEKR
RHERIETERE -

HitEREBEER
R-Z-TF+-_A=1+—8 Hft
ARDABERCHIARELT A
WM ARKL657TAE & T (Z
T-NFEARKIL033BET) - K
R EERHEARIMEBA
BRBHBEEBETEENME -

27.

Under the Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC
subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has been provided for undistributed profits to the
extent that declarations of dividends are anticipated in the
foreseeable future.

OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2020, other non-current liabilities
included government grants of RMB1,657 million (2019:
RMB1,033 million) recognised as deferred revenue. The
government grants mainly represent subsidies granted by
PRC governmental authorities towards the purchases of fixed
assets.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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N B AR 28. SHARE CAPITAL
—g-%f e
2020 2019
Ri#BEE |fE R &R

Number of Nominal Number of [ERE

shares value shares  Nominal value

BER AR¥EER BER AREEERL

million  RMB million million RMB million

ERIRBRERR Issued and fully paid

R—A—H As at 1 January 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090
R+=-A=1+—H As at 31 December 3,244 14,090 3,244 14,090

HEERERERME

F RKEEZHcBREIRE

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT

A CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

—EZEfF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBEHEET
RMB million RMB million
b B A i A Profit before taxation 3,009 2,202
o Adjustments for:
X E1E Exchange loss 143 4
R B WA Interest income (141) (109)
B Interest expenses 56 65
HEREEEEF Net loss (gain) on disposal of fixed
BB CaF) assets 42 (161)
HEFIEERN TR Profit on disposal of interests in
= BT 15 % 7 leasehold land held for own use (53) (6)
EHRZETFTEERE  Impairment loss recognised on fixed
& B assets 574 700
ERZEFEEHERIE  Impairment loss recognised on
stocks 395 352
e Depreciation 1,682 1,675
Hfh T & B s Amortisation of other intangible
assets 64 49
BHE R BUT # B Government grants recognised (328) (42)
LEBSEBRI 2E  Operating cash inflows before working
]"emA capital changes 5,443 4,729
GEZ® Changes in stocks (387) (849)
BEZREMBEWFIAZ  Changes in trade and other
2% receivables 136 606
ZE5 R EMBERNFKIE 2 Changes in trade and other payables
& g 436 318
BEMSZEE Cash generated from operations 5,628 4,804
—E-=

= —=
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HhEARERERK @

Z WEBWEBLR ¥

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW

STATEMENT (Continued)

B ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESSES

—ZE-NF
2019
ARBEBEETT
RMB million
(E5)
(Restated)
REBBEFABSEERBE: The assets acquired and liabilities recognised at
the dates of acquisition:
BEEEBE Fixed assets 1,125
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 337
Hth\mEEE Other intangible assets 308
EERIEEE Deferred taxation assets 117
B & E Other assets 261
Re RRITHERF Cash and bank balances 256
B 5 & H A FRIE Trade and other payables (795)
HEaE Lease liabilities (29)
HEHmaE Other liabilities (31)
B IBAE Deferred taxation liabilities (156)
1,393
WEREE 2B Goodwill on acquisition 997
2,390
AT R AT Discharged by:
e Cash 2,472
JERER(E Balance of consideration refundable (82)
2,390
WEHBAT, £B2HERHE Analysis of the net outflow of cash and
EEERLFEIN cash equivalents in respect of acquisition
of subsidiaries/ businesses undertaking
ENREERE Cash consideration paid (2,472)
WHEmSHRe RBRITERT Cash and bank balances acquired 256
(2,216)
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RZZE-—NFNAZ+NAB  K5HE
M Heineken S B W i T E XA AW
ZHEE NEH(RBR)CEEE
ﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬁ?~§7}%ﬁ%(t>‘)ﬁﬁﬁ/&
G ~§ﬁﬂ$5@(ii’§)ﬁ|ﬁ“
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(L) BERA Eﬁ%/@(/@)
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MARE24725 8 L) - B{EKH
BIEERGEREEEE-_ZS—NF
T A=+ —AEKRERER &
HREREREAARKIZOEE T
% AEZREHEARE23338
B EGREEE -

REBEE-_ZTE-_FTF+_A=1+—H
WFEE - $'§ [ B2 Heineken £ & gt
HEZKREDS SREEAARE

23908 8 T hEE A ARMEIITH

BT °

l%%ﬁ%i%%%%AE%%7
BET NEARFWEBESR 2B
STEF g N KRR o

BRBHEE-_ZT—NAF+-_A=1+
—BL  ENREBEEREETEAA
RE1139BB TR ARMI45HE T
B F ) o

29.

To Our Shareholders / ~%¥EA Corporate Governance BHEERE Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES/BUSINESSES
(Continued)

On 29 April 2019, the Group acquired from Heineken
Group the entire equity interest of seven companies, namely
Heineken (China) Management Services Co., Ltd., Heineken
Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Heineken (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.,
Heineken Brewery (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery
(Zhejiang) Co., Ltd., Heineken Brewery (Hainan) Co., Ltd.,
and Heineken Hong Kong Limited (collectively “Heineken
China”). Total cash consideration being the agreed enterprise
value of HK$2,355 million and as adjusted by the agreed
price adjustment items. The initial provisional consideration
of HK$2,882 million (equivalent to RMB2,472 million) was
paid as at 31 December 2019. While the price adjustment
items and final consideration had not been agreed as at 31
December 2019, the subsequent provisional consideration
of RMB2,333 million after deducting the balance of
consideration refundable for RMB139 million was applied for
the calculation of provisional goodwill.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group and
Heineken Group reached a consensus on the consideration.
The final consideration is determined to be RMB2,390 million
and the goodwill was adjusted to RMB997 million.

Goodwill arising from the acquisition was amounting to
RMB997 million, which is attributable to the profitability
and the synergies expected to arise from the acquired
businesses.

Turnover of RMB1,139 million and net profit of RMB145

million was contributed by Heineken China since the date
of acquisition to the end of 31 December 2019.
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HEERERERME @ 29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW
STATEMENT (Continued)
A RMETHELECEEHAEGER C RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

RHER HEAHE &t
Short-term loans  Lease liabilities Total
AREBETL ARBAEET ARERET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZE-N¥—-A—H As at 1 January 2019 701 116 817
Hemg Cash flows (241) (78) (319)

NERRERYRERE Classified as cash flows in

investing activities
- WEEMBAR /$B (B - Acquisition of subsidiaries/
WERSzReRE businesses (net of cash
ZE) and cash equivalents

acquired) - 29 29
HhE 2 B Foreign exchange movement 51 ") 49
THERBEUZHEE Non-cash movements - 149 149

b"\:?—ﬂﬁ‘l‘_ﬂ +—H8 As at 31 December 2019
—E-2E-[-H and at 1 January 2020 511 214 725
i%mbg Cash flows (526) (54) (580)
SN E & Foreign exchange movement 15 1) 14
THRASUZIHEE Non-cash movements - M M
WZZEZZF+ZA=1+—H At 31 December 2020 - 200 200

=+, & 30. COMMITMENTS

—B-2% —B-N%F
2020 2019
ARBBEERLT AREAER
RMB million RMB million

REZRMATKEERETE Capital commitments outstanding on
BEJEREENT: acquisition of fixed assets at the

balance sheet date are as follows:

EELEH KBS Contracted but not provided for 1,196 1,363
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CH-EXBAEXS

R

ApmEEMBAR(BRARAZ
MEAD)ETZRHEREAKE
s WEAEARMEPRE - K
AEEMBRERTREZRI R
RERSN  RERBETTIEBEERXN
ERS:

31.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which are related parties of the Company, have been
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this
Note. In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, the
Group entered into the following material related party
transactions:

—EEF —E-NF
2020 2019
ARBEET ARBAER
RMB million RMB million
B2 THARIRME 2R Receipt of services from
— R AR ED A holding company (Note 1) 1M 131
FRREBZWE AT Fellow subsidiaries 38 3
8 Bt N B (BT 5E2) Related companies (Note 2) 15 36
BTy RAREES R Sales of goods to
HRREBE 2B AT Fellow subsidiaries 56 79
M3 AAEAE®D Purchase of goods from
8 B~ ) (B 5E2) Related companies (Note 2) 168 37
TR AG 2HOEH Lease payments to
HRREBE 2B AT Fellow subsidiaries 40 27
mTRH AR UM A Acquisition of right-of-use assets from
HRREE LB AT Fellow subsidiaries 51 19
KETHRRZFBUY A Interest income from
— & AT A holding company - 22
BATE®ZH B R R Fellow subsidiaries 33 4
Bt 7 Notes:
1. TERBREHE —MERARREM]  H 1. Administrative service is provided by a holding company, of which
AR T#EA - WERAFEEAEE costs are identifiable and are allocated on a fair and equitable basis.
S -
2. Heineken Holding N.V. ;X EF A @] © 2. Heineken Holding N.V. and its subsidiaries.
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H-EKXKEAEXR S (#)

Z

HEHEMPEREERESER
2R 5/ FEER

R 55 B R B 7% FP B BT BT A ) O R
HERET—ERARRSEZK
BE-REGHERKREETZIRS
S AEBTERTEXEBBERE
HMBAFEGHEBETRBER -
EERR REHEAQAKHEI
ZEEBYEZIEHS EFIE
AEBZMBREERK - BZE
ERETZRZ(BREEEMR
BR%. R ER1TE R K AR R 23 3R A
BT AN EE — R EBBIZR] L ©
AEERBA - LEMMRM LXK
A AERZERMRNTARER
ko

TEEBAEBZHM

AEEREENTERSHMESR
RIBEEEAER  ARAFHEARLR
EMBHREMET - AFERRE
XNTFTHREERAUESFHEEH
MEBEEEABZBME (=T A
FE) -

31.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES WITH OTHER STATE-
CONTROLLED ENTITIES IN CHINESE MAINLAND

The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies
under CRC which is controlled by the Chinese State
government. Apart from the transactions with CRC group,
the Group also conducts businesses with other state-
controlled entities. The directors are of the opinion that
those entities other than the CRC group do not have the
power to govern or participate in the financial and operating
policies of the Group. The transactions including sales
and purchases of goods and services and bank deposits
and corresponding interest income, with these entities are
conducted in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.
The Group believes that it has provided, at the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of related
party transactions as summarised above.

COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT
PERSONNEL

The Group regards the directors and the five highest
paid employees are key management personnel and
the respective compensation is set out in Note 10
to consolidated financial statements. There was no
remuneration paid for key management personnel other
than directors or the five highest paid employees during the
year (2019: Nil).
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SHILARRZEERERRMEE 32

R

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

£ E OF THE COMPANY
EERER A BALANCE SHEET
R-F-2F+=-A=+—H As at 31 December 2020
—2-8F  -T-n%
2020 2019
ARBEERT ARBEET
RMB million RMB million
EREBEE Non-current assets
& & & Fixed assets 1 1
CREEE Right-of-use assets 16 2
REBRR 2= Interests in subsidiaries 15,733 16,745
15,750 16,748
REEE Current assets
2 5 & H b JE WK IE Trade and other receivables 212 2
ReRRITET Cash and bank balances 56 38
268 40
nEaE Current liabilities
B & EMENRIE Trade and other payables (2,401) (1,386)
HMEEX Short term loans - (511)
HEBE Lease liabilities (7) )
(2,408) (1,899)
mEEEFE Net current liabilities (2,140) (1,859)
BEERRHER Total assets less current liabilities 13,610 14,889
EREBEE Non-current liabilities
HEBRE Lease liabilities 9) -
9) -
13,601 14,889
BARGE Capital and reserves
fi% A Share capital 14,090 14,090
i Reserves (489) 799
13,601 14,889
B 2 Note:
R-ZE-_FTFE+_A=+—H B LKHEME As at 31 December 2020, trade and other payables included loans from a

U REER NI ERMEREE

NREREEMNBERARERNARKE23708

o (RZ®

subsidiary of approximately RMB2,370 million, which are unsecured, interest-
free, and repayable on demand. (As at 31 December 2019, trade and

—“NFE+ZA=+—8 B REMENKE
BIEAHE AR E KL B 1,488 8 7t (48
ERNOARM333EE ) - AEIEF  &KEF
FI % HIBOR+0.6% 71 B M BER 55 32 <)

& 238 HOU XIAOHAI
ZE & Director

other payables included loans from a subsidiary of approximately HK$1,488
million (equivalent to approximately RMB1,333 million), which are unsecured,
interest-bearing at HIBOR+0.6% per annum, and repayable on demand.)

FEE LAl PO SING, TOMAKIN

% & Director
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SHILARRZEERERRMEE 32

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT

28 @ OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
Z AERRPTZHEED B RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
BE-Z-_FH+=-A=+—H For the year ended 31 December 2020
ERfEE REEF
Exchange Retained G
reserve profits Total
ARBBEET ARBRET ARBRET
RMB million RMB million RMB million
RZZ-NE—-HA—H At 1 January 2019 (2,534) 3,272 738
EExZE Exchange difference on
translation 346 - 346
KEERF Profit for the year - 202 202
=) Dividend - (487) (487)
RZZE-AF+=-A=1+—HK At 31 December 2019 and
—Z-TF-A—H 1 January 2020 (2,188) 2,987 799
Exzf Exchange difference on
translation (865) - (865)
REE A Profit for the year - 138 138
it 8 Dividend - (561) (561)
RZEZTF+ZA=1—H At 31 December 2020 (3,053) 2,564 (489)

ARBAIED IR TR ZHEESA
R¥S38EET(ZZE—NF AR

986E B L) °

million).
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Reserves of the Company available for distribution to the
shareholders amounted to RMB538 million (2019: RMB986
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EHREMN
ARARIBERZZTE_—F—A=+=H
FBREENBAREEREME
Er2EWB ARG M AT HE: (1)
REAIEHZE QRBHED S
RORERBAER -

FREBELREAIFHERKILIAR
NAEE - BARAKAEHRGEZE R
FREZWENHBEBEE - AKER
EHRSERBREBHEHZER AR
BNERBEEEZ IR T Ag -
&3 P i B S K AR YN BRAT B9 4R
RPN E R E
Mz RECTRERTE A
EXMAM -

—BEZMRABREBRTE R
EXAN ERSESXEZMA
B — & (BN fE A 1 38) - IR
BRRIEXEZ MR 5 — 20 (Bl
HERRMKR)  ERSEHKERS
TN B IR AE R E B S LM ARES
MEPL HBEIKKEIESIN
EEEBYENER - RERLZR
BER  ZEEHILEKEZREREN
RYRREGESEHESEEA IR
(TERBIRERLFAENER
EEA - HEATKERRE QR
BER—BEMIE BEDE -
BE - KERE BT BB NE
BEER—BHNGRER HRARHKEE
KA e

B ISR mMRMAETIRER
ZEHBERTELRRRBE R Z
EXHMBEITOHRRFR A
e -
HBFRE2HARAR T —F—
AZ+T-BFRAZENRE -

MESAMBRS
F1BEEFIBIAMA G

REBEEEFEN T -_—F=A
—“t+-B#tE -

33.

34.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING DATE

The Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
entered into the following agreements with the wholly-
owned subsidiaries of CR Land Group on 22 January 2021:
(1) the JV Agreement; (2) the Relocation Compensation
Agreement; and (3) the Construction Agreement.

Upon the formation of the JV after the execution of the JV
Agreement, the JV will be responsible for the demolition
of the Buildings and relocation of the Land, as well as
applying to Shenzhen government together with CR Snow
for land modification of the Land pursuant to the Relocation
Compensation Agreement. The land modification involves
the de-registration of the title certificate of the Land and re-
registration of the Land for general industrial and emerging
industrial uses with the relevant authority of Shenzhen
government.

Once the Land has been upgraded for general industrial and
emerging industrial uses, CR Snow will be granted part of
the Land (i.e., the Snow Brewery Land) while the JV will be
granted with another part of the Land (i.e., the JV Land). CR
Snow will use the Snow Brewery Land as the headquarters,
R&D centre, craft brewery and employees’ dormitories of CR
Snow, as well as for the construction of the beer museum.
CR Snow will appoint CR Land Shenzhen as the project
manager on its behalf in relation to the construction and
development of the Snow Brewery Land (excluding the craft
brewery) pursuant to the Construction Agreement. The JV
will use the JV Land as a complex consisting of offices,
commercial properties, factories, recreational facilities,
supermarkets, restaurants and bars etc., which will be
subject to sale and leasing.

As at the date of approval for issuance of these consolidated
financial statements, the Agreements are subject to
Independent Shareholders’ approval at the EGM to be held.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 22 January 2021.

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements set out on pages
113 to 181 were approved by the board of directors on 22
March 2021.
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EF2NELD
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

[ E NPl

Percentage of capital

BRTZERRE/HMES AKEEYE F2ARE WELARKA

WEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable held by the held by XEEH
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
REBELZHERMAK L
Incorporated in British Virgin Islands
EREREMEARAT 42,800,400 FRAEIETLZ 100.0 100.0 - REBR
China Resources Snow Breweries Limited 42,800,400 ordinary shares of Investment holding
US§1 each
RAE R YRR A
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland
o BEERER(L)EREADE  ARM1079323,260277 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries RMBT1,079,323,267.27 Manufacturing and distribution
(Sichuan) Co., Ltd of beer products
o BEERRE(ER)EREADE  ARM457925011T 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
RMB245,792,501 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o EHERRE(ENERAR 31,200,000% 1T 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
China Resources Snowflake Brewery US$31,200,000 Manufacturing and distribution
(Jilin) Co., Ltd. of beer products
o ZREREE(REE)ARLA AR #260,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
RMB260,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» ERERRE(ZHERRAA AR 438,147,500 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
China Resources Snow Breweries (Anhui)  RMB438,147,500 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
o BEHERRE(HE)BRAA ARH778,414,4007C 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery (Wuhan) RMB778,414,400 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
w ZREREE(EE)ERAT 118,504,683% L 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
US$118,504,683 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ZREVEE(PE)ERAA 159,030,076.09% 1T 100.0 - 1000 HEEEER
US$159,030,076.09 Distribution of beer products
» ERERRE(RR)ARAR AR #322,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 BENHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery (Liuan) ~ RMB322,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution

Co,, Ltd.

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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[ E NPl

Percentage of capital

BRTZERRE/HMES AKEEYE A2AKE WELARKA

WEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable held by the held by TEEH
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
ReERMEMAL(E)

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

*x

Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)

EREERE(LR)BERAT

EHERRE(XBE)ERAH
China Resources Snow Brewery (Dalian)
Co., Ltd.

EREERECIT)ARAA

EREREE(ER)BRAF
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Fuyang) Co., Ltd.

EHERRE(ZET)ERLA
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Heilongjiang) Co., Ltd.

EREREE(CIR)ERAA
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Jiangsu) Limited

ZREEREMM ARLF

ERERBECRINERAR
China Resources Snow Breweries
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd.

EEEREE(HE) ARAT
China Resources Snow Brewery (Gansu)

Co., Ltd.

EREEWE(TIL)BERAT

21,000,000% ¢ 100.0 1000 BENHEREER
US$21,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
55,850,000% 1T 100.0 1000 HEAHEREER
US$55,850,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
32,797,869% 1T 100.0 1000 BENHEREER
US§32,797,869 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
AR #425,880,4007 100.0 1000 HEAHEREER
RMB425,880,400 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
AR %95,000,0007T 100.0 1000 BERNHEREER
RMB95,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
29,166,116.38% T 100.0 1000 HENHELEER
1S$29,166,116.38 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
114,000,000% 1T 100.0 1000 HENHELEER
US$114,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
AR #587,000,0007 100.0 1000 HENHELEER
RMB587,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
55,800,000% 1T 100.0 1000 HENHELEER
US$55,800,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
AR #220,769,5007 100.0 1000 RENHELEER
RMB220,769,500 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
58,020,000 1T 100.0 1000 HENHELEER
US$58,020,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
—EqE-F

= —=
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FEMELD
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

[ E NPl

Percentage of capital

BRTZERRE/HMES AKEEYE A2AKE WELARKA

WEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable held by the held by TEEH
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
RAERBERKL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
o ERERRE(ER)ERAR 88,710,000% 1T 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
US$88,710,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
* ERERRE(ER)ARAA AR %282,040,0007C 95.73 - %573 BENHEREER
RMB282,040,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERRE(BE)ARAR AR %285,000,0007T 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB285,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERWEEM)ERREAR  ARKI80,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB180,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERRE(TE)ERAT AR %400,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB400,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» ERERRE(RR)ARAA AR%20103,3887C 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB20,103,388 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
o ERERRE(RR)ARAT 44,250,000% 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
China Resources Snow Brewery (Tianjin) ~ US$44,250,000 Manufacturing and distribution
Co., Ltd. of beer products
“ ERRE(BE)HERRAR AR %10,000,0007 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB100,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
“ ERRE(RE)ARAR ZNIAREEE S 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
US§74,771,153 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
“ ERBH(LEB)ARAT 6,000,000% 1T 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
US$6,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products
» ERBE(LE)RRAA AR %50,000,0007C 100.0 - 1000 BEANHEREER
RMB500,000,000 Manufacturing and distribution

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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[ E NPl

Percentage of capital

BRTEERRA /HMEX ZAEEEE XDIKE WELTHKE
held by the held by FE£%
Company  subsidiaries Principal activities

WEAR Issued ordinary share capital/ attributable
Subsidiaries registered capital to the Group
ReERMEMAL(E)
Incorporated in Chinese Mainland (continued)
w ERRE(ER)ERAR 125,000,000% 7T 1000
US$125,000,000

o ERREENER

]
o

50,000,000% 7 100.0
US$50,000,000

- 100

- 100

0 RENBEREES

Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

0 RENHEREES

Manufacturing and distribution
of beer products

M EE

Notes:

—. EBERR 2EAHINFEMNBLAAFBEESEREBERIR M EREFINHAEELEREEAETEATEN ZMNBRATFE -

1. The Directors are of the opinion that a complete list of the particulars of all subsidiaries will be of excessive length and therefore the
above list contains only the particulars of the subsidiaries which materially affect the results or assets of the Group.

Z. BEAEFHEEN FZRAZEELE B KINADNE AT B e

2. Unless otherwise stated, the principal country of operation of each company is the same as its place of incorporation.

= EPEABEMRLIZAR HRXEBARSEZHAREER(WAE) -

3. For companies incorporated in the Chinese Mainland, the English name is as shown in the Certificate of Approval of each company
(if any).

* BEME

* Equity Joint Venture

o INE B

xk Wholly Foreign Owned Enterprise

—EqE-F

= —=
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hFRIBEERPE
FIDE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

—E-RE  ZE—+4% ZZ-\§ ZE-hE ZEF-FEF
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
AREHETL ARBHERT AREHET AREKHERT ARWEER
RMB million RMB million RMB million  RMB million ~ RMB million
BREE Consolidated results
BED Turnover 28,694 29,732 31,867 33,190 31,448
M B B A F Profit attributable to
shareholders 629 1,175 977 1,312 2,094
REXEF Basic earnings per share RMBO0.22 RMBO0.36 RMB0.30 RMB0.40 RMBO0.65
BRRE Dividend per share
F Interim - RMB0.07 RMB0.09 RMB0.120 RMB0.128
B Final RMB0.08 RMB0.07 RMBO0.03 RMB0.045 RMB0.131
RMBO0.08 RMBO0.14 RMBO.12 RMBO.165 RMBO0.259
BARBEEER Consolidated balance sheet
EEE Fixed assets 20,900 20,449 19,632 15,818 14,414
EREEE Right-of-use assets - - - 3,595 3,367
HE Goodwill 8,422 8,318 8,390 9,422 9,326
HEREE Other intangible assets 171 147 124 384 320
RERE Long term investments 9 9 9 9 7
B HE Prepayments 89 81 240 113 106
ERHEEE Deferred taxation assets 2,011 2,261 2,426 2,532 2,858
NYEETE Net current liabilities (9,777) (9,809) (9,920) (10,138) (6,195)
BoER Employment of capital 21,825 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203
BA Share capital 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090 14,090
& Reserves 3,511 4,331 4,758 5,580 7127
BEER Shareholders' funds 17,601 18,421 18,848 19,670 21,217
FEBRRER Non-controlling interests 66 64 62 57 57
RHER Long term loans 2,953 1,087 9 - -
HEBE Lease liabilities - - - 124 17
HtRHEE Other non-current liabilities 934 1,629 1,583 1,206 2,024
EEREAR Deferred taxation liabilities 271 255 399 678 788
BERES Capital employed 21,825 21,456 20,901 21,735 24,203

#8085 (35 /%) B R 2 7] / China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited
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HITES
Executive Director
5 5 Jian Yi

ERHTERMITES

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director
=28  Hou Xiaohai

BERUMBERBTES

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director

ZER  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin
EHITEE

Non-executive Directors

By Lai Ni Hium, Frank

Richard Raymond Weissend
(R-ZF_FFNHF -+ NNHEZT)
(appointed on 26 June 2020)

i Kt ZE Tuen-Muk Lai Shu

BIAEBTES

Independent Non-executive Directors
EA®  Houang Tai Ninh

ZX# L Ka Cheung, Eric

BEZ  Cheng Mo Chi, Moses
FRZ B Bernard Charnwut Chan
FME  Siu Kwing Chue, Gordon
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ARWE
Company Secretary
FERE  Lai Po Sing, Tomakin

% BT

Auditor

T eI ER T GEHANIT

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

HESEA

Certified Public Accountants

LR T 5 B R AT

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors
(RZE_FEFRH T —HEZF)
(appointed on 22 May 2020)

EMBREER T E A

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business
BEREFBEBRERNKNE3NME

39/F, China Resources Building

26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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SEBEN

INFORMATION FOR INUESTORS

DIEFEEE

Announcement of Annual Results
—E_—F=A=-+=H

22 March 2021

EERBRREREEINRGZEIRE

Last Day of Dealings in Shares with Entitlement

to Final Dividend
—E-—FRA=-+H
20 May 2021

DERERMBFBLTE

Closure of Register Period
HMEARLERRBFAGIT NG LRE
RERSFH

R —FRA+ZBE-T=_—FHATNA
(EEMRBREEAN)

To determine the identity of members

who are entitled to attend and vote at the
annual general meeting:

12 May 2021 to 18 May 2021

(both days inclusive)

BERREZERBZIARARE ZEF
—E-—FRA=-+HH

To ascertain the members’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend:

25 May 2021

REIRBMAME

Payment of Final Dividend
2 -FXA+—H%ATER
On or about 11 June 2021

BHBELE

Share Registrar
BEEERRAQA
HAEE R KERI83H

& 05418

Tricor Standard Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong

ERXERE
Depositary
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services
P.O. Box 30170
College Station
Tx 77842-3170

BREAR®

Stock Codes

AW S5 00291
218 1291 HK

B&iE 4t 0291.HK
ADRA 5% © CRHKY
CUSIP : 16940R109
Hong Kong Stock Exchange: 00291
Bloomberg: 291 HK
Reuters: 0291.HK

ADR symbol: CRHKY
CUSIP: 16940R109

REEBE

Investor Relations
T H : ir@cre.com.hk
Email: ir@cre.com.hk
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